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LEGISLATIVE HEARING ON S. 346, A BILL TO
AMEND THE OFFICE OF FEDERAL PRO-
CUREMENT POLICY ACT TO ESTABLISH A
GOVERNMENTWIDE POLICY REQUIRING
COMPETITION IN CERTAIN PROCUREMENTS
FROM FEDERAL PRISON INDUSTRIES

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 7, 2004

U.S. SENATE,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT,
THE BUDGET, AND INTERNATIONAL SECURITY,
OF THE COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS,
Washington, DC.

The Subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 2:09 p.m., in room
SD-342, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Peter G. Fitzgerald,
Chairman of the Subcommittee, presiding.

Present: Senators Fitzgerald, Levin, and Pryor.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR FITZGERALD

Senator FITZGERALD. The hearing will come to order. I would like
to get underway right away, even though we have some Senators
who are just getting back from lunch and will be joining us shortly.
We have two roll call votes on the floor beginning at 2:15 p.m. I
think we can safely go up to almost 2:30 p.m. before we break for
those votes. I see Senator Thomas from Wyoming is already here
waiting patiently, so I will begin with my opening statement and
then we will proceed to Senator Thomas, and to any other Senators
who will be joining us by that time.

Today, we consider S. 346, a bill introduced by Senator Levin,
Senator Thomas, and others to amend Federal procurement policy
as it affects certain procurements from Federal Prison Industries,
FPI. The bill has been referred to this Subcommittee, and today’s
hearing will provide an opportunity to assess the implications of
the legislation for the Federal Prison Industries program.

I want to thank Senator Thomas for being here today. We will
also be joined later by Senator Stabenow, and we will hear from
the Director of the Federal Bureau of Prisons, a senior procure-
ment official from the GSA, and other well-informed stakeholders
who hold diverse views on the bill and on the Federal Prison Indus-
tries program.

Federal Prison Industries, Inc., which operates under the trade
name UNICOR, was established in 1934 to provide job training op-
portunities to Federal inmates by employing them to produce goods
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and services for Federal agencies. UNICOR has 111 factories in
over 70 locations and employs nearly 22,000 inmate workers, which
represents 22 percent of the prison population that is eligible for
such employment opportunities. UNICOR has eight business
groups: Clothing and textiles, electronics, fleet management and
vehicular components, office furniture, graphics, industrial prod-
ucts, recycling activities, and services.

One of FPI’s services, coincidentally, was highlighted in a hear-
ing this Subcommittee held on March 1 of this year on oversight
of the Federal Thrift Savings Plan. Namely, the materials that are
provided to millions of TSP participants are printed by inmates
from the Federal Prison Industries program.

The Federal Bureau of Prisons reported that as of March 25,
2004, there were 175,952 Federal inmates nationwide. Ninety-three
percent of these inmates are male and 7 percent are female. Of this
total, approximately 4,800 inmates are confined in four Federal fa-
cilities and several halfway houses in my home State of Illinois.
Three of these four Federal correctional institutions—in Pekin,
Greenville, and Marion—operate prison industries involving metal-
working, clothing, textiles, and electronics.

The debate over the proper role of the prison industries programs
and the extent to which inmates should be able to perform work
that competes with the private sector is literally as old as the Re-
public. As far back as the 1770’s, the Philadelphia Quakers advo-
cated that criminal offenders be set aside from society to become
penitent rather than being subjected to harsh corporal or capital
punishment, as was the prevailing colonial practice. This advocacy
gave rise to the establishment of facilities known as penitentiaries.
It became quickly apparent, however, that prisoners fared poorly
without some activity or labor. Therefore, during the 19th Century,
prison work programs arose and flourished.

Over the years, various forms of prison industry programs were
criticized by private sector businesses, labor groups, or inmate
rights advocates. In the early 1930’s, as the country was deep in
the Great Depression, Congress adopted several pieces of legisla-
tion to address these controversies. One law established Federal
Prison Industries as a government corporation, operated as an in-
ternal organization within the Bureau of Prisons. Three other laws,
the Smoot-Hawley Act, the Sumners-Ashurst Act, and the Hawes-
Cooper Act, impose various restrictions on prison-made goods in
interstate commerce. These laws and related executive orders first
hssued by President Theodore Roosevelt remain in effect to this

ay.

With limited exceptions, products made by inmates are prohib-
ited from interstate commerce. These laws are silent, however, on
the issue of inmate performed services. Over the past 20 years, sev-
eral State Attorneys General, and more recently the Department of
Justice, have issued opinions that such services are legally permis-
sible. Thus, State and Federal Prison Industries programs evolved
in which inmates performed certain services, such as recycling and
staffing call centers for private companies.

Congress has adopted additional amendments regarding the Fed-
eral Prison Industries program over the past few years. Provisions
in the Defense Authorization Acts of 2002 and 2003 require that
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DOD’s contracting officers conduct market research to determine
whether FPI’s products are comparable to products available from
the private sector that best meet the Department’s needs in terms
of price, quality, and delivery. If DOD determines that FPI’s prod-
ucts are not comparable, then a competition is required. A provi-
sion in the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2004 requires all
Federal agencies that purchase a product or service offered by FPI
to first make a determination that the specific product or service
provides the best value to the buying agency.

The bill we are considering today, S. 346, would repeal the “man-
datory source” authority found in the 1934 legislation that created
Federal Prison Industries. The bill would thus require that all Fed-
eral agencies conduct a competition for any products those agencies
would otherwise have purchased from FPI on a sole source basis.

The bill provides three exceptions to the competitive bidding re-
quirement. One, the attorney general determines that the FPI can-
not reasonably expect fair consideration in a competitive bidding
scenario and the award to FPI is necessary to maintain safe and
effective prison administration. Two, the product is only available
from the FPI. And three, the agency head determines that the
product would otherwise be furnished by prison labor abroad.

Additionally, as I previously noted, other existing provisions gen-
erally bar the interstate transportation of prison-made goods. S.
346 would also bar prison industry programs at both the Federal
and State levels from performing services in the commercial mar-
ket with inmate labor. While the sole source issue has occupied
much of the policy debate, I am aware that the issue of prohibiting
inmate-performed services in interstate commerce has generated a
great deal of controversy.

Therefore, I look forward to hearing from our witnesses with
their views specifically regarding the issue of inmate-performed
services.

I know we all appreciate that our prisons are becoming more
crowded and that most individuals sent to prison eventually return
to our communities. As taxpayers, we all want prisons to be as cost
effective to operate as possible and as safe as possible for prison
guards. We also expect that inmates who are discharged will be
better equipped to reenter society as law-abiding citizens. Exten-
sive research indicates that one of the most critical attributes in-
mates will need when reentering society is the experience of how
to work and the desire to make a gainful living in a legal manner.

How inmates receive work in prison, how this work experience
helps maintain discipline within correctional facilities, and the ex-
tent to which the products and services inmates produce impact the
private sector, both positively and negatively, are some of the
issues that today’s hearing will explore.

At this point, we are joined by Senator Levin, who is an original
cosponsor of S. 346. We have two votes coming up. I wonder if prior
to your opening remarks we could permit Senators Thomas and
Stabenow to give their opening remarks so they don’t have to re-
turn after votes, or would you like to make your statements now?

Senator LEVIN. You are Chairman. Whatever you——

Senator FITZGERALD. Do you have the time to give them? They
have been waiting, so in the interest of sparing you a round trip
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here, why don’t we go ahead with Senator Thomas, who was here
first, and then we will hear from Senator Stabenow.

Senator Thomas, thank you very much for appearing before this
Subcommittee.

TESTIMONY OF HON. CRAIG THOMAS,! A U.S. SENATOR FROM
THE STATE OF WYOMING

Senator THOMAS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Senator Levin, I am
glad you are here. I will try and be brief. You have covered it quite
well. I want to thank you for having the hearing on S. 346.

I have always been concerned when the government unfairly
competes with the private sector, and I think there is evidence that
this is the case here. That is why I have worked with my colleague
to put together this bill. It establishes a governmentwide policy re-
quiring competition, competition in procurement. I think that is an
important word here. We will hear from the American business
community that they have been injured and unfairly by monopo-
listic practices. We will hear from those involved in the government
that its impacts and the sole sourcing is cause for concern, and so
on.
You have mentioned the background. Currently, I have different
numbers than you. About 21,000 Federal prisoners are involved
here. That is 12 percent of the Federal prison population of
174,000, so a relatively small amount.

You listed the many different items—office furniture, clothing,
electronics, eyewear, mapping, and so on. So it is quite a broad
thing, as a matter of fact, and it is important to have prisoners
keep working. But this goal should not come at the cost of a gov-
ernment monopoly like FPI now has.

I think this bill is a step forward. It injects competition where
we now have a monopoly. It limits unfair government competition
with the private sector. This important and timely legislation will
eliminate mandatory contracting requirements that Federal agen-
cies are subject to under the Federal Prison Industries. Under cur-
rent law, all Federal agencies are required to purchase products
made by FPI.

Simply put, this will remove that mandatory sourcing require-
ment. FPI will have to compete with the private sector for Federal
contracts. It allows contracting officers within a Federal agency to
use competitive procedures for procurement of products as opposed
to being forced to use FPI on a sole-source basis. It allows procure-
ment officials to select contracts if they believe FPI can meet the
requirements. Products must be offered at a fair and reasonable
price as a result of open competition. It places government control
of government procurement in the hands of contracting officers
rather than the hands of FPI.

Opponents will argue their bill will lead to idle prisoners, result-
ing in a more dangerous prison environment. Our bill, as you men-
tioned, allows the attorney general to grant a waiver to this process
if a particular contract is deemed essential to the safety and the
effective administration of a particular prison.

1The prepared statement of Senator Thomas appears in the Appendix on page 40.
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This minimizes the unfair competition with the private sector
companies, restores the authority and the procurement decisions
where it belongs, with the agency contracting officials.

The Department of Defense has had some successes. Senator
Shelby included a provision in the 2004 omnibus bill to eliminate
FPI mandatory purchases for the Department of Defense. FPI has
taken steps to provide some relief from FPI's mandatory sourcing
within the Department of Defense and just recently to all Federal
agencies.

In fiscal year 2002, FPI was ranked 72 on the list of top 100
DOD contractors. In 2003, the FPI had moved up to 69th, so com-
petition does work. Unfair advantages, of course, exist now. What
began in the 1930’s as a program to give inmates job skills for re-
entry into society has become a money-making enterprise. FPI has
expanded into a range of products and services offered in the pri-
vate sector with little Congressional oversight. Congress has the
advantage of paying lower wages, of course, between a quarter and
a dollar-and-a-quarter, not subject to regulations such as benefits
and retirement, health insurance costs, compliance with OSHA and
those kinds of things. It has a guaranteed client base.

FPI’s mandatory source requirement not only undercuts private
employers throughout America, but often costs the American tax-
payers more money. So really the bottom line, we are looking for
the most efficient government operation we can have, the most effi-
cient business operations, and certainly looking for a need for com-
petition.

So that is what it is all about, competition. Clearly, competitive
bidding is a reasonable process that ensures the taxpayers’ dollars
are being spent to the best and responsibly. I am confident that al-
lowing competition for contracts will save dollars, restore manage-
ment decisions where they belong, with individual agency officials.
The elimination of the mandatory source preference will encourage
cost savings and eliminates the monopoly.

I think it is a fairly reasonable thing for us to do. It does not
take away all the activities, but makes it competitive for a more
efficient government for the taxpayers. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator FITZGERALD. Senator Thomas, thank you. Senator
Stabenow.

TESTIMONY OF HON. DEBBIE STABENOW,! A U.S. SENATOR
FROM THE STATE OF MICHIGAN

Senator STABENOW. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is wonderful to
be back before you. A couple of weeks ago, I had the opportunity
on a matter to testify in front of you and I want to thank you very
much for this hearing. I thank Senator Thomas for his leadership,
and I want to particularly thank my colleague from Michigan, Sen-
ator Levin, for his leadership on the Department of Defense provi-
sions that are now in the law and for his ongoing leadership on
this issue.

I have been involved in this issue for some time. When I was in
the Michigan legislature, I chaired the Small Business Committee
and this was a concern I won’t tell you how many years ago as we

1The prepared statement of Senator Stabenow appears in the Appendix on page 43.
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worked through various issues with prison industries and other
government services.

Coming to the House of Representatives, I was pleased to be a
cosponsor of Congressman Pete Hoekstra’s bill. I am very pleased
to see that has now passed the House and we are looking forward
to, I think, the ability to bring this bill before the Senate, and
hopefully with your support and a strong bipartisan group, we can
finally get this done, because it has been a long time in coming for
many people who are concerned and affected by this issue.

I am pleased to be a cosponsor of S. 346, and more importantly,
I do come representing people in Michigan, businesses in Michigan
who are being hurt by the current anti-competitive laws that pre-
vent Michigan businesses from competing against the monopoly
called the Federal Prison Industries, Incorporated.

Right now, there is an entity with over $500 million in annual
revenues which does not pay local, State, or Federal taxes. It is not
required to abide by Federal or State workplace rules, as Senator
Thomas indicated, and pays employees between 23 cents an hour
and $1.15 an hour. This is not the Chinese government. It is not
the Mexican government. This is not India, but a government pro-
gram established by the U.S. Congress and run by the U.S. Depart-
ment of Judiciary’s Bureau of Prisons. In other words, our own gov-
ernment is, unfortunately, undermining our Nation’s manufac-
turing industry at a very critical time.

As was indicated, in 1934, Congress established Federal Prison
Industries and placed it under the control of the Department of
Justice’s Bureau of Prisons. Its purpose is to serve as a means for
managing, training, and rehabilitating inmates. I support that
fully. I believe that is a worthy goal and can be achieved in a way
that does not have the effect that it is now having.

Under current law, FPI is a mandatory source for the Federal
Government, making it the sole source for more than a half-a-bil-
lion dollars in Federal contract opportunities. Unfortunately, FPI
also has the power to determine whether its products and delivery
schedule meet the Federal agencies’ needs rather than the buying
agency determining whether or not it meets their needs.

Hundreds of small businesses from Michigan and around the
country have seen FPI take away jobs from their companies and
give them to inmates in Federal prisons, even when these busi-
nesses could have supplied the government with a better-quality
product on a better timeline at a lower price, and that is really the
issue, Mr. Chairman. It is not about whether or not we ought to
be training or providing opportunities for people within the walls
of our prisons. But when, in fact, businesses can supply a product
with better quality, better timeline, lower price, we believe they
should have the right to compete and that, in fact, taxpayers would
benefit strongly, as well as our communities, from this.

In 2002, FPI’s business in two industries that are critical to
Michigan’s economic health, automotive components and furniture,
grew by 216 percent for automotive components and 24 percent in
furniture. Furniture manufacturers in West Michigan are in the
midst of the worst economic recession in history. Literally every
day, Senator Levin and I open the paper and see headlines of busi-
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nesses that are closing, of layoffs that are happening in West
Michigan.

For example, in January, Steelcase, a West Michigan furniture
manufacturer, announced it was cutting 77 of its skilled trades
workers, which are some of the most highly skilled and highly paid
jobs in the factory. The company extended the layoff warning for
60 days for another 360 employees. Over the last 3 years, the office
furniture manufacturing industry has laid off about 30,000 people.

The inability of Michigan businesses to fairly compete with pris-
on industries exacerbates an already difficult economic situation.

According to February 2004 figures from the Bureau of Labor
Statistics, Michigan’s unemployment rate is 6.6 percent, a full per-
centage point above the national average. And last year, Michigan
lost more jobs than any other State, 78,800 jobs lost in just 1 year.
We also had the largest unemployment increase of any State last
year. In 2003, Michigan’s unemployment went up one percent, the
highest increase of any State, and we have lost over 175,000 manu-
gacturing jobs since 2001, which is 19 percent of our manufacturing

ase.

This issue, and frankly, Michigan is at the heart of America’s
manufacturing jobs crisis, and this bill can help make a difference.

Mr. Chairman, I want to indicate again that I certainly am not
opposed to the 1934 law that created Federal Prison Industries. It
is important that prisoners should have work opportunities that
build their job skills and enable them to make a successful return
to society once they are released. However, it is only fair that our
small business owners and manufacturers be able to compete for
these Federal contracts if they can offer competitive products and
services. Our manufacturers are not asking for an advantage. They
are not asking to exclude FPI from competing. All they want is the
opportunity to compete fairly and on an equal footing for these con-
tracts.

As I indicated before, because of Senator Levin’s leadership, the
private sector can now compete for Federal defense contracts. An
amendment that was indicated before to the defense authorization
bill ended the monopoly on that issue.

At the minimum, it is time to give the private sector access to
the playing field and let them compete for Federal contracts. To do
so, I am very pleased to be a cosponsor of the bill in front of you,
along with colleagues Senators Thomas, Levin, Grassley, Cham-
bliss, and Shelby. The bill will enable Michigan businesses and the
rest of America to have an opportunity to compete for contracts
with their government.

Senator Thomas also spoke to other provisions in the bill that I
will not go into, except to indicate that by holding the hearing, Mr.
Chairman, and by giving us an opportunity to be here today, we
are very grateful to have the opportunity to speak about this issue
and what has been happening. Eliminating FPI’s monopoly will
make businesses eligible for more than a half-a-billion dollars in
business opportunities that translates into critical jobs for our com-
munities, and this is a much needed shot in the arm for many
Michigan businesses as well as businesses across the country.
Thank you.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you, Senator Stabenow.
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I am advised that we only have a few minutes before our first
vote closes out, so we all have to go to the floor. I am wondering
if I could ask one real quick question, and normally you don’t ask
Senators questions, but the first thing that comes to my mind is
your bill would allow private companies to compete with the Fed-
eral Prison Industries, where they are now the sole source on all
these Federal contracts. How could any private business possibly
compete with the FPI if they are paying 25 cents or $1.25 an hour
or whatever and they pay no taxes and they don’t have to comply
with all the regulations that a private company does? So how could
they effectively compete?

Senator LEVIN. That is the question every single business owner
asks. They say the idea that we are precluded as a business from
competing is absurd. It is difficult enough to compete against 25 or
50 cents an hour labor. If they can be so efficient that they can out-
bid prison industry, for heaven’s sake, how can we not allow them
to bid? That is what this is all about. But they ask exactly the
same question that you do and they throw up their hands at us
and they say, my heavens. It is difficult enough to bid against 50
cents an hour labor. To say that we are not even allowed to bid just
throws sand in our face.

Senator FITZGERALD. With that, I am advised we only have 2
minutes, so we had all better go. We will reconvene this hearing
after the votes. Thank you both very much.

[Recess.]

Senator FITZGERALD. I would like to reconvene this hearing, and
at the outset, I would like to note that our Democratic Ranking
Member, Senator Akaka, very much wanted to be here but due to
an unavoidable scheduling conflict, he is not able to attend today’s
hearing.

Therefore, I would now like to recognize my colleague, Senator
Levin, for his opening statement.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR LEVIN

Senator LEVIN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and again,
let me thank you for scheduling this hearing. We are very much
indebted to you for doing so. You have an awful lot on your plate
and your willingness to take on the hearing in this matter is very
much appreciated.

As has been indicated, I, along with Senator Thomas, Senator
Stabenow, and a number of other colleagues, introduced a bill
which is really based on a straightforward premise, which is that
private businesses ought to be allowed to bid for business with
their government. It is that simple.

This is not a situation where we have business people saying,
how in heaven’s name can I compete with 50 cents or a dollar an
hour labor? This is a situation where business is saying, we can
compete, for whatever reasons there are, we can compete if we are
allowed to compete. But when FPI is given the authority to unilat-
erally and arbitrarily set aside items that cannot be competed, then
we have a situation which is totally unacceptable to those who are
trying to be productive in the private sector.

This is where businesses just simply say, let us compete. If we
can provide something more cheaply or a better product at the
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same price, we surely ought to be allowed to offer our government
our products. This is our taxpayer dollars. These are our jobs.

There are all kinds of reasons why we want people in prison to
work, and I know that personally from my own experience. As I in-
dicated to our Chairman, I represented indigents full time who
were in prison for many years as an appellate defender in Michi-
gan, and my father was on the Prison Commission. So I under-
stand personally, up close and personal, how important it is to
have prisoners work.

But there is no way in good conscience that we can tell people
in the private sector who are in business trying to make ends meet
that that interest comes ahead of their being allowed to compete,
to offer their government a price and a product. We can’t look a
business person in the eye and say that, even though there is value
obviously in having people in prison work. We can’t deny the oppor-
tunity to the private sector to offer a product to their government.
It is their taxes which are paying for these items.

So we made some progress on this matter, Mr. Chairman, as has
been indicated. We had a vote on the Senate floor in the defense
bill. It was 74 to 24. It was a hotly debated issue. This is not one
of the many amendments that we were able to work out and per-
haps get added in a manager’s amendment or what have you. This
was a hotly debated issue. This was an amendment on the defense
authorization bill, which, if I remember, Senator Phil Gramm tried
to strike and there was about a three-to-one vote in the Senate to
eliminate the Federal Prison Industries monopoly, this unilateral
ability to set aside items so that nobody can bid on them in the
area of defense purchasing.

It has been in effect now for a couple of years. FPI has gained
some business and lost some business during this year. But at least
people have been able to compete. The sales of the FPI to the De-
partment of Defense have remained relatively constant. There have
been some gains and some losses relative to Defense Department
items. In some areas, the private sector has gained significantly
when they have been allowed to bid, and in other areas, the prison
industries have gained.

So the amount of defense business has been roughly the same,
but it sure is different from the drastic decline which was predicted
when we introduced this amendment. I mean, we had people com-
ing before us that said we are going to put prisons out of business
in terms of getting jobs to inmates and that has not happened.

So we also, in the House of Representatives, Mr. Chairman, a bill
was passed which would make this reform applicable government-
wide, and to do that on a permanent basis. That won in the House
of Representatives by a vote of 350 to 65.

So the ball is now in our court to try to address the issue of
whether or not there should be a governmentwide application of
this very fundamental principle, which is that people in private
business ought to have an opportunity to bid when it comes to of-
fering services and products to their own government. It really is
that direct and that simple an issue.

I want to just thank you again, Mr. Chairman, for chairing these
hearings.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you, Senator.
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I have invited Senator Thomas to sit up here on the dais and join
in the questioning with us. Thank you, Senator Thomas, for joining
us.

I would now like to introduce our second panel, and they are all
seated. We appreciate your being here.

Our first witness on this panel is Harley G. Lappin, who has
served as the Director of the Federal Bureau of Prisons since April
2003. Mr. Lappin has had a distinguished career with the Federal
Bureau of Prisons and he is the seventh Director of the Bureau
since its establishment in 1930. As Director, Mr. Lappin oversees
the operations of 104 Federal institutions, six regional offices, two
staff training centers, and 28 community corrections offices located
throughout the United States.

Prior to serving as Director, Mr. Lappin served as Warden at the
Federal Correctional Institution at Butner, North Carolina; as
Warden at the U.S. Penitentiary in Terra Haute, Indiana; and as
Regional Director of the Mid-Atlantic Region for the Bureau of
Prisons.

Our second witness is Jack R. Williams, who serves as the As-
sistant Regional Administrator for the General Services Adminis-
tration’s Mid-Atlantic and National Capital Regions, headquartered
in Philadelphia. In this role, Mr. Williams oversees the Federal
Supply Service in GSA’s Region 3. His management responsibilities
include the National Furniture Center, which negotiates and pur-
chases all furniture and furnishings for the Federal Government’s
facilities throughout the country and around the world.

In 2001, under Mr. Williams’ leadership, the National Furniture
Center was selected as the most innovative GSA acquisition center
by the Coalition for Government Procurement for making signifi-
cant strides in the promotion and utilization of the GSA Multiple
Award Schedules program.

Our third witness is John M. Palatiello, who is representing the
U.S. Chamber of Commerce. Mr. Palatiello is President of MAPPS,
the Management Association for Private Photogrammetric Surveys,
a national association of firms in the mapping, spatial data, and
geographic information systems field. Mr. Palatiello is a member of
the U.S. Chamber of Commerce and has been serving as the Chair
of the Chamber’s Privatization and Procurement Council. The U.S.
Chamber is the fourth largest federation of business organizations,
representing more than three million businesses and professional
organizations of every size, sector, and region of the country.

Fourth, we have Kurt Weiss, who is here today representing the
Independent Office Products and Furniture Dealers Association.
His organization is the national trade association for independent
dealers of office products and office furniture. The association is
composed of two membership divisions: The National Office Prod-
ucts Alliances, representing office product dealers and their trading
partners, and the Office Furniture Dealers Alliance, representing
office furniture dealers and their trading partners. Mr. Weiss is
also Senior Vice President and General Manager of U.S. Business
Interiors, which is a dealer for Steelcase, the world’s leading de-
signer and manufacturer of office furnishings.

Our fifth witness is Andrew S. Linder, who is a member of the
Correctional Vendors Association. The association represents busi-
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nesses that currently hold contracts with Federal Prison Industries
and are concerned about the impact of S. 346 on their companies’
sales and jobs. Mr. Linder is the President and small business
owner of Power Connector, Inc., an electronics business based in
Long Island, New York, that he has operated since he started the
company in April 1987. Mr. Linder’s company manufactures prod-
ucts, primarily in the area of electronic connectors and cable hard-
ware, for Federal Prison Industries, the Department of Defense,
and the Nation’s primary defense contractors.

Our sixth and final witness on the panel is Philip W. Glover, the
President of the Council of Prison Locals for the American Federa-
tion of Government Employees, AFGE. Mr. Glover has served as a
correctional officer since 1990 at the Federal Correctional Institu-
tion in Loretto, Pennsylvania. Mr. Glover was elected President of
Local 3951 at FCI Loretto in 1992, Northeast Regional Vice Presi-
dent in 1994, and President of the Council in 1997. He has exten-
sive firsthand knowledge of how prison industries decrease recidi-
vism and help corrections officers maintain order within the pris-
ons.

Again, I would like to thank our witnesses for being here today
to testify. In the interest of time, your full statements will be
included in the record and we ask that you limit your opening re-
marks to 5 minutes. Since we have such a large panel, we will ad-
here to the 5-minute rule to ensure there is sufficient time for
questions, so if you could watch the light on the table, and when
it is red, you should stop. You should begin thinking about stopping
when you see the yellow, too. But you are ready to go when it turns
green.

Mr. Lappin, thank you for being here.

TESTIMONY OF HARLEY G. LAPPIN,! DIRECTOR, FEDERAL
BUREAU OF PRISONS

Mr. LAPPIN. Good afternoon, Chairman Fitzgerald and Members
of the Subcommittee. I appreciate the opportunity to be before you
today. As Director of the Bureau of Prisons, I also serve as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Federal Prison Industries program.
I have served in the Bureau for 19 years in a variety of capacities,
including Regional Director and Warden at two institutions. Al-
though I am not involved in the day-to-day operations of the FPI
program, I have firsthand knowledge of the impact this program
has in reducing crime and in making prisons safer to manage and
less expensive to operate.

Today, there are more than 176,000 Federal inmates. The Fed-
eral inmate population has increased more than 600 percent since
1980, and is projected to increase another 22 percent, to more than
215,000 inmates, in the next 6 years.

The Bureau of Prisons is sensitive to the concerns of Members
of Congress, as well as business and labor representatives, that any
negative impact of the FPI program on the private sector should
be minimized. Consistent with the administration’s position, any
reform should simultaneously provide Federal agencies greater pro-
curement opportunities, increase access by private sector compa-

1The prepared statement of Mr. Lappin appears in the Appendix on page 47.
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nies to government purchases, and ensure that the attorney gen-
eral maintains adequate inmate work opportunities in Federal pris-
ons.

The Bureau has no control over the number of inmates who come
to prison, their length of stay, or the backgrounds they bring with
them. We do, however, have some influence over what inmates
learn in custody and the impact they will have on public safety
upon their release.

The Federal Prison Industries program plays an integral role in
reducing recidivism. Inmates who work in the program are 24 per-
cent less likely to commit crimes and 14 percent more likely to be
employed for as long as 12 years after release, as compared to a
similar group of inmates who did not have the FPI program experi-
ence.

The impact of the FPI program is particularly significant because
FPI focuses on employing our more serious offenders. In fact, 76
percent of FPI inmate workers have been convicted of drug traf-
ficking, weapons, and violent offenses. These inmates are at higher
risk of recidivism because they typically have extensive and violent
criminal histories, poor educational accomplishments, and limited
work experiences.

FPI is a crime-reducing program that is financially self-sus-
taining and receives no direct appropriated funds for its operations.
Although inmates who work in the FPI program produce products
and perform services, the real output of the FPI program is in-
mates who are more likely to return to society as law-abiding tax-
payers because of the improved job skills training and work experi-
ence.

The FPI program earnestly strives to support the private sector.
Last year, the FPI program spent nearly half-a-billion dollars on
purchasing raw materials, supplies, services, and equipment from
the private sector vendors. This amount represents 75 percent of
the entire revenue earned by the Federal Prison Industries pro-
gram, and more than 53 percent of this money went to small busi-
nesses.

Efforts to reform the FPI program in a balanced manner are al-
ready underway. We have already reduced the FPI program’s reli-
ance on mandatory source in our traditional product lines. The
Congress has already enacted FPI legislation, and the FPI Board
of Directors recently adopted several resolutions, all intended to en-
sure the FPI program does not place an undue burden on private
industry.

The collective effect of these and other factors has been a decline
in the FPI program’s sales and earnings, particularly in office fur-
niture. As a result, the FPI program has had to close or downsize
13 factories and reduce inmate program participation by approxi-
mately 2,000 inmates from a year ago.

If FPI is not able to maintain its viability as a correctional pro-
gram or is not able to maintain adequate levels of inmate enroll-
ment, there will be a negative ripple effect. Recidivism will likely
increase. Small businesses that currently depend on the FPI pro-
gram for their business success will be negatively affected. Monies
to victims of crime will decrease. Inmate idleness will increase. And
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we will need to develop alternative programs to keep inmates pro-
ductively occupied.

Like the Federal Prison Industries program, our education and
vocational training programs have a positive impact on recidivism
and an inmate’s ability to find and maintain employment upon re-
lease. However, they are not a substitute for the extended real
work experiences provided by the FPI program. Moreover, these
programs are designed to run for a limited time—vocational train-
ing is typically 18 to 24 months in duration, and the average sen-
tence length for inmates currently in the Bureau of Prisons is over
9 years.

Chairman Fitzgerald, I recognize that this is a complex public
policy issue with no easy answers and I look forward to working
with everyone involved to achieve a practical, balanced, cost-effec-
tive reform of the Federal Prison Industries program.

This concludes my formal remarks and I look forward to any
questions from the Subcommittee.

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Lappin, thank you very much. Mr. Wil-
liams.

TESTIMONY OF JACK R. WILLIAMS, JR.,! ASSISTANT REGIONAL
ADMINISTRATOR, FEDERAL SUPPLY SERVICE, REGION 3,
U.S. GENERAL SERVICES ADMINISTRATION

Mr. WiLLIAMS. Chairman Fitzgerald, Members of the Sub-
committee, I appreciate the opportunity to appear before you today
on behalf of the U.S. General Services Administration, GSA, to dis-
cuss your ideas to establish a governmentwide policy requiring
competition in certain procurements from Federal Prison Indus-
tries.

GSA supports the Subcommittee’s interest in requiring competi-
tion to the maximum extent practicable whenever taxpayer dollars
are being spent to ensure positive results in government acquisi-
tion. Two fundamental principles need to be satisfied in any legis-
lative or administrative reforms. Agencies should have the flexi-
bility through competition to purchase quality goods and services
at fair and reasonable prices with the expectation of timely per-
formance. At the same time, FPI is an important national program
and the attorney general must be able to maintain adequate work
opportunities at Federal prisons to counter the potentially dan-
gerous effects of inmate idleness and prepare prisoners for re-
integration into society.

Finding a results-oriented approach to meeting FPI’s national ob-
jectives, providing work opportunities for inmates, while obtaining
additional competition and transparency in the government pro-
curement process will result in the taxpayer getting better value
for their tax dollars and giving Federal agency customers a greater
range of choices.

As this Subcommittee knows, the President has called upon the
entire Federal Government to improve performance by focusing on
results. Among other things, we have been charged with making
our agencies citizen-centered, market-based, and results driven. Ac-

1The prepared statement of Mr. Williams appears in the Appendix on page 62.
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countability requires that we spend the taxpayers’ dollars wisely
and provide greater insight into how their money is being spent.

S. 346 and other bills are being considered by the Senate with
regard to the reform of FPI. The administration has taken a neu-
tral position on all bills. Therefore, I will not be commenting on the
specifics of S. 346.

A number of previous actions by Congress and this administra-
tion are promoting competition and helping create a level playing
field with the private sector. GSA, NASA, and the Department of
Defense revised the Federal Acquisition Regulations four times
over the past year to implement results-oriented reforms.

Namely, in May 2003, agencies began evaluating FPI's contract
performance, just as they would the performance of any other pri-
vate sector firm. This is a results-driven solution focused on actual
contract performance. While this did not change FPI’'s mandatory
preference status, it was an important first step in helping FPI bet-
ter monitor and improve its performance. Results-oriented feedback
has proven to be a critical tool for the private sector over the last
two decades in terms of improving both products and services and
its bottom line, and it is now time to be employed by FPI as they
move forward towards being competitive in the Federal market-
place.

Second, the threshold for mandatory use of FPI was raised from
$25 to $2,500 in May 2003. This change by the FPI Board of Direc-
tors allows agencies to go directly to the private sector or FPI for
any purchase under $2,500.

Third, Section 811 of the National Defense Authorization Act for
Fiscal Year 2002 was implemented by DOD, requiring that before
purchasing a product from FPI, DOD must determine whether the
FPI product is comparable in price, quality, and timeliness of deliv-
ery to products available from the private sector.

Finally, this same requirement was extended to DOD and non-
Defense Department activities alike in fiscal year 2004 based on
Section 637(f) of the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2004. This
statutory provision prohibits all Federal agencies from using their
appropriated funds to purchase from FPI unless the agency making
the purchase first determines that the FPI's service or product pro-
vides the best value to the buying agency pursuant to FAR proce-
dures. If FPI's product is found to be comparable with private sec-
tor offerings that best meet the agency’s needs in terms of price,
quality, and timeliness of delivery, agencies should buy from FPI.
If not, agencies are free to use competitive procedures, including
FPI, in the competition.

GSA supports reform of FPI and looks forward to working with
this Subcommittee in making sure our procurement system is
based on competitive procedures that are focused on achieving re-
sults.

This concludes my prepared remarks. I am happy to answer any
questions you may have.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you very much. Mr. Palatiello.
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TESTIMONY OF JOHN M. PALATIELLO,! PRESIDENT, MANAGE-
MENT ASSOCIATION FOR PRIVATE PHOTOGRAMMETRIC
SURVEYORS, ON BEHALF OF THE U.S. CHAMBER OF COM-
MERCE

Mr. PALATIELLO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to commend
you and the Subcommittee for holding this hearing and we would
like to thank Senator Levin and Senator Thomas for their leader-
ship on the very important issue of injecting more competition into
Federal procurement and reforming the practices of FPI.

The Chamber is the world’s largest business federation, rep-
resenting more than three million businesses and organizations. I
might add that more than 95 percent of the Chamber’s members
are small businesses.

The Senate Governmental Affairs Committee has jurisdiction
over the entire Federal procurement process, and I would like to
put the legislation before us today in the context of the Commit-
tee’s longstanding interest in competition in Federal procurement.

Reform of FPI will ensure fair and full competition to ensure that
the American taxpayer gets the best value for the goods and serv-
ices that its government buys while removing barriers that prevent
businesses, particularly small business, from competing for govern-
ment contracts. FPI reform is also in line with this Committee’s
responsibility to assure effective and efficient Federal financial
management.

Over the years, this Committee has had a longstanding history
of advancing pro-competition, pro-reform procurement legislation,
such as the Competition in Contracting Act, the Federal Acquisi-
tion Reform Act, the Federal Acquisition Streamlining Act, and the
Federal Activities Inventory Reform Act. All of these had one fun-
damental principle, and that was that competition is good and com-
petition brings better value to the taxpayer.

We believe S. 346 is the next logical step in that series of reforms
that this Committee has promoted. S. 346 would allow the private
sector to compete on a fair and level playing field with FPI for Fed-
eral contracts based on price, quality, and timeliness of delivery.
The bill also prohibits inmate access to personal or financial infor-
mation, critical infrastructure information, or classified informa-
tion, as well as prohibiting FPI from forcing businesses to use FPI
as a mandatory subcontractor. In many ways, S. 346 simply codi-
fies on a governmentwide basis the reforms that have been men-
tioned earlier that have been enacted in the defense authorization
and omnibus appropriations bills.

The system that we have today, that we have had since 1934, 1
describe as putting FPI in the place of being judge, jury, and pros-
ecutor. It is FPI that gets to set the price they charge for their
products. It is FPI that determines whether those products or serv-
ices meet the agency’s needs. It is FPI that decides whether their
delivery schedule meets the agency’s needs.

FPI has also expanded its products and services without any re-
gard to the impact on the private sector, so they have basic carte
blanche authority to enter wherever they wish regardless of the
consequence on small business and our employees. Even more

1The prepared statement of Mr. Palatiello appears in the Appendix on page 64.
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alarming is their effort to, and their desire to, sell inmate-produced
services in the commercial market.

Mr. Chairman, you asked a very good question at the opening of
this hearing and I would like to take some of my remaining time
to mention—what was mentioned was 50 cents, or it is actually 23
cents an hour to $1.15 an hour. I would like to mention some of
the other advantages that Federal Prison Industries enjoys over
the private sector.

It does not have to pay Social Security, the employer’s share. It
does not have to pay unemployment compensation or workers’ com-
pensation insurance. It is exempt from all Federal, State, and local
income taxes, gross receipts taxes, excise taxes, and sales taxes. It
is not subject to Federal Trade Commission oversight, Securities
and Exchange Commission oversight, Department of Justice anti-
trust oversight.

It does not pay fair market value, or in some cases pay at all for
utilities. It has a special statutory allowance of a line of credit from
the U.S. Treasury for up to, I believe it is $20 million at zero per-
cent interest. I don’t know of very many private small businesses
that have that right.

It is exempt from all standards, inspections, and fines of various
State or local or Federal enforcement agencies, such as OSHA. It
does not have to comply with local zoning. It enjoys sovereign im-
munity, so it has to carry no insurance. It carries no health insur-
ance costs, and family and medical leave. And these are govern-
ment contracts, so it is not just minimum wage; the private sector
has to pay the prevailing wage rate.

All of those are advantages that FPI has over the private sector,
which we think would be particularly onerous if they entered the
commercial market.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you very much, Mr. Palatiello.

Senator Pryor has joined us and I would like to welcome him, if
he wishes, to make some opening remarks at this time before we
proceed to the second half of this second panel.

Senator PRYOR. No, thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate your
leadership on this issue.

Senator FITZGERALD. Well, thank you.

Mr. Weiss, would you like to go ahead at this time?

TESTIMONY OF KURT WEISS,! SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT AND
GENERAL MANAGER, U.S. BUSINESS INTERIORS, ON BEHALF
OF THE OFFICE FURNITURE DEALERS ALLIANCE

Mr. WEIsS. Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee, 1
appreciate the opportunity to testify before your Subcommittee
today to discuss S. 346, a bill which amends the Office of Federal
Procurement Policy Act to establish a governmentwide policy re-
quiring competition in certain procurements from Federal Prison
Industries.

My name is Kurt Weiss and I am the Senior Vice President and
General Manager of U.S. Business Interiors, a small business

1The prepared statement of Mr. Weiss, with attachments, appears in the Appendix on page
71.
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which employs 74 people. USBI was incorporated in 1990 by our
owner, William Rice, and has always had an established culture of
a family-owned business.

I want to share with you my story as it relates to Federal Prison
Industries. FPI, as you may know, has had up until recently a
mandatory source advantage in the office furniture industry. This
mandatory source status has had a major impact on small busi-
ness, both locally and nationally. USBI has personally felt and seen
the effects of FPI's mandatory source status.

U.S. Business Interiors was involved in an RFQ for the Federal
Aviation Administration building here in Washington, DC. The
project was a $5 million solicitation, involved every major manufac-
turer in the furniture industry, including Steelcase, Herman Miller,
Knoll, Hayworth, and Techniat. FPI was not required to bid along-
side the other commercial industry companies.

USBI presented our response to the FAA meeting all require-
ments of all areas of the bid, forming three teaming arrangements
to make sure we could be a turnkey provider to the FAA. In re-
sponding to the RFQ, every company had to present a corporate in-
troduction, project team with resumes and experience, references,
environmental impact, product literature, teaming letters, if need-
ed, warranty information, work station typicals, work station speci-
fication, work station options, finished samples, pricing, and an
acknowledgement of all RFQ terms, including acceptance of a
liquidated damages clause.

As you can imagine, this is a costly and time consuming effort
and draws numerous resources from our day-to-day operations.
Over 29 options were specified, including 19 work station private
office typicals. In addition, 16 optional specifications were required
for specialty areas. USBI spent over 120 man hours in bid prepara-
tion, including design, administration, value engineering, setting
up vendor partners, and researching the competition. This resource
draw cost USBI about $4,800. This is a lot of money for a small
business like USBI.

After evaluation of the competitors’ bids by FAA and GSA, USBI
was assessed the best value bid. Within days of notifying FPI of the
intent to award USBI the FAA project, it was communicated to
USBI that the FPI waiver had not been granted. USBI was notified
they must sign a letter to release of our best value bid to FPI. On
May 6, 2003, FPI sent a response to GSA and FAA notifying that
a waiver would not be granted. A copy of the FPI’s corresponding
bid was sent to GSA and FAA. Upon review of this bid, it was de-
termined that FPI copied USBI’s best value bid and demanded
FAA award the FOB 10(b) project to them, and I have copies of
both ours and UNICOR’s response here.

The time, money, resources, confidential pricing, and discounting
of this project was not only copied, but was given to commercial in-
dustry competitors of USBI. As a small businessman, I do not have
a problem with the open and fair competition. What I have a prob-
lem with is the fact that FPI is not competing with anyone, but
instead guaranteed by statute all the government business it
wants. What FPI has been allowed to do in the FAA case is uncon-
scionable. If USBI did this in the private market, we would have
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committed antitrust violations. When FPI does this in government,
they consider it OK.

The mission of FPI when it was created in 1934 was to provide
inmates with real skills that they could use once released back into
society. This is nice in principle, but in reality, FPI is not living
up to its mission. The FAA project is a clear example of how FPI
has lost its way.

Since I am almost out of time, I would like to thank you for the
opportunity to speak before you and answer any questions you
might have.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you. Your full statement will be en-
tered into the record. Mr. Linder.

TESTIMONY OF ANDREW S. LINDER,! PRESIDENT, POWER
CONNECTOR, INC., ON BEHALF OF THE CORRECTIONAL VEN-
DORS ASSOCIATION

Mr. LINDER. Mr. Chairman, Members of the Subcommittee, I am
Andy Linder. I am President and owner of Power Connector, a
small electronics firm based on Long Island, New York.

Power Connector went into business on April 1, 1987, 17 years
ago last week. When we first put the key in the door, there were
just two of us, just two people and a lot of hope. Now we have 76
employees and we have built what I think is a solid reputation,
producing high-quality, reliable electronic connectors and cable
hardware for the U.S. military. Our products are relied upon every
day by American soldiers all over the globe, including our men and
women in Afghanistan and Iraq. We even made some of the parts
that the FPI built for the transmitter that saved the life of Air
Force Captain Scott O’Grady after his plane was shot down in Bos-
nia in the summer of 1995.

The story of Power Connector is very much the story of Federal
Prison Industries working with small business. In that respect, it
is a story that could be told by any one of thousands of other busi-
ness owners, small ones in other States.

Small businesses have contracts with FPI worth close to half-a-
billion dollars in gross revenues per year. At Power Connector, we
have capitalized and hired employees on the strength of those con-
tracts. Our employees and their families depend upon those con-
tracts to survive. In fact, for every dollar purchased by Federal
Prison Industries, 74 cents goes directly back into small businesses
in the private sector just like ours.

Senators, Power Connector would never be in business today
without FPI and its small business initiatives. As a matter of fact,
we may not be here tomorrow if you pass S. 346. The reason is that
FPI recognizes the gains to be made when dealing with small busi-
nesses like ours and they make doing it a priority. They broke
down their large comprehensive contracts into smaller segments
and they have developed a unique partnership with small busi-
nesses.

Unlike other Federal agencies, Federal Prison Industries gave us
the one thing that we needed the most, and that was a chance to
be competitive in the defense industry. They were hard task-

1The prepared statement of Mr. Linder appears in the Appendix on page 87.
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masters when it came to quality, but we delivered on time and on
budget. Our 76 employees aren’t the only ones involved. In addition
to our own success, the subcontracts that we have outsourced over
the past 17 years to over 45 other small businesses have created
jobs for over 140 full-time employees outside of our own doors.

But Federal Prison Industries is not just about creating private
sector jobs. One day in June 2001, I received a letter from a Fed-
eral inmate from Fairton, New Jersey. He told me that he was
about to be released about a month later in July, after having
spent the last 18 years of his life in State and Federal custody. He
attached his resume and he asked me for a job.

Two days after he was released from that prison, I had him come
to my factory, where he was interviewed by myself and three of my
managers on a Friday. Well, he made the grade and he started
working for us the following Monday, and he has been one of my
most relied-upon employees and productive employees ever since
that day. He has never missed a day. He is never late. And he has
integrated himself seamlessly into our organization and into our
lives. He has performed beyond all expectations.

Today, this man who spent 18 years behind bars supervises three
other employees in one of the most critical areas of our business.
He will tell you what turned his life around, the day he found reli-
gion and the day he and Federal Prison Industries found each
other. Last year, I was the best man at his wedding, and I was
even able to help him move this past Saturday into his own home.

When I look at him, I see why I believe in FPI. I am proud to
call him my friend and I am even prouder to introduce him to the
Senate. Gentlemen, please welcome my product manager, Demitrio
Ricciardone.

[Applause.]

Mr. Chairman, Members of the Subcommittee, neither I nor Dino
would be here today if it wasn’t for Federal Prison Industries. That
is why I so strongly oppose S. 346. It would hurt small business.
It would cost jobs. It will hurt inmates just like Dino here. And it
will jeopardize the safety and the staff of our penal institutions.
Thank you for your time and your consideration.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you very much. Mr. Glover.

TESTIMONY OF PHILIP W. GLOVER,! PRESIDENT, COUNCIL OF
PRISON LOCALS, AMERICAN FEDERATION OF GOVERNMENT
EMPLOYEES, AFL-CIO

Mr. GLOVER. Chairman Fitzgerald and Members of the Sub-
committee, my name is Phil Glover and I am the elected President
of the Council of Prison Locals, American Federation of Govern-
ment Employees. We represent 26,000 Federal employees working
in the Nation’s prison system. We have 100 local unions that rep-
resent correctional officers, caseworkers, food service workers, and
Federal Prison Industries employees, and also various others.

I would like to thank you for holding this oversight hearing today
on S. 346, a bill that would establish a governmentwide policy re-

1The prepared statement of Mr. Glover, with attachments, appears in the Appendix on page
94.
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quiring competition in Federal agency procurement from FPI. It is
an important topic for the safety and security of Federal prisons.

The proposed legislation would have real consequences for the
men and women who work in Federal prisons across the country.
In my written testimony, I have outlined some of the history of FPI
when it was created. I also talk about the actual dollar amounts
that FPI sells in the Federal market in furniture.

I also want to add something that has come up several times. We
are a unionized law enforcement workforce. Our members work in
FPI. They do not work in non-OSHA standard factories. We would
not allow it as a union. We wouldn’t allow them to work in there
under any conditions that weren’t acceptable to the private sector.

FPI receives about a half of one percent of the Federal procure-
ment dollar. This is small compared to the Federal market and the
larger private market. Furniture sales have dropped dramatically
since the passage of Sections 811 and 819 in the Defense Author-
ization Act. We believe we know what will happen if this bill
should pass in its present form. We have seen 2,000 inmates go
idle and 100 staff positions eliminated so far. This should concern
all Members of the Subcommittee.

If you change the contracting rules permanently, then corrections
policy must be changed, as well. It is a broader issue than just
eliminating mandatory source and changing what products and
services we can compete in.

I would also like to point out three memorandums that I placed
in our statement. One of those memorandums is from a staff mem-
ber in Memphis, Tennessee. It describes a day of a riot in 1995
when the Senate and the House didn’t change the sentencing
standards for cocaine and powder cocaine, or crack and powder co-
caine. I just want to point out one section:

“Later that afternoon, the same radical group became violent and
began destroying government property. They also attacked us in
front of one of the housing units. Moments after attacking us, they
went to the rear of UNICOR and began breaking open the fire es-
cape door. The inmates on the inside of UNICOR helped fight them
off and yelled they did not want to participate or destroy UNICOR.
They turned their attention to other areas of the institution and
continued their rampage.”

The other memos continue on the same theme, that inmates par-
ticipating in FPI do not participate generally in these types of ac-
tivities. I can provide more statements, and I would certainly do
that for the Subcommittee.

We understand the controversy surrounding FPI, but to elimi-
nate it and replace it with nothing is unacceptable. We will need
massive growth in correctional staffing. We are already down 11
percent nationwide in correctional staffing, and more funding for
additional programs that will have to come from appropriated dol-
lars to the Federal prison system.

The union requested information from management on FPI con-
tracts with the private sector. I have attached the full list for the
record, but want to highlight a few.

In Pennsylvania, we purchased $77.9 million in goods and serv-
ices in the private sector. In New Jersey, $19.5 million in goods
and services. In Michigan, we purchased $56.1 million to the pri-
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vate sector in Michigan. Mr. Chairman, in your State, we provide
$33.2 million to the private sector, in Illinois. What happens to
these people? Where do these people’s work go? Who replaces
them? This means that UPS, Roadway, some textile companies in
North Carolina, and many other companies will probably close
their doors.

Inmate wages were brought up. FPI has two workforces. We
have security needs. It is a much different program than running
a factory in the private sector. We have to send inmates through
metal detectors in and out of each of those factories on a daily
basis. I doubt any company in here has to have staff standing there
watching that inmates don’t steal stuff from the factory so they can
stab a staff member back up in the housing unit.

We also have our staff that are paid out of UNICOR non-appro-
priated funds. They are not appropriated fund employees. All their
benefit packages, all of their insurance, all of that comes out of FPI
sales. So it is not appropriated dollars that are paying for staff in
the Federal Prison Industries program. It is non-appropriated.
Therefore, as the program decreases, those staff have to be let go.

I want to thank you for allowing me to testify and I would an-
swer any questions you may have.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you all very much.

I want to start with Mr. Lappin. At the outset, I asked, why
wouldn’t FPI win any bid if private businesses could bid for govern-
ment procurement contracts? Shouldn’t FPI be able to win the bids,
because wouldn’t you have lower costs? And if you don’t have lower
costs, why is it that you don’t have lower costs?

Mr. LAPPIN. Thank you, sir. I would be pleased to respond to
your question. A couple of things. One, when you look at those
rates, one would assume, how could anyone ever compete with
that? But I think Mr. Glover mentioned a few issues.

First of all, let us talk about the inmates that work in Federal
Prison Industries. They come to us with limited literacy skills, few
vocational skills, and the majority of them have never worked in
a normal industry or operation. Few of them have worked in a nor-
mal situation, so the majority of them lack work skills. There is
enormous turnover. So there are limitations based on the inmates
themselves that come to us, and certainly it is our job to improve
on those skills.

But I think what is more complicating is the fact that we put the
majority of these factories in our medium- and high-security facili-
ties, which create enormous inefficiencies, which just by the nature
of those institutions complicate the ability to run a factory in a lo-
cation like this. These inmates all have histories of violence, all
have long, sometimes lengthy sentences, so all of those issues com-
plicate management of tools, equipment, oversight, and control. So
the normal work day is not a normal work day as you would com-
pare it to a privately-run company. All of these things result in
huge inefficiencies.

I think you see this more when you walk in and see this oper-
ating in person. I would invite the Members of the Subcommittee
or their staff to visit a couple of institutions so we could show you
the challenges we face in running factories in institutions of this
nature, not only because of the limitations of the inmates, but be-
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cause of limitations just based on the type of security and oversight
and control we must have over the equipment, the operations, and
the programs.

Senator FITZGERALD. So your payroll for the prison workers may
be very low and you don’t have the Social Security, Medicare, un-
employment compensation and workers’ compensation costs for the
prison workers, but you would have to have another whole set of
employees from Mr. Glover’s union that would actually watch over
the workers while they are doing this. Do you also include a cost
in your overhead for the factory itself?

Mr. LAPPIN. Absolutely. What I would like to do for the record—
I don’t have it here in writing——

Senator FITZGERALD. Are those factories built with appropriated
amounts or are they built out of the proceeds of the

Mr. LAPPIN. The shell of the factory is built with appropriated
funds. The build out of the factory and all equipment, all utilities,
all other needs of the program, the industry, are paid for by FPI.

The other thing I would like to mention is let me provide in writ-
ing for the Subcommittee a list of those things that are paid for by
appropriated funds and a list of those things that are paid for by
UNICOR so that we have the facts.

Senator FITZGERALD. That would be helpful. Do you also have fi-
nancial statements?

Mr. LAPPIN. Absolutely.

Senator FITZGERALD. This is a corporation. Do you have audited
financial statements?

Mr. LAPPIN. Yes, sir.

Senator FITZGERALD. Balance sheet, income statement, and so
forth?

Mr. LAPPIN. We have to file—we comply with all commercial and
government accounting standards. We are audited independently
every year. This audit is conducted or overseen by the Inspector
General’s office. This past year, this audit was conducted by
PriceWaterhouse Coopers. It was an unqualified decision this past
year. We post that on our website. We can provide you a copy in
person.!

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Williams, you do a lot of purchasing for
the Federal Government at the GSA. You personally—it is not an
administration position, but you personally sound like you favor
opening up contracts to bid and doing away with the sole source
requirement for FPI, is that correct?

Mr. WILLIAMS. That is correct, Mr. Chairman.

Senator FITZGERALD. Do you think it would save the taxpayers
money to do that?

Mr. WiLLiaMS. Absolutely, and the reason I believe that is, GSA
used to be a mandatory source within the Federal Government.
When we were a mandatory source, we didn’t listen to our cus-
tomers in the Federal Government. We didn’t work very coopera-
tively with our partners in the private sector. And we pretty much
dictated what you would get, when you would get it, and what the
product would be.

1The information provided by Mr. Lappin appears in the Appendix on page 250.
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Senator FITZGERALD. So can Federal agencies now go out and
just buy furniture at a store without going through you, or buy

Mr. WiLLiaMS. Federal agencies do not have to use GSA sources
of supply. We have to earn the business and we have to earn the
business with good prices and good service.

Senator FITZGERALD. And that forced you to get better?

Mr. WiLLIAMS. We have seen much growth in our financial per-
formance since we were mandatory. Now being non-mandatory, we
have grown tremendously in the amount of sales to Federal agen-
cies.

Senator FITZGERALD. Now, what about the issue with services,
Mr. Lappin? The FPI is now providing services. I understand that
prison workers are manning call centers——

Mr. LapPIN. That is correct.

Senator FITZGERALD [continuing]. That are being used by private
companies?

Mr. LAPPIN. Yes. Years ago, in an effort to reduce our reliance
on mandatory source, as indicated, we certainly are looking for
ways to reduce the products that fall under mandatory source——

Senator FITZGERALD. In those cases, you are bidding for that
work, I would imagine, because the private companies that need a
call center don’t have to follow a statute that requires that they use
you. I am sure they look around and see where they could get a
good deal, and you must have won those contracts.

Mr. LAPPIN. Actually, we are only pursuing work that is cur-
rently being done offshore or work that would be going offshore if
we weren’t competing. So we are not pursuing those types of work
ventures which would——

Senator FITZGERALD. So the billionaire in India who owns the
call center over in India is making so much money, he might hire
a Washington lobbyist to come over here and oppose you in the
Senate because you are competing with him. [Laughter.]

So you are only competing against foreign call centers?

Mr. LAPPIN. In many of the services, we are only pursuing—a
few months ago, the Federal Prison Industries Board asked that we
look at opportunities outside of those products that rely on manda-
tory source, and that is pretty much where our new service area
is going, and that we only look at those areas of work that is being
conducted, and performed, offshore. So companies that come to us
must certify that work that we are competing for, if not for us,
would be performed offshore.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. Senator Levin, would you like to ask
your questions?

Senator LEVIN. Just following up on that, that is something
which I have been pressing for in the area of products for a long
time, as to why the FPI doesn’t look at products that we import
and where there are, for instance, only imported products which
are purchased by the government and then get into that business.
It is the analogy to what you are doing in services. Why don’t you
go through that list?

Mr. LAPPIN. I certainly think that is an area that we could con-
sider.
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Senator LEVIN. Yes, but I raised that 4 years ago, and 3 years
ago, and 2 years ago, and I was given the same answer. That is
an area we could consider.

Mr. LAPPIN. I think if you look at most of our product areas, you
are seeing a decline, especially in furniture over the last few years,
because of the recent legislation that has been passed, because of
the recent resolutions passed by the Board. We are relying less and
less on our primary product areas of textile, furniture, and elec-
tronics.

I know if you look at this last year, you are going to see a bit
of a surge, especially in textile and electronics, but that is solely
because of the surge of the war and our commitment to support the
troops. But certainly in furniture, you are seeing much less busi-
ness in that regard and you are seeing us grow in those other
areas, and we are looking at some refurbishment of equipment and
supplies from overseas as well as the Department.

It takes some time for us to transition, and again, as I have indi-
cated before, we are in favor of reform of FPI. We are including the
eliminating of mandatory source. We are committed to relying less
on our traditional products lines of’

Senator LEVIN. Excuse me, what were those words? Including the
elimination of mandatory source? Were those the words I heard?

Mr. LaPPIN. That is correct.

Senator LEVIN. That is what this bill is all about.

Mr. LAPPIN. That is correct, sir.

Senator LEVIN. We are trying to eliminate that, too, so we are
on the same side now.

Mr. LAPPIN. As I said, sir, we are in favor of reform. We are in
favor of relying less on mandatory source, if not elimination, and
less reliance on our primary product areas of furniture, textiles,
and electronics, as long as we can pursue products and services in
other areas that allow us to keep inmates productively occupied.

Senator LEVIN. I am glad to hear that you favor the elimination
of mandatory source, because that is at the heart of this bill. The
other issue is the services issue, and there, you are saying that you
are doing what you should have done a long time ago with prod-
ucts, which is to look for offshore suppliers, to compete with them
instead of eliminating competition from the American private sec-
tor. So I would think that in a way, you are at least symbolically
or theoretically supportive of the direction of our bill.

But I want to go back to my question about imports on products.
You say it is a good idea. Has FPI in the last few years done a com-
prehensive search of products that are purchased by the Federal
Government that are only produced offshore? Do you know if that
search has been made?

Mr. LAPPIN. I am not sure, but again, I will check with the staff
in FPI and provide for the written record a response to that ques-
tion.1

Senator LEVIN. We have been pressing that issue year after year
and have never gotten a satisfactory answer to it.

Mr. LAPPIN. I can give you some examples of some of the service
areas, to include data entry for information from used car ads, re-

1The information provided by Mr. Lappin appears in the Appendix on page 250.
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pair of automotive starters and generators, attaching advertising
inserts in magazines, sorting and reboxing shoes. Those types of
things have all been repatriated.

Senator LEVIN. Mr. Williams, I think you have already com-
mented on this, but would you expand a bit on the history of GSA?
You had a mandatory source requirement until 1996.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Actually, it was 1986

Senator LEVIN. Eighty-six.

Mr. WILLIAMS [continuing]. When we were first given permission
to use industrial funding to fund GSA operations. With that, Con-
gress instructed us that we would no longer have mandatory source
and that we would be optional for use by Defense Department and
other Federal agencies.

Senator LEVIN. So with some products until 1996?

Mr. WILLIAMS. In 1996, we were fully non-mandatory

Senator LEVIN. Non-mandatory.

Mr. WILLIAMS [continuing]. And we have seen steady growth in
all of our program areas. I want to just insert here that the part-
ners that we worked with in the business community, over 40 per-
cent of them are small businesses and we worked carefully with in-
dustry to be a good partner and at the same time getting the best
value for the government purchasing dollars.

Senator LEVIN. Would you expect that GSA’s experience in that
regard would be followed by FPI, that they would have the same
experience?

Mr. WILLIAMS. I believe if they operated in a business-like way,
in cooperation and in spirit of cooperation with their customers,
that they could see the same type of growth, because we had to
change our practices. We had to change our products. We did that
in response to agency and customer needs. I believe that they could
enjoy the same type of growth.

Senator LEVIN. Mr. Lappin, back to you just for a minute. What
is the management structure of FPI? I should know the answer to
this, but I don’t. Is it a government corporation? Are all the em-
ployees in FPI in the corporate level government employees?

Mr. LAPPIN. Yes, they are.

Senator LEVIN. So you are run like any other owned corporation?

Mr. LAPPIN. We receive no appropriated funds. They are com-
pletely self-sustaining——

Senator LEVIN. And are the salaries set by you or are they set
by statute?

Mr. LAPPIN. They are set by OPM regulations.

Senator LEVIN. For the management?

Mr. LAPPIN. That is correct, for management. It goes through the
same process that other government employees would be. Employ-
ees that work in our Federal prisons are law enforcement employ-
ees. They have primary responsibility for the care and custody of
inmates along with their responsibilities in Federal Prison Indus-
tries. So they, too, are responsible for care and custody of inmates.

Senator LEVIN. So your budget is a matter of public record?

Mr. LAPPIN. Absolutely.

Senator LEVIN. Is it part of the budget of the United States—it
is not part of the budget documents.
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Mr. LAPPIN. No, it isn’t. We do a projection yearly. For example,
in 2003, we projected about a $667 million budget. Four-hundred-
and-ninety-seven million, or 75 percent, was to buy material sup-
plies from private sector vendors. About 19 percent, $130 million,
went to staff salaries and benefits. About 6 percent, $40 million,
was inmate pay. And so we can provide that to you in writing. We
publish a statement every year.l

Senator LEVIN. OK, thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator FITZGERALD. Senator Pryor, would you have any ques-
tions at this point?

Senator PRYOR. I do, but Senator Thomas, you go first.

Senator FITZGERALD. Senator Thomas.

Senator THOMAS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. This has been a
good panel and I appreciate this.

You mentioned, Mr. Lappin, in some of your criteria, I believe
you said it will not place a burden on private business. How do you
determine that?

Mr. LAPPIN. We do a survey prior to going into a new product
area and service area. We advertise. We ask for comments from
agencies and governments who may be performing that product, or
producing that product or service, so that we can balance that. We
encourage folks who feel as though they have been negatively im-
pacted to contact us so that we can weigh the consequences of some
of our decisions and try to do whatever we can to reduce the nega-
tive impact——

Senator THOMAS. I know, but how do you determine? You have
the U.S. Chamber that thinks you are being difficult, and you say,
well, no, we are not hurting because we check it out.

Mr. LAPPIN. No, for the record, say that I recognize that we have
some negative impact on businesses. There is no doubt about that.
We cannot completely say we don’t have some impact.

Senator THOMAS. You also mentioned, if you didn’t do this, you
would have to develop an alternative program. What is wrong with
having an alternative program? You can change once in a while.

Mr. LAPPIN. There are some alternative programs that may be
applicable, but I know that in many of them that have been pro-
posed, we cannot recreate a real-life work environment like we
have in the industry programs. We value certainly our education
programs and VT programs, as I have mentioned, and we leverage
or nudge inmates into those programs because many of them come
to us lacking literacy skills and vocational skills

Senator THOMAS. What about the other 88 percent——

Mr. LAPPIN [continuing]. But they are short term.

Senator THOMAS [continuing]. That you don’t deal with? You
have 88 percent of your prisoners that aren’t even involved.

Mr. LAPPIN. Well, we have work assignments far beyond Federal
Prison Industries.

Senator THOMAS. I understand. So why does this become such a
priority?

Mr. LAPPIN. Well, it is by far a much more real-life work experi-
ence and one that an inmate takes enormous commitment into the
product, and certainly we see inmates who work in Federal Prison

1The information provided by Mr. Lappin appears in the Appendix on page 250.
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Industries being less disruptive in our prisons and less likely to
come back to prison because of the work skills and abilities they
learned as a result of that experience.

Senator THOMAS. Mr. Williams, I don’t quite understand. You
said agencies don’t have a choice of what they buy. This is a man-
datory program, is it not?

Mr. WiLLiAMS. GSA or Federal Prison Industries?

Senator THOMAS. No, the Federal Government agencies.

Mr. WiLLiaMS. Federal Prison Industries products for furniture
have to be purchased by Federal agencies. There have been
changes in two appropriations bills that have modified that tempo-
rarily

Senator THOMAS. Right.

Mr. WILLIAMS [continuing]. But they are required to get a waiver
from Federal Prison Industries, and if they don’t get the waiver,
then they have to proceed with purchase of products from
UNICOR. In some cases, they are successful at getting a wavier.
In others, they are not. Many times, the customer agency will work
with GSA to get a waiver and we will work and communicate with
the ombudsman at UNICOR to see if we can get that waiver for
that Federal agency.

Senator THOMAS. Let me move to Mr. Weiss. You talked some
about waivers. Did that work well for you?

Mr. WEIss. Not in the FAA instance. We have had one oppor-
tunity where a waiver has been successful, but they are very—usu-
ally, you go through three or four appeals of the waiver process be-
fore you can go through. It is a lot of intimidation on the con-
tracting officer from the FPI level. You really have to have some-
body on the government side or the agency side that is willing to
invest time and effort into seeing that process through, because it
could be a 3-month process to get a waiver.

Senator THOMAS. Mr. Linder, you talked about getting some of
your outsourcing at the Federal agency. Can’t you outsource in the
private sector, as well?

Mr. LINDER. Yes, that is a good question. I just want to say that
I think free competition and open competition is the American way,
free enterprise, and that is how I got into business. I just want to
also add, I would never have even started my business if Federal
Prison Industries didn’t exist or even have had an opportunity to
bid into that system, because my belief and experience has been
that to try to sell to large businesses is a very difficult process. I
think that what we are looking at here is if this mandatory pref-
erence is removed, what will be happening is you will be providing
opportunity to big business. I think it takes large business to man-
ufacture the type of products that are produced by FPI and

Senator THOMAS. There are thousands, hundreds of thousands of
small businesses that don’t operate as you do and are still success-
ful.

Mr. LINDER. That may be so, but I am talking about my busi-
ness. You asked me about

Senator THOMAS. I understand.

Mr. LINDER [continuing]. My business.

Senator THOMAS. Why do you go there, because you can do it less
expensively?
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Mr. LINDER. Why do we go to——

Senator THOMAS. Prison?

Mr. LINDER. Let me explain it to you. Federal Prison Industries
makes it easy for their subcontractors. They make it like paint-by-
the-numbers. You don’t have to be a master painter to provide
products to them. They take their products and break them down
into small—

Senator THOMAS. What about the cost?

Mr. WEIsS. The costs? I compete just like everyone else.

Senator THOMAS. Do you bid? Do you offer bids to others?

Mr. WEIss. Ever single contract order we have ever received, and
I believe everybody who ever receives an order from FPI does so
in the free competitive process.

Senator THOMAS. So you can imagine they are doing it a little
less expensively, as the gentleman from the Chamber of Commerce
pointed out, because of less costs, right?

Mr. WEIss. I believe that Federal Prison is plying their product
because they have the mandatory preference. They don’t have to
compete against large business, who can—they don’t have to follow
strict guidelines on pricing and formulas. Federal Prison Industries
is bound by——

Senator THOMAS. Do they pay the costs that the private sector
does?

Mr. WEIsS. I believe that they have plenty of expenses that the
private sector won’t ever have.

Senator THOMAS. Tell me what they are, would you?

Mr. WEIsS. Yes. I believe that the overhead that

Senator THOMAS. Retirement? Do they have retirement?

Mr. WEIss. Certainly.

Senator THOMAS. Do they have health care? Do they have all
those things that the employer has to pay?

Mr. WEIss. Not to the inmates, but they certainly have heavy-
duty supervision. I haven’t heard anyone here state the numbers,
but I believe that they face anywhere from 800 to 1,000 percent in
direct supervisory costs for each inmate. So if they pay——

Senator THOMAS. How about those inmates that aren’t in this?
Are they supervised, as well?

Mr. WEIsS. Outside of Federal prison? I believe they have

Senator THOMAS. No, I am saying all Federal prisoners are su-
pervised.

Mr. WEISsS. Yes, they are.

Senator THOMAS. It is not quite right to say this group is super-
vised more heavily than others.

Mr. WEIss. I believe they probably are. I don’t have the facts in
front of me, but——

Senator THOMAS. I just think that you are a business person and
there ought to be an opportunity for everyone to bid and get into
the thing. It probably isn’t fair if you are getting a break from the
taxpayers to go to this particular place less expensively to other
businesses. So these are the kind of things I think we have to look
at in the broad sense, don’t you?

Mr. WEIss. I agree, and if you want to do something good for big
business, this will do just that. You will give plenty of work to
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large businesses and I think the potential for that filtering down
to small businesses like mine will be dramatically reduced.

Senator THOMAS. I don’t agree with you at all, because small
businesses are the major activities in this country and they con-
tinue to prosper.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you, Senator Thomas.

I have been advised that FPI sometimes engages in so-called
pass-throughs, or drive-by manufacturing, in which a private sector
company essentially manufactures a product, FPI orders the prod-
uct and then passes it through to the purchasing agency without
any meaningful inmate labor involved. For any of the panelists, es-
pecially Mr. Lappin, does this happen, and if so, how frequently
does it happen?

Mr. LAPPIN. Yes, sir, that does not happen. It was a practice in
the past during times when we would receive an order, and it is
called pass-through. I guess that is the term that has been tied to
this process, in cases where we took business and for whatever rea-
son—the factory was closed because of a disturbance, because of a
problem, we couldn’t meet the time line, we would go to the cus-
tomer and get them to approve us purchasing the product and
passing it to them.

We ended that prior to my coming into the Bureau of Prisons as
the Director. We no longer——

Senator FITZGERALD. You came in what year?

Mr. LAPPIN. Last year, a year ago in April. A year ago this
month. But that was solely:

Senator FITZGERALD. The end of the prior year——

Mr. LAPPIN [continuing]. For the convenience of the customer.

Senator FITZGERALD [continuing]. Coming in, would you know ex-
actly when they ended that?

Mr. LAPPIN. I don’t know exactly. It was one of the resolutions
that was approved by the FPI Board of Directors, who sets these
standards. I can provide to you in writing the date it was passed
and when we stopped that process.

So now what we do is we just go back to the customer and say,
because of the factory being closed as a result of a problem at the
institution, we cannot meet the time line. Please go out and pursue
that product through a private company.

Senator FITZGERALD. When they did those pass-throughs, was
FPI taking a mark-up on the product? You go out and buy the
product and then sell it to the agency. Would you mark it up?

Mr. LAPPIN. I don’t believe so, but again, when we provide you
a written response, we will indicate that for you.!

Senator FITZGERALD. You are not doing that any more?

Mr. LAPPIN. We are not. That is correct.

Senator FITZGERALD. And you are not going to go back to doing
that?

Mr. LAPPIN. That is correct.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. I understand, reading the statutes that
go back to the 1930’s covering the FPI, it appears that the work
program can apply to non-Federal facilities, is that correct, that

1The information provided by Mr. Lappin appears in the Appendix on page 250.
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there may be some non-Federal prisons? There is a reference in one
of the statutes to up to 50 non-Federal penitentiaries. I was just
wondering what that meant.

Mr. LAPPIN. Let me just help maybe in clarifying. A granted
State and some private correctional facilities have industry pro-
grams. I am not sure exactly what authority they operate under.
We only have Prison Industries programs in our own Federal facili-
ties. In facilities that we contract out the work, that if we contract
out the operation of the prison, we do not have factories in those
facilities.

Senator FITZGERALD. How many prisons do you contract out that
are run privately in the Federal system?

Mr. LAPPIN. Of the 176,000 inmates, we have about 18,000 in
privately-run facilities. That is probably 12 or 13 facilities, there-
abouts. I don’t have the exact number with me.

These are primarily low-security facilities housing low-security
criminal aliens, folks that are more than likely going to be de-
ported. There are no factories in them.

Senator FITZGERALD. And those are operated on a contract? Some
private company has a contract to run that prison?

Mr. LapPPIN. That is correct.

Senator FITZGERALD. Does the Federal Government pay for the
construction of the prison?

Mr. LAPPIN. Typically, no. We only have one facility where it was
government-built and now privately operated. The rest of those are
built by the private contractor.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. If some of those prisons are privately
owned, that means somebody owns the prison and they have Fed-
eral inmates who are working in the Federal Prison Industries pro-
gram?

Mr. LAPPIN. No.

Senator FITZGERALD. No?

Mr. LAPPIN. We do not have factories in those facilities.

Sgnator F1r1ZGERALD. There are no factories in any of those facili-
ties?

Mr. LAapPIN. That is correct.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. Can State prisons participate in this
program?

Mr. LAPPIN. States have different authorities that they work
under. I know that States have prison industry programs. Some
are under the PIE program. Some are run through other authori-
ties.

Senator FITZGERALD. They make drivers’ license plates or some-
thing like that?

Mr. LAPPIN. Yes.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. By the way, I would be interested, if
you could submit some information on the Federal prisons in Illi-
no}ils. We have Marion Federal Penitentiary and then we have a few
others.

Mr. LapPIN. We have FCI Pekin

Senator FITZGERALD. In Greenville?

Mr. LAPPIN [continuing]. Which is a 1,500-bed medium-security
facility. We produce metal products there, chain link fence, prison
doors, so on and so forth. We have a Federal prison or Federal cor-
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rections institution in Greenville, Illinois, where we produce BDUs
and other dress uniforms for the military.

Senator FITZGERALD. Did you say BDUs?

Mr. LAPPIN. Battle dress uniforms for the military.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK.

Mr. LAPPIN. And at Marion, we produce—we have a cable oper-
ation in support of military contracts.

Senator FITZGERALD. Yes, I have visited that operation.

Mr. LAPPIN. That is a high-security facility.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. Could you provide any examples of
items that FPI produces that are used by the troops in addition to
the BDUs, battle dress uniforms?

Mr. LAPPIN. We have a number of contracts and products with
the military. We produce Kevlar helmets, wiring harnesses, com-
munication cables, battle dress uniforms, portable lighting, phys-
ical fitness uniforms, towels, sheets, items of that nature. We have
one service group which is repairing vehicle and—it is vehicle and
equipment repair. We repair Humvees that have been damaged.
We refurbish engines, transmissions, items of that nature, to be
put back in service with the military.

Senator FITZGERALD. Are you ever competing with the arsenals,
the domestic arsenals, do you know?

Mr. LAPPIN. Actually, many of these customers came to us

Senator FITZGERALD. OK.

Mr. LAPPIN. Because they were struggling, turning around these
products and looking for one-stop shopping. Can you do the whole
process? And as a result, much of this business came to us, as well
as our fleet management program, which we do with the Marshals,
INS, outfitting their vehicles. We purchase the vehicle. We outfit
them. Again, because they were struggling, they were putting their
law enforcement folks out trying to get all this work done. They
were looking for one location where we could outfit the entire vehi-
cle, deliver it, take care of their old vehicle, survey it, and do it
more efficiently and effectively.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. Now, Mr. Glover, in answer to ques-
tions by Senator Levin, it sounded like Mr. Lappin said he did not
have a problem eliminating the sole source requirement that agen-
cies have to go to FPI as long as the FPI could expand into a few
other areas and remove some of the restrictions?

Mr. GLOVER. Senator, the union doesn’t always have the same
position as management, as you may know.

Senator FITZGERALD. Right. That is why I was checking. [Laugh-
ter.]

Mr. GLOVER. We are extremely concerned with the elimination of
the mandatory source and I will tell you why, because we feel that
peaks and valleys—we understand private business and we under-
stand this controversy. But this program is designed to deal with
Federal convicted felons and to get them better, to send them back
to the street.

When you talk about the other programs in Federal prisons, they
are very small. You have to have appropriated money to do that.
Our funding has been chopped, essentially. We are running prisons
at 87 to 91 percent funding levels, every facility in the system. You
are starting out 10 percent short every day in staffing, in correc-
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tional staffing, and at the same time, we are talking about cutting
what we believe is our most important correctional program as far
as—and it may only sound like 20 percent of the inmates who are
eligible to work in this, but that is a large number on a day-to-day
basis who are down in a Federal factory, in one of these factories
doing something productive.

Working out on the rec yard or doing something up in the edu-
cation department only lasts so long. Vocational training, that is a
great idea. We support it. Give us the Federal funding to run it
properly and put 300 inmates a day into a Federal vocational pro-
gram. We will do it. We will work hard at it. We have no problem
doing that.

But what we have seen over the years is less funding and then
now, basically an attack on this Federal program, and we are going
to have a problem trying to manage security. That is where we are
at. I mean, that is where the union is at on this issue.

Senator FITZGERALD. How many of your union members are in-
volved in supervising prison workers?

Mr. GLOVER. Prison industries?

Senator FITZGERALD. Inmate workers, yes.

Mr. GLOVER. Well, we have probably 2,500 employees, I would
say, that are union members that work in the Federal Prison In-
dustries program.

Senator FITZGERALD. And how many union members are there in
all of the Federal prisons?

Mr. GLOVER. We have almost 20,000.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK, so about 10 percent of your union
members are involved with the program?

Mr. GLOVER. Yes, sir.

Senator THOMAS. Just one follow-up question, Mr. Glover. You
talked about eliminating the program. We are talking about com-
petition. Are you opposed to competition? Don’t you think that this
program could continue to go and take away the mandatory aspect
and continue to

Mr. GLOVER. Here is what I am concerned with, Senator. The
issue that we see is the competition is fine, but our problem is
these peaks and valleys that are going to result in competition. We
are not going to—our concern is to have a steady stream of work
for the inmate population. When you have to lay in 200 inmates,
which means send them back up to the housing units because you
don’t have something to produce that day, we are concerned with
that stream of work.

The other issue with the bill, if you look at the way S. 346 is
written, it doesn’t allow us to go out into the—it doesn’t allow us
to repatriate work from overseas and services. It cuts services com-
pletely the way we see it.

And the other issue is, it doesn’t allow us to do anything—you
are cutting our market down. Basically, the Federal market is
where we have worked forever. We are going to compete now for
certain Federal product lines that we have gotten by mandatory
source. So we are seeing a drop in employment, and the only rea-
son we haven’t seen a bigger drop is because of the war effort.

So our concern is that we need a steady stream of something for
these inmates to do. I am going to tell you right now, the grass cut-
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ters of America are going to yell at us if we cut grass. Every single
interest group that we try to come up with something to do for
these inmates—we went down and started doing the Park Service
stuff for a while. We did some vocational stuff. We took them out
to the Park Service to clean national parks. Employees in the Na-
tional Park Service got upset because we had inmates down there
working in the national parks. The same thing happened in the
VA, where we had some programs to send them down to the VA
to operate around the VA, cleaning up the areas, painting, those
kind of things. Right away, the painters’ union, everybody else,
they all got upset.

Senator THOMAS. Just like your union is right now.

Mr. GLOVER. Exactly, sir.

Senator THOMAS. So it goes that way, that you have to talk about
competition makes government more efficient. Competition gives
the private sector, the people who pay your salary, a chance to do
some things. So really, it is pretty tough to deny the fact that there
ought to be an opportunity for the private sector to compete, and
I understand what you are saying.

Mr. GLOVER. Could I just say one thing to that, Senator?

Senator THOMAS. I suppose.

Mr. GLOVER. I understand that issue. I understand it completely.
My concern is that we are piecemealing this program. This is not
a comprehensive change. This is taking a piece of the program out
and not giving us anything to replace it with, similar to the 2,000
inmate jobs that we have already lost.

And so what we see happening is as this competition occurs, if
we lose another 2,000 inmate positions and the staffing that goes
with it, we are going to have a management problem.

Senator THOMAS. No one is saying you are going to lose it. You
want them to compete for business.

Mr. GLOVER. I believe we will lose it.

Senator THOMAS. When you are in business, you have to take a
chance. Everyone else in this place who is in business has an op-
portunity to lose.

Mr. GLOVER. I think where the Federal prisons

Senator THOMAS. There is no way you can be competing with
business and expect to be guaranteed to have services.

Mr. GLOVER. Sir, all I say is this. We are not businessmen. We
a}rl'e operating Federal prisons and we have to find a way to operate
them.

Senator THOMAS. Thank you.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Senator, may I add a comment on competition?
Defense Personnel Support Center in Philadelphia, this is the
group of people that provide uniforms, medical supplies, and food
for our troops all around the world, they were moving from one
part of Philadelphia to another and they wanted a waiver from
UNICOR for 3,500 work stations. UNICOR bid $8.6 million to fur-
nish that office space. They were moving from one old building to
another older building, so they had certain restrictions with what
furniture they could buy.

Even though UNICOR knew that there was a bid for $4.1 mil-
lion, less than half of their price, they would not give a waiver to
the Defense Department for this move until someone in the De-
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fense Department suggested, would this stand the test of public
scrutiny? Within a day, they had a waiver and we proceeded
through competitive bidding with a private company to furnish that
facility.

So I think if they would compete as we have become non-manda-
tory and competitive and work with the private sector, I think they
could flourish and find business lines to succeed.

Senator FITZGERALD. We are coming close to wrapping up, but I
do want to ask a final question of Mr. Palatiello. You criticize in
your opening statement the mandatory source status that was pro-
vided in the government procurement process to the FPI. Would
you be happy if the mandatory source status were eliminated, or
would you like to go further and eliminate FPI altogether? What
is the Chamber’s position?

Mr. PALATIELLO. We have never advocated doing away with FPI
altogether. We have advocated, as Senator Thomas has so elo-
quently stated, we have advocated competition. We believe that is
what the legislation before you does.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. Now, there seems to be pretty wide-
spread agreement that maybe we should do away with mandatory
source. Even Mr. Lappin could support that under certain cir-
cumstances if you were given some ability to get into some other
areas that would compensate for losing the mandatory source. Mr.
Glover is not so sure about that. Could you think about that?

Mr. GLOVER. We would certainly look at whatever the Senate
came up with, sir.

Senator FITZGERALD. You would think about it. Do you have any
specifics on what other areas you would like to get into, Mr.
Lappin?

Mr. LAPPIN. Again, I think

Senator FITZGERALD. This bill just eliminates mandatory source,
right? That is what it does.

Mr. LapPPIN. I think mandatory source, if it is eliminated, needs
to be done in such a way that as it is being eliminated, we can
transition into some of these other product areas and be competi-
tive. It doesn’t happen overnight. So I think there needs to be some
consideration of that. I think we are exploring opportunities out
there currently with the services, with some of the repatriated
products. Granted, we take a risk just like everybody else does. We
acknowledge that. But we believe there is potential there as long
as the legislation was to allow us that potential.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. Mr. Palatiello.

Mr. PALATIELLO. Mr. Chairman, I will leave to Senator Levin and
Senator Thomas the reason why their bill is a little narrower than
the House-passed bill. Part of it has to do with committee jurisdic-
tions and the like.

But, for example, we support the House-passed bill and particu-
larly a provision in there that would permit Federal Prison Indus-
tries to become engaged in work for nonprofit organizations, things
like Habitat for Humanity. We think there is room for expansion
in areas where there would not be an adverse impact on small
business and their workers and yet still providing work and train-
ing opportunities for prisoners.




35

If I may, a couple of comments have been made during the
course of the hearing that I think somewhat of just a very super-
ficial discussion made and I would like to clarify a couple of things.
First, if competition is injected, if there is still the demand for the
product and services from the Federal Government, the supplier
community is still going to survive and they are still going to
thrive. They may become suppliers to the private bidders rather
than to FPI, but they are still going to be suppliers.

Second, we cannot draw a line between appropriated funds and
some sort of virtual funding. FPI deals 100 percent with appro-
priated funds. They are appropriated to the Department of De-
fense. They are appropriated to the Department of the Interior.
They are discretionary, appropriated funds in the 13—well, 12 ap-
propriations bills, because I don’t believe they enjoy mandatory
source to Congress. But they are appropriated funds. They all are.

With regard to repatriation, Mr. Lappin very carefully chose his
words, but they get to decide whether something, in fact, is going
offshore and they can now claim it. There is no independent certifi-
cation by the Labor Department or the Commerce Department that
this is a lost product or service and, therefore, again, they are
judge, jury, and prosecutor. They get to decide. They do not do im-
pact studies on services. Mr. Lappin was slightly incorrect on that.
They are not required to under the law. They are only required to
do so on products. They do not do competitive impact analyses on
services.

I would like to enter into the record a brochure—now, this may
be, and I will admit the Board did take action within, I believe, the
last 2 years—Congressman Hoekstra brought to the attention of
the FPI Board a drive-by situation and the supplier who FPI was
turning around—whose work they were getting and turning around
and providing to an agency was not even a U.S. company. It was
a Canadian supplier, no value added on the part of the prisoners.
It was when Congressman Hoekstra brought that situation to the
attention of the Board that they finally adopted a policy for no
more drive-by. But we have a brochure that has been jointly pro-
duced by FPI and one of its suppliers where it talks about that
UNICOR is the exclusive agent for government customers and
there is no value added on the part of these things.1

One final thing. The point was made that there is a 24 percent
reduction in recidivism for those inmates who are through the FPI
work program. What Mr. Lappin failed to tell you is there is a 33
percent reduction in recidivism for those inmates that go through
vocational and remedial education programs, and that is from a
study called the “Post-Release Employment”——

Senator FITZGERALD. Is that true, Mr. Lappin?

Mr. LAPPIN. Oh, it is, sir, and I would be more than happy to
respond to that. We see great results from inmates who participate
in vocational training.

Senator FITZGERALD. That sounded like we would have less re-
cidivism if we place inmates in vocational training, instead of plac-
ing them in FPL

1The brochure provided by Mr. Palatiello appears in the Appendix on page 304.
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Mr. LAPPIN. We offer a variety of vocational training, and our
waiting lists for those programs are very small for those inmates
who participate. We do not force inmates into vocational training
programs. We do not force inmates into GED. We leverage them.
We don’t force them into those programs. Congress has passed a
number of laws that have provided some of that leverage, espe-
cially for GED, which has been very beneficial.

But I resist, I guess, forcing inmates into programs. We all know
what happens, when we force somebody into something that they
don’t really want to be there, the negative impact it has on all the
other participants in that program. So we leverage, we cajole, we
nudge. We are providing as many vocational training programs as
I believe we need. It does have a great impact on those who partici-
pate. We are seeing 33 percent fewer coming back.

But again, no different than GED and vocational training, drug
rehabilitation. We see varying rates of success, but all of them tend
to see fewer inmates coming back to prison because of that partici-
pation.

Mr. GLOVER. Senator, may I add one thing to that that the Direc-
tor may have missed?

Senator FITZGERALD. Sure.

Mr. GLOVER. Those programs are much smaller. The vocational
training program, like at Petersburg, Virginia, for instance, they
have one there. There are maybe 32 inmates in that program, not
250 that are working in the Federal Prison Industries factory. And
again, this goes back to resources, I believe. If you want us to do
more vocational training—the House bill, I would like to correct
two things.

Senator FITZGERALD. You said you were open to that——

Mr. GLOVER. Well, we have no problem with it if it is funded.
What the problem is, is when the funding doesn’t come through.

Senator FITZGERALD. And that probably costs a lot of money to
do that.

Mr. GLOVER. It is a lot of money.

Senator FITZGERALD. Yes.

Mr. GLOVER. But when the funding comes through, we are seeing
a smaller dollar because of homeland security and because all these
other things that are going on. We are seeing a much smaller piece
of that pie to run Federal prisons on. We would be happy to explore
more vocational training and rehabilitation.

One of the comments was that they have a Habitat for Humanity
issue in the House bill. No one is saying what they are going to
give us in funding to buy the raw materials, to build those things,
and then to ship that out to Habitat for Humanity. Nobody has
talkl;ed about how they are going to fund that, and it all goes back
to that.

If you want us to provide more of those things, then we need
more teachers, we need more certified recreation specialists, we
need more people who can do vocational training, brick workers,
masonry, roofers, all that stuff. You are going to have to increase
staffing in the Federal prison to run it. What our bottom line is,
is we want to make sure the prison is safe. We want to make sure
our members go home after 8 hours with no problem in the prison.
That is what it comes down to.
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Senator FITZGERALD. OK.

Mr. LAPPIN. Mr. Chairman, I don’t disagree, we have 7 percent
of our entire population in vocational training. Granted, could we
do more of that? It is possible. My concern is, will we get willing
participants? It is foolish for us to invest money in those types of
programs if, in fact, inmates are not going to willingly participate.
Waiting lists are small.

What is really sad, and I have to say this, is granted we have
20,000 inmates working currently in Federal Prison Industries. It
is the number of inmates that leave prison—there are at least
20,000 more inmates on those waiting lists to work at Federal Pris-
on Industries that never, ever get into Federal Prison Industries.
And what is sad is they are leaving prison after 10, 15, or 20 years
with limited work skills because we failed to take advantage of this
opportunity for willing participants to participate in this program.

Senator FITZGERALD. I understand.

Mr. LINDER. Senator Fitzgerald, two things I would like to say,
that is very important. One, I think there has been a glaring omis-
sion made in all of the testimony today about one of the provisions
of S. 346, and that is that all services for non-Federal services
would be eliminated in this bill, meaning that there are no services
permitted, period.

And another thing I would like to mention is I have heard people
talk about value, best value. For several years, that is what the De-
partment of Defense has required now in many of their contracts,
is best value, and value is not just the bottom-line dollars, and I
haven’t heard one person here talk about the social conscience that
is necessary when you talk about people in prison. In our American
society, I thought we were trying to rehabilitate people, and if you
think that is not important, please, just look Dino Ricciardone in
the eye and tell him that is not part of your goal. It is a social con-
science. That is what I have to say.

Senator FITZGERALD. This has been a wonderful hearing. You
have all been very articulate and interesting witnesses. I think we
learned a lot. I want to thank you for your attendance.

The hearing record will remain open until the close of business
next Friday, April 16, for additional statements and questions. If
those of you who are asked for additional information could provide
that to the Subcommittee, we would appreciate it.

If there is no further business to come before the Subcommittee,
this hearing is adjourned. Thank you.

[Whereupon, at 4:29 p.m., the Subcommittee was adjourned.]






APPENDIX

PREPARED STATEMENT OF SENATOR LAUTENBERG

Mr. Chairman: Thank you for holding this important hearing on the Federal Gov-
ernment’s procurement policies and “FPI”—the Federal Prison Industries—which
does business with government agencies under the trade name of “UNICOR.”

I approach this difficult issue as a former businessman as well as a Senator from
New Jersey.

American businesses large and small are hurting. This is especially true in manu-
facturing. It is tempting to believe that one of the problems American businesses
face is trying to compete with prison labor.

As someone who started a successful business with two childhood friends in
Paterson, New Jersey, I know that an efficient marketplace requires an “even play-
ing field” and all businesses should have an opportunity to compete on price, prod-
uct quality, customer service, and product delivery.

That has been the hallmark of our economic system.

As a result, Americans enjoy one of the highest standards of living in the world.

As a Senator from New Jersey, I also know that manufacturing jobs are dis-
appearing from my home State at an alarming rate.

But I don’t think we can blame this trend on prison industries. Rather, it is hap-
pening because of our increasing trade deficit, which reached a record level of 549
billion dollars in 2003. Our trade deficit with one country—China—increased by 20
percent to 124 billion dollars in just one year (2002 to 2003).

Manufacturers have borne the brunt of our trade deficit. Our manufacturing trade
deficit rose from 430 billion dollars in 2002 to 471 billion dollars in 2003. Not sur-
prisingly, the sector lost 582,000 jobs during that period.

I know that this hearing is not about trade policy but I mention these figures only
to underscore an important point: Our trade deficit, along with the recent recession
and productivity increases, account for the job losses in manufacturing.

We need to weigh the costs and benefits of the FPI program very carefully before
we consider making any changes to it. At a minimum, we should wait until we hear
from the General Accounting Office (GAO) on the subject.

There is great value to society in having Federal prisoners occupy their time con-
structively, develop a work ethic, and acquire job skills that will ease their transi-
tion back into civil society upon their release.

As former Deputy Attorney General Larry D. Thompson said, “although the FPI
program produces products and performs services, the real output is inmates who
are more likely to return to society as law-abiding taxpayers because of the job-skills
training and work experience they received in the FPI program.”

I agree with Mr. Thompson. Our Federal prisons house 176,000 people—mostly
young men, mostly minorities, mostly poorly educated—many of whom will eventu-
ally be released into our communities, so it is imperative that we provide them with
useful skills.

I think that restricting the FPI program will provide little relief for the private
sector businesses that would compete with FPI for government contracts.

I am concerned that reducing the scope of and participation in the FPI program
will make it much harder for inmates to acquire the work and social skills necessary
for reentering society. Without such skills, they are more likely to become recidivists
and harm the people in the communities they are attempting to rejoin.

This is a subject that requires careful deliberation so I look forward to hearing
from our witnesses today since each one has expertise and an important perspective
to share.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

(39)
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Statement of
The Honorable Craig Thomas
U.S. Senator from Wyoming

“Legislative Hearing on S. 346, a Bill to Amend the Office of Federal Procurement Policy
Act to Establish a Gevernment-Wide Policy Requiring Competition in Certain
Procurements from Federal Prison Industries”

Senate Governmental Affairs Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget and
International Security
April 7, 2004

Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee:

Throughout my career in elective office, in the Wyoming legislature, the U.S. House of
representatives and here in the Senate, I have long recognized that there are instances in which
government unfairly competes with, or displaces the competitive, private enterprise system.
That is why, working in a bi-partisan manner with my colleague, Senator Levin, we have
introduced S. 346 to establish a government-wide policy requiring competition in procurements
from Federal Prison Industries.

I am pleased the subcommittee has agreed to hold this hearing. The bill before us today
represents another step forward not only in injecting competition where we now have a
monopoly, but in limiting unfair government competition with the private sector. This important
and timely legislation will eliminate the mandatory contracting requirement that Federal agencies
are subject to when it comes to products made by Federal Prison Industries (FPI). Under current
law, all Federal agencies are required to purchase products made by the FPI. Simply put, this
important bill will remove this mandatory sourcing requirement and call for the FPI to compete
with the private sector for Federal contracts. Some progress has been made with procurement by
the Department of Defense, via provisions in recent Defense Authorization bills, and through
Senator Shelby’s provision in the current fiscal year’s Omnibus appropriations bill.

Currently, FPI employs approximately 21,000' federal prisoners or roughly 12 percent of a
Federal prisoner population of 174,000.” These prisoners are responsible for producing a diverse
range of products and services for FP1, ranging from office furniture to clothing, from electronics
to eyewear, from military gear to call centers and laundry services, to mapping and engineering
drafting. The remaining number of Federal prisoners who work, do so in and around Federal
prisons.

While I believe it is important to keep prisoners working, I do not believe this effort should
unduly harm or conflict with law-abiding employers, as FPI presently does. S. 346 not only
seeks to minimize the unfair competition that private sector companies face with FPI, but also

! Organization and Mission Statement, UNICOR 2002 Annual Report
? Federal Bureau of Prisons, February 2004
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restores the authority and procurement decisions to where they belong...with agency contracting
officials.

We will hear testimony today from representatives of America’s business community who have
been hurt by the unfair and monopolistic practices of Federal Prison Industries. Additionally, we
will hear from witnesses involved in the government contracting process regarding the impact
that FPI sole source preference has on federal agencies and the procurement decisions they
make.

What began in the 1930°s as a program to give inmates jobs skills for their re-entry into society
has become a money making enterprise, expanding into a range of products and services offered
in the private sector with little Congressional oversight. FPI has the advantages of paying lower
wages from between .25 cents to $1.23 an hour. FPIis not subject to regulations such as benefits
and retirement, health insurance costs, and compliance with OSHA regulations, as businesses are
in the private sector. And, FPI has a guaranteed client base.

FPI's mandatory source requirement not only undercuts private employers throughout America,
but its mandatory source preference often costs American taxpayers more money. 1 believe
taxpayers would be alarmed to learn of the preferential treatment that FPI enjoys when it comes
to Federal contracts.

It is ironic that in recent months as we have been debating the issue of off-shoring of American
jobs, we continue to lose good paying American jobs to a government sponsored prison labor
program, Frankly, it is alarming that our workers are losing their jobs in this manner.

As 1 said before, I support the goal of keeping prisoners busy while serving their time in prison,
and this legislation is not about ending that. It is about competition. If we allow competition in
Federal contracts, FPI will be required to focus its efforts in product areas that don't unfairly
compete with the private sector. Clearly, competitive bidding is a reasonable process that will
ensure taxpayer's dollars are being spent responsibly.

Of particular note, S. 346 allows contracting officers, within each Federal agency, the ability to
use competitive procedures for the procurement of products as opposed to being forced to use
FPI on a sole source basis. Our bill before the committee today allows federal agencies and
procurement officials to select the FPI for contracts if they believe FPI can meet that particular
agency's requirements. In addition, the product must be offered at a fair and reasonable price as
a result of an open competition. The focus of our bill seeks to place the control of government
procurement in the hands of contracting officers, rather than in the hands of FPL

Opponents will no doubt argue that the removal of the mandatory sourcing requirement will
somehow lead to idle prisoners, resulting in a more dangerous prison environment. Recognizing
this concern, Senator Levin and I have included language that allows the Attorney General to
grant a waiver to this process if a particular contract is deemed essential to the safety and
effective administration of a particular prison.
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Congress has taken steps to provide some relief from FPI’s mandatory sourcing requirement
within the Department of Defense, and just recently, for all federal agencies. In fiscal year 2002,
FPI was ranked 72 on the list of top 100 DoD contractors. In 2003, FPI had moved up to 69.
Clearly, FPI continues to do well in this area, despite new measures which allow the private
sector to compete.

[ am confident that by allowing competition for government contracts our bill will save tax
dollars and restore management decisions to where they belong ~ with individual buying agency
officials, not FPL. As Congress looks for additional cost saving practices, the elimination of
FPI's mandatory source preference will bring about numerous improvements, not just in cost
savings, but also a reduction of FPI’s unfair competition with the private sector.

Again, | thank the Chairman and the subcommittee, as well as the Chairman of the full
committee, Senator Collins, for recognizing the importance of this legislation.
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April 7, 2004
Washington, DC

Good Afternoon. Thank you, Chairman Fitzgerald for calling this hearing. I appreciate

the opportunity to testify along with my colleague, Senator Thomas.

T appear today as a cosponsor of S. 346, and more importantly, as a representative of
many people and businesses in Michigan that are being hurt by the current anti-competitive laws
that prevent Michigan businesses from competing against the monopoly called the Federal Prison

Industries, Inc.

Right now, there is an entity with over $500 million in annual revenues, which does not
pay local, state or federal income taxes, is not required to abide by federal or state workplace
rules, and pays employees between 23 cents and $1.15 an hour. Mr. Chairman, this is not the

Chinese government or a company in Mexico, but a government company established by the
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United States Congress and run by the U.S. Department of Justice’s Bureau of Prisons. In other

words our own government is undermining our nations manufacturing industry.

In 1934 Congress established Federal Prison Industries, Inc. (FPI) and placed it under the
control of the Department of Justice’s Bureau of Prisons. FPI's purpose is to serve as a means
for managing, training and rehabilitating inmates. And I support this worthy goal. Under current
law FP1 is a “mandatory source” for the federal government, making it the sole source for more
than a half a billion dollars in Federal contract opportunities. Unfortunately, FPI also has the
power to determine whether its product and delivery schedule meets the federal agencies needs,
instead of the buying agency. Hundreds of small businesses from Michigan and around the
country have seen FPI take jobs away from their companies and give them to inmates at federal
prisons -- even when these businesses could have supplied the government with a better quality

product on a better timeline, at a lower price.

In 2002, FPD’s business in two industries that are critical to Michigan’s economic health,
automotive components and furniture, grew by 216 percent and 24 percent respectively.
Furniture manufacturers in western Michigan are in the midst of their worst economic recession
in history. For example, in January, Steelcase, a west Michigan furniture manufacturer,
announced that it was cutting 77 of its skilled trades workers, which are some of the most highly
skilled and highly paid jobs in the factory. The company also extended the lay-off warning for
60 days for another 360 employees. Over the last three years the office furniture manufacturing

industry has had to lay off approximately 30,000 employees.
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The inability of Michigan businesses to fairly compete with prison industries exacerbates
an already difficult economic situation. According to February 2004 figures from the Bureau of
Labor Statistics, Michigan’s unemployment rate is 6.6% -- a full percentage point above the
national rate. And last year, Michigan lost more jobs then any other state — 78,800 jobs lost in
just one year. Michigan also had the largest unemployment increase of any state. In 2003,
Michigan’s unemployment went up 1.0%, the highest increase of any state. Michigan has lost
over 175,000 manufacturing jobs since January 2001 — which is more than 19% of the state’s

manufacturing job base. This puts Michigan at the heart of America’s manufacturing jobs crisis.

Mr. Chairman, let me be clear, I am not opposed to the 1934 law that created Federal
Prison Industries, Inc. Prisoners should have work opportunities that build their job skills and
enable them to make a successful return to society upon their release. However, it is only fair
that our small business owners and manufacturers be able to compete for these federal contracts
if they can offer competitive products and services. Our manufacturers are not asking for an
advantage or to exclude FPI from competing. All they want is the opportunity to compete fairly

and on equal footing for these contracts.

Because of Sen. Levin’s leadership, the private sector can now compete for federal
defense contracts. An amendment to the 2002 Defense Authorization bill ended the prison
industry’s monopoly over federal defense contracts so that businesses can compete. We must
continue to level the playing field between private companies and the prison industry to enable

fair competition for federal government contracts.
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At a minimum, it is time to give the private sector access to the playing field and let it compete
for federal contracts the prison industry now monopolizes. To do so, I am pleased to be
cosponsor of 8.346, along with Senators Thomas, Levin, Grassley, Chambliss, and Shelby. This
bill will ensure that businesses in Michigan and the rest of America have the opportunity to
compete for contracts with their government. The bill would also prohibit the prison industries
from granting prison workers access to classified information or information that is protected
under the Privacy Act. This provision is important for national security and comes at a time
when America’s security is a top concern for all of us. The bill would also clarify that private
sector businesses and their employees must be permitted to compete for federal contracts as well
as prime contracts. And finally, the bill would clarify that the general prohibition of sales of
prison-made goods into private commerce is also intended to apply to sales of services. This

provision is important as the services sector represents a growing portion of our economy.

Mr. Chairman. Thank you again for holding this hearing and giving me the opportunity
to testify. Eliminating FPI’s monopoly will make businesses eligible for more than a half-billion
dollars in business opportunities. This would be a much-needed shot in the arm for many

Michigan and U.S. businesses.
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April 7, 2004

Good Afternoon Chairman Fitzgerald, and Members of the

Subcommittee:

I appreciate the opportunity to appear before you today to
discuss Federal Prison Industries (FPI or trade name UNICOR). As
the Director of the Bureau of Prisons, I also serve as the Chief
Executive Officer of FPI, a government agency program which is
the Bureau of Prisons’ most important correctional management
program. I am not involved in the operational details of the FPI
program, but I have first-hand knowledge of the impact this
program has in reducing crime, and in making prisons safer to
manage and less expensive to operate. I have been with the
Bureau for 19 years, serving previously as Regional Director and

Warden at two institutions.

As you know, the Senate is considering two bills concerning

Federal Prison Industries. This hearing is to consider §.346.
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H.R. 1829, which was recently passed by the House of
Representatives, has been referred to the Senate Committee on the
Judiciary. The Administration has taken a neutral position on
these bills. Therefore, I will not be commenting on the

specifics of these bills.

The mission of the Bureau of Prisons is to protect society
by confining offenders in the controlled environments of prisons
and community-based facilities that are safe, humane, cost-
efficient, and appropriately secure. We also seek to provide
work and other self-improvement opportunities to assist offenders
in returning to their communities as productive law-abiding
citizens. In fulfilling its mission, the Bureau of Prisons is
facing several challengeg. The federal inmate population, now
over 176,000 inmates, has increased six-fold in the last two
decades, and it is expected to reach 215,000 by 2010. In
addition, we are managing more dangerous and aggressive offenders
including more gang-affiliated inmates, and we are encountering
increases in inmate asgsaults on other inmates and on staff. To
keep pace with the projected increase in the Bureau’s inmate
population, 17 additional prisons are planned for activation
between 2004 and 2008 to confine high and medium security

inmates. Congress has provided initial activation funds for 10

2.
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of these facilities (one in Fiscal Year 2003 and nine in Fiscal

Year 2004).

Our mission is particularly challenging because the Bureau
of Prisons has no control over the number of offenders who come
into the prison system or over the length of time they stay in
prison. We also do not control the offenders’ backgrounds,
including criminal histories, educaticnal levels, substance abuse
problems, etc., all of which impact their ability to adjust to
prison and ultimately their ability to successfully reenter
society. But we do have control over how inmates occupy their
time while incarcerated. We alsc have some influence over how
offenders leave our custody and the impact they will have on

society, particularly public safety.

During the 3-year period from 2000 to 2002, the Bureau
released back to local communities an average of approximately
40,000 inmates per year, a number that can only increase in years
to come as the inmate population continues to rise, with the vast

majority of inmates eventually being released from prison.

The Bureau of Justice Statistics has reported that
recidivism among the state prison systems inmates increased over

a recent 1l0-year period. During approximately the same time

.3
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frame, the federal inmates’ recidivism rate declined. We know,
based on rigorous BOP research, that this positive impact is due
to inmate programs that include work assignments, drug treatment,
education, vocational training, and others, all of which provide
inmates with the skills and cognitive abilities to function

successfully when they return to our communities.

Federal Prison Industries is one of the most critical
components of the Bureau of Prisons’ efforts to prepare inmates
to succegsfully reenter society. The goal of the FPI program is
to provide inmates with job skills training and work experience,
thereby reducing recidivism and undesirable inmate idleness.
Inmates who work in Federal Prison Industries are 24 percent less
likely to commit crimes and 14 percent more likely to be employed
for as long as 12 years after release, when compared to similar
inmates who did not have FPI experience. Indeed, the FPI program
provides the greatest benefit to minorities, who are often at
greater risk for recidivism. These research findings have been
favorably reviewed by nationally-respected social scientists and

economists.

We focus the FPI program in higher security institutions --
those that generally have the most serious offenders. In fact,

76 percent of inmates working in the FPI program have been

4
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convicted of drug trafficking, weapons, and violent offenses.

FPI provides a program of constructive industrial work, providing
sound job skills and positive work habits to inmates. Even
before they are released from prison, it is apparent to prison
staff that inmates who work in the FPI program have made
substantial adjustments in their thinking and their behavior.
When compared to similar inmates without FPI experience, the FPI
program inmates are substantially less likely to viclate prison
rules, despite the extensive and violent criminal histories that

are so common to these individuals.

Federal Prison Industries is unigue among our inmate
programs in that, by statute, it receives no appropriated funding
for its operations. Earnings from FPI's industrial program are
used for all operating costs of the program, including purchase
of raw materials and equipment, staff salaries and benefits, and
compensation to inmates performing in industrial work details.
In addition, the FPI program pays for equipment and other start-
up costs associated with activating new prison factories. The
FPI program’s purpose is not to be a business that generates
revenue. Rather, it is a correctional program. There are many
ways in which the FPI program does not and should not operate as
a business: it sells its products to the federal government; it

does limited advertising and marketing; it spreads its operations

5.
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across multiple business areas to lessen its potential impact on
each of the industries in which it operates; and, most
significantly, it is deliberately labor-intensive in order to
train the largest possible number of workers. Although the FPI
program produces products and performs services, the real output

of the FPI program is inmates who are more likely to return to

society as law-abiding taxpayers because of the job skills

training and work experience they received in the FPI program.

Another secondary but important benefit of the FPI program
ig ite ability to provide inmates wages that can be used to
provide restitution to victims. The FPI program mandates that 50
percent of inmate wages be used to pay fines, victim restitution,
and child support obligations, which helps those outside the
prison system who were affected by inmates’ conduct. In Fiscal
Year 2003, inmates working in the FPI program paid approximately
$3 million towards these obligations, with the vast majority

going to victim restitution.

The FPI program also contributes significantly to reducing
inmate idleness. Inmate idleness is problematic in a number of
ways -- it undermines other rehabilitation programs and increases
the risk of violence, escapes, and other disruptions. Idle

inmates require more staff to monitor, which increases the cost

-6-
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to taxpayers. Furthermore, as the amount of time inmates are
idle increases, the rate of these problems does not increase
linearly, but geometrically. Rapid growth of the inmate
population has led to increased systemwide crowding, with the
most significant crowding at medium and high security
institutions. Our data indicates a high correlation between
increasing inmate-to-gtaff ratios and higher rates of assaults.
Thus, the FPI program is particularly important at higher

gecurity level institutions.

With regard to the FPI program’s effect on the private
gsector, FPI attempts to go beyond its legal obligation to
minimize any adverse effect, to focus on maximizing positive
effects wherever possible. Last year the FPI program spent
almost a half-billion dollars buying raw materials, eguipment,
and servicesg from private vendors. This money represented 75
percent of the entire revenue earned by the FPI program, and more
than 53 percent of this money went to small businesses, including
businesses owned by women, minorities, and those who are
disadvantaged. As a result of the FPI program’s purchases, there
are thousands of jobs in the private sector that are tied

directly to the continued viability of the FPI program.

7.
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Despite the FPI program’s positive impact on recidivism,
restitution to the victims of crime, and its support for private
sector businesses, we recognize there is an on-going debate
regarding the FPI program, particularly as it relates to the FPI
program’ s mandatory source authority. I would like to clarify
that the so-called “mandatory source” rule does not mean that the
FPI program can impose itself on 100 percent of any particular
product or sexrvice. First, mandatory source does not apply to
any of the FPI program’s services or recycling activities.
Second, mandatory source applies to products in a limited way.
Recent legislation and FPI Board of Directors resolutions have

dramatically reduced the effect of mandatory source.

We are sensgitive to the concerns of government contract
bidders and agree that any negative impact of the FPI program on
the private sector should be minimized. <Consistent with the
Administration’s position, any reform of the FPI program should
gimultanecusly provide federal agencies with greater flexibility
in buying products, increase access by private sector companies
to government purchases, and ensure that the Attorney General
maintains adequate work opportunities in federal prisons to
reduce recidivism and counter the potentially dangerous effects

of inmate idleness.
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Efforts to reform the FPI program in a balanced manner are
already underway. We are already working to reduce the FPI
program’s reliance on mandatory source, reduce capacity in office
furniture, textiles, and electronics, and emphasize new areas for
inmate jobs, particularly service jobs that are moving overseas.
The FPI program’s Presidentially-appointed Board of Directors has
already taken several very significant and proactive steps as

part of this effort, including:

. FPI’'s Board eliminated the FPI program’s mandatory source
for purchases up to $2,500. This change applies to all
federal agencies and recently became effective pursuant to a

Federal Acguisition Rules change.

. FPI‘'s Board directed that the FPI program approve requests
for waivers in all cases where the private sector provides a
lower price for a comparable product that the FPI program

does not meet.

. FPI's Board directed that the FPI program waive mandatory

source for products where the FPI program’s share of the

federal market is 20 percent or more.

9.



57

. FPI's Board directed any prison-made products sold by the
FPI program must have at least 20 percent of its value

contributed by inmate labor.

Beyond the efforts of the FPI program and its Board,
Sections 811 and 819 of the National Defense Authorizations Acts
of 2002 and 2003, respectively, changed the procedures for
Department of Defense (DoD) procurement from the FPI program, and
Section 637 of the Conscolidated Appropriations Act, 2004,
recently extended Section 811/819 reqguirements to civilian
agencies. The effect of these laws was to enhance private sector
access to federal procurements and to increase the freguency of

ingtances where FPI must compete for a contract.

The FPI program has undertaken many modifications to respond
to these recent changes in the law. FPI’s sales in some product
areas declined dramatically following passage of Sections 811 and
819. Corporate earnings were 87 percent below plan in FY 2003.
The area of largest impact is FPI's office furniture program,
which has historically comprised a major portion of FPI's sales.
FPI's office furniture sales in FY 2003 were $70 million less

than FY 2002 sales. This represents a 33 percent decrease.

-10-
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The collective effect of the statutory, FPI policy, and
other factors has been a decline in the FPI program’s sales and
earnings. As a result, the FPI program has had to close or
downsize 13 factories, reduce operating costs, and reduce inmate
participation by approximately 2,000 inmates, as well as FPI
staffing by 97 positions. This has resulted in a reduction in
the percentage of medically able, sentenced inmates in secure
facilities working in the PFPI program from 21 percent in FY 2002

to 19 percent in FY 2003,

The FPI program continues to seek ways to create new inmate
jobs. FPI's future growth is focused on non-mandatory areas such
as fleet management, recycling, and services. The FPI program
also is continuing to examine ways in which it can improve its
operations and increase inmate employment, such as by increasing
vertical integration. This allows the FPI program to employ more
inmates without a corresponding increase in output. All of these
strategies are helpful; however, they will not entirely offset
those inmate jobs lost as a result of FPI program decreasges in

its traditiconal industry of office furniture.

We support continued reform of FPI, including the
elimination of FPI's mandatory source provision and the reduction

of its reliance on traditional products, especially furniture,

-11-
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textiles, and electronics, as long as the BOP is able to waintain
its ability to provide job skills training and work experience to
a growing federal inmate population. If the FPI program is not
able to maintain its viability as a correctional program or is
not able to maintain adequate levels of inmate enrollment, there
will be a negative ripple effect. First and foremost, if fewer
inmates develop the social skills of the workplace, recidivism
will likely increase, at substantial future cost to taxpayers and
victims of crime. Second, there will be an economic disruption
to the small businesses that currently depend on the FPI program
for their continued business success. Third, opportunities to
provide restitution to victims of crime will decrease. Fourth,
the risk of dramatically increased inmate idleness will threaten
the safe and orderly operation of our federal correctional
ingtitutions. Finally, if the FPI program is no longer available
to provide training to inmates, we will need to further develop

alternative programs.

The Bureau of Prisong is getting significantly greater
numbers of federal inmates who are serving more time in prison,
are unskilled, undereducated, criminally sophisticated, and
physically violent. Virtually all of these inmates will be
released back into our neighborhoods at some point and will need

job skills (vocational training), work experience (the FPI

-12-
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program), and secondary education if they are to successfully

reintegrate into society.

Like the FPI program, the Bureau’s education and vocational
training programs have been shown to have a positive impact on
recidivism and an inmate’s ability to find and maintain
employment upon release from incarceration. However, these
programs operate best as a complement to the FPI program, not a
substitute for it. Education and vocational training programs
alone do not provide inmates with sufficient job skills training
and work experience during the length of their incarceration.
Most education and training programs are provided on a part-time
schedule, rather than for a full-day. Also, these programs are
designed to run for only a limited time (vocational training
typically runs 18-24 months in duration). The average sentence
length for inmates in the Bureau of Prigons is over 9 years. In
addition, unlike the FPI program, educational and vocational
training programs reguire appropriated funding. Simply put,
education and vocational training are extremely valuable programs
that we utilize to the greatest possible extent. However, they
are not substitutes for the extended real work experience

provided by the FPI program.
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The FPI program creates the opportunity for inmates to work
in diversified work programs that teach work skills and a work
ethic through day-to-day work experience, both of which can lead
to viable employment upon release. With the Bureau inmate
population projected to increase 22 percent by the year 2010, the
greatest challenge facing the FPI program in the future will be
its ability to continue to generate the requisite number of new
inmate jobs and thereby help prisoners prepare for a crime-free

return to their community after release.

Chairman Fitzgerald, this concludes my remarks. I would be
pleased to answer any guestions you or other Members of the

subcommittee may have.
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Chairman Fitzgerald and Members of the Subcommittee, I appreciate the opportunity to appear
before you today, on behalf of the U.S. General Services Administration (GSA), to discuss your
ideas to establish a government-wide policy requiring competition in certain procurements from
Federal Prison Industries (FPI). GSA supports the Subcommittee’s interest in requiring
competition to the maximum extent practicable whenever taxpayer dollars are being spent to
ensure positive results in government acquisition. Two fundamental principles need to be
satisfied in any legislative or administrative reforms. Agencies should have the flexibility
through competition to purchase quality goods and services at fair and reasonable prices with the
expectation of timely performance. At the same time FPI is an important national program, and
the Attorney General must be able to maintain adequate work opportunities at Federal prisons to
counter the potentially dangerous affects of inmate idleness and prepare prisoners for
reintegration into society. Finding a results oriented approach to meeting FPI's national
objectives (providing work opportunities for inmates) while obtaining additional competition and
transparency in the government procurement process will result in the taxpayer getting better
value for their tax dollar and give the Federal agency customer a greater range of choices.

As this Subcommittee knows, the President has called upon the entire Federal Government to
improve performance by focusing on results. Among other things, we have been charged with
making our agencies citizen-centered, market-based and results-driven. Accountability requires
that we spend the taxpayers' dollars wisely and provide greater insight into how their money is
being spent. Senate Bill 346 and other Bills are being considered by the Senate with regard to
the reform of FPL The Administration has taken a neutral position on all bills. Therefore, I will
not be commenting on the specifics of 5. 346.
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A number of previous actions by Congress and this Administration are promoting competition
and helping create a level playing field with the private sector. GSA, the National Aeronautics
and Space Administration, and the Department of Defense (DoD) revised the Federal
Acquisition Regulation (FAR) four (4) times over the past year to implement results oriented
reforms, namely:

. In May 2003, agencies began evaluating FPI's contract performance just as they would
the performance of any other private sector firm — this is a results driven solution focused on
actual contract performance. While this did not change FPI's mandatory preference status, it was
an important first step in helping FPI better monitor and improve its own performance. Results
oriented feedback has proven to be a critical tool for the private sector over the last two decades
in terms of improving both products and services and its bottom-line, and now is being employed
by FPI as they move toward being more competitive in the Federal marketplace.

. Second, the threshold for mandatory use of FPI was raised from $25 dollars to $2,500 in
May 2003. This change by the FPI Board of Directors allows agencies to go directly to the
private sector or FPI for any purchase under $2,500.

. Third, Section 811 of the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2002 was
implemented by DoD, requiring that, before purchasing a product from FPI, DoD must
determine whether the FPI product is comparable in price, quality, and time of delivery to
products available from the private sector.

. Finally, this same requirement was extended to DoD and non-DoD agencies alike in
Fiscal Year 2004 based on Section 637 of Division F of the Consolidated Appropriations Act of
2004 (Public Law 108-199). This statutory provision prohibits all Federal agencies from using
their appropriated funds to purchase from FPI unless the agency making the purchase first
determines that the FPI service or product provides the best value to the buying agency pursuant
to FAR procedures. If the FPI's product is found to be comparable with private sector offerings
that best meet the agency's needs in terms of price, quality and time-of-delivery, agencies should
buy from FPL If not, agencies are free to use competitive procedures, including FPI in the
competition.

GSA supports reform of FPI and looks forward to working with this Subcomumittee in making
sure our procurement system is based on competitive procedures that are focused on achieving
results. This concludes my prepared remarks. 1am happy to answer any questions you may
have.
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Chairman Fitzgerald and Members of the Subcommittee, I am John Palatiello, Executive
Director of MAPPS, a national association of firms in the mapping, spatial data and
geographic information systems field. I am also a member of the U.S. Chamber of
Commerce and have the privilege of serving on the Chamber’s Privatization and
Procurement Council. It is on the Chamber’s behalf that I appear before you today.

The U.S. Chamber is the world's largest federation of business organizations, representing
more than three million businesses and professional organizations of every size, sector and
region of the country. The Chamber serves as the principal voice of the American business
community. Over ninety-six percent of the Chamber members are small businesses with
fewer than 100 employees. The Chamber commends the Subcommittee for their interest in
holding this legislative hearing on S. 346, a bill that seeks to infuse competition in the
federal procurement process with regard to purchases from Federal Prison Industries. We
would especially like to thank Senators Levin and Thomas for their leadership and
dedication to reforming the unfair competitive practices of FPI. The Chamber respectfully
submits these comments for the record.

FPI in the Free Market

Our free market system is essential to achieving and maintaining a vibrant and productive
economy and is a necessary foundation of political and social freedom. The United States
government is responsible for enforcing laws that promote competition in the marketplace
and ensure a level playing field among competitors to benefit American consumers.
Monopolies do not belong in a free market economy. When you remove competition from
the equation you are left with higher prices, lower quality or service, and lower
productivity as a result of lower efficiency. Non-market practices also stifle innovation
and reduce the availability of goods and services.

This is exactly the situation with respect to FPI sales in the federal market. The federal
government — the consumer in this case — is paying above market prices for lower quality
goods and in doing so, is squandering American taxpayer dollars while completely
ignoring the very rules it enforces in the commercial market. The Senate Governmental
Affairs Committee has jurisdiction over the federal procurement process; a process aimed
to deliver on a timely basis the best value product or service to federal agencies while
promoting competition and reliance on the private sector for commercial items. Reform of
FPI is aligned with the goals of this committee to ensure fair and full competition to ensure
the best value for the American taxpayer while removing barriers that prevent businesses,
particularly small businesses, from obtaining government contracts.
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This Committee has a long history of advancing pro-competition, pro-reform procurement
legislation, including the Competition in Contracting Act (CICA), the Federal Acquisition
Reform Act, the Federal Acquisition Streamlining Act (FASA) and the Federal Activities
Inventory Reform Act (FAIR). We believe S. 346 is the next logical reform in federal
procurement.

The Need for Reform

In 1934, President Roosevelt established FPI as a government-owned corporation. FP1
was given special "mandatory source" status in the government procurement process,
forcing government agencies in need of a product to purchase that product from FPI. No
consideration can be given to a private sector competitor unless that agency asks FPI for an
exception from its own monopoly. It is ironic that there are laws prohibiting the U.S. from
importing goods that are made by prisoners in other countries, yet we have laws that
require our own federal government to buy goods and services from prisoners in this
country.

Each year, FPI expands to produce even more goods and services. FPI’s sales growth, all
through non-competitive contracts, has been formidable: $546 million in 2000, $339
million in FY 1990, up from $117 million in 1980, and $29 million in 1960. Today, FP1
produces over 300 products and services that in 2002 alone totaled $678 million worth of
sales to the federal government, making it the 34th largest Government contractor. This
makes FPI a formidable competitor even for a large private sector enterprise, much less a
small business. Evidence indicates that FPI will continue its expansionist behavior, by
exploiting its mandatory source status and increasingly encroaching on private sector
industries in order to be a profitable enterprise, forcing businesses to halt production lines,
lay off employees and even close their doors for good.

Ensuring a level playing field for the private sector in the federal procurement process by
ending FPTI's unfair advantage is a major priority for the Chamber. The Chamber has long-
standing policy that the government should not perform the production of goods and
services for itself or others if acceptable privately owned and operated services are or can
be made available for such purposes. The private sector should be allowed to compete
fairly with FPI for federal contracts — plain and simple —~ by eliminating the requirement
that government agencies purchase products and services from FPL

Reform of FPI starts with the realization that FPI has exceeded its statutory authority. They
are free to set any price they want within the range of market prices with no incentive to
charge the lowest price. Until the recent enactment of reform measures, FPI, rather than
federal agencies, determined whether FPT's products and services and delivery schedule
meets the agency's needs. While these reform measures have provided some relief,
permanent comprehensive reform is needed to reign in this organization. By granting FPI
a monopoly, issues of price, quality and efficiency fall by the wayside at the expense of
U.S. taxpayers. Contrary to FPI's assertions, the General Accounting Office (GAO)
reported in 1998 that FPI cannot back up its frequent claims about being a quality supplier
to Federal agencies, furnishing quality products at low prices to meet their needs. Once
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FPI commandeers a product, it erodes, displaces, or eliminates private sector competition,
thus opening the door for it to raise its prices.

Recent aggressive expansion by FPI into the services arena has caused great concern in the
business community. Even though FPIs authorizing statute does not specifically mention
services, FPI has interpreted that it is a "preferential source” for services and used this to
enter into sole source contracts with Federal agencies for services. They are quickly
expanding their services portfolio, which includes printing, environmental testing,
recycling, mapping and imaging, distribution and mailing, laundry services, data
conversion, and call center and help desk support.

This expansion is alarming not only because it adversely impacts the private sector but also
because it is wholly inappropriate to allow inmates access to classified or infrastructure
information used in mapping projects or the personal or financial information of private
citizens used in call center operations. We should be extremely cautious with the
information we arm our federal inmates with in preparation for life beyond bars.

FPI's desire to expand into the commercial marketplace is an alarming development that is
seen as a call to arms by industry. The Chamber opposes FPI's move into the commercial
marketplace for four reasons. First, the decision to expand into the commercial
marketplace is in conflict with the clear language of FPI's enabling legislation and beyond
the discretion of the Board. Second, it is a reversal of more than sixty years of public
policy. Third, this authority that FPI has claimed for itself without any specific legislative
authority from Congress. Finally, the creation of a state run enterprise, competing with its
own citizens, is a policy so at odds with the role of government in a free society that itis a
decision best left to Congress.

Title 18 U.S.C. section 4122(a) specifically states:

Federal Prison Industries shall determine in what manner and to what extent
industrial operations shall be carried on in Federal penal and correctional
institutions for the production of commodities for consumption in such institutions
or for sale to the departments or agencies of the United States, but not for sale to
the public in competition with private enterprise.

Now, however, despite this seemingly clear prohibition on entering the commercial market
found in the statute, recent evidence shows that FPI has engaged in expansionist practices.
Sixty-five years of public policy should not be overturned, especially without public
debate. The United States should not be selling commercial services in competition with
law-abiding taxpaying businesses, using prison labor that is paid no more than $1.25 an
hour. FPI's expansion in the commercial market is a dramatic shift in policy, and in conflict
with the clear language of 18 U.S. C. 4122{a). We urge that no proposal to inject Federal
inmate provided services in the commercial marketplace be entertained by Congress.
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While we are empathetic to FPI's goal to employ federal inmates to reduce recidivism by
providing vocational and remedial opportunities while incarcerated, it should not be done
at the expense of law-abiding, taxpaying businesses. It is unfortunate that in today's
society we are faced with an increasing inmate population. However, we believe other
sources of work opportunities for inmates should be explored that do not infringe upon the
private sector's opportunities to compete for government contracts, threaten the general
safety of our citizens, and provide for expansion in the commercial market.

Legislative Solutions

Legislative reform addressing these concerns is way overdue and more oversight by the
FPI Board and Congress is needed now. Recent language enacted in the FY02 and FYO03
Defense Authorization bills and the FY04 Consolidated Appropriations Act provides
interim relief from FPI’s monopoly by allowing federal agencies to decide how to best
meet their procurement needs by examining existing marketplace opportunities and
purchasing products on a competitive basis. The House recently overwhelmingly passed
the Hoekstra-Frank-Collins-Maloney-Sensenbrenner-Conyers Federal Prison Industries
Competition in Contracting Act of 2003, H.R. 1829, a comprehensive reform bill that
eliminates FPI’s preferential status. Clearly, the House, Senate and the Administration are
in support of fundamental reform. FPI, reform supporters and FPI proponents alike agree
that FPI’s mandatory source status should be eliminated. S. 346 is the vehicle to make that
happen.

For many years, the Chamber has been a leader in the broad-based Competition in
Contracting Act Coalition, comprised of the business, labor and federal manager
communities that advocate comprehensive, fundamental reform of FPI. The Chamber and
the Coalition strongly support S. 346. This bipartisan legislation would impose overdue
and much-needed restraints on the unfair competitive practices of FPI that inflict damage
on law-abiding businesses and the workers they employ, while blatantly wasting taxpayer
dollars.

S. 346 provides for fundamental reform while maintaining a process in which FPI can still
sell to federal agencies but on a competitive, rather than a preferential sole-source basis.
By amending the Federal Procurement Policy Act, it requires federal agencies to use
competitive procedures for the purchase of products. S. 346 simply makes permanent the
language included in the FY02 and FY03 Defense Authorization bill and the FY04
Consolidated Appropriations bill approved by the House and Senate and signed into law by
the President. S. 346 would require FPI to be a more responsible supplier to Federal
agencies and the taxpayer, and would allow the private sector to compete fairly with FPI
for federal contracts by eliminating the requirement that government agencies purchase
products from FPI. Agency contract officers, not FPI, would determine if FPI's offered
product best meets buying agencies’ needs in terms of quality and time of delivery.

Even with reform, FPI would stifl have an enormous competitive advantage over the
private sector. FPI pays its inmates $.23-81.15 per hour and is not required to provide any
employee benefits like Social Security, unemployment compensation or insurance. In
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addition, as a Government-owned corporation, FPI is exempt from Federal and state
income taxes, gross receipts taxes, excise tax and state and local sales taxes on purchases.
FPI does not have to pay for utilities or equipment and has a special statutory line-of-credit
from the U.S. Treasury for $20 miilion at 0% interest. FPI is also exempt from standards,
inspections or fines by various Federal, state or local enforcement agencies, such as
OSHA, that regulate all private sector suppliers to the Federal Government.

S. 346 includes language that would prohibit inmates from having access to classified data,
critical infrastructure data, and personal or financial data under any Federal contracts. The
American people would be outraged to know that prisoners can given access to their credit
card numbers, the address and value and tax assessments of others homes, as well as
location information on our underground gas pipelines and other critical infrastructure that,
if in the wrong hands, threatens our security. Simply yet adequately stated, sensitive
information of this nature should not be in the hands of convicted criminals.

S. 346 also protects Federal prime contractors and subcontractors at any tier from being
forced to use products or services furnished by FPI. FPI would no longer be able to force
contractors to use FPI as a mandatory source for products or to be specified as a mandatory
source on contracts. We have seen this new, expansive authority, which was not enacted by
Congress through legislation, but claimed by FPI through interpretation, used, for example,
to force architects and engineers to include FPI products in their design specifications,
even if those products are not the most efficient, cost effective or appropriate solution.

To assure the safety of the prison guards and the inmates themselves, S. 346 would allow
the Attorney General to award a contract to Federal Prison Industries if he/she believes that
the loss of such prison work would endanger the safe and effective administration of a
prison facility. While this is a valid concern, it is important to note only a small percentage
- roughly 17% - of inmates actually work in the FPI program. The remaining able bodied
inmates are engaged in various tasks relating to the operation and maintenance of the
correctional facility. These tasks reduce the operating costs of the facility and keep
inmates occupied in daily work activities.

Many concessions have been made on behalf of FPI reform supporters over the years and
S. 346 provides additional safeguards in addition to a level playing field on which FPI and
the private sector can compete. FPI asserts that comprehensive reform will cause inmate
employment to decline, factories to be shut down, and sales to decrease. We argue that for
decades businesses have suffered from declining employment rates and decreases in sales,
and have been forced to shut down factories and production lines because of FPI’s unfair
competitive advantage and practices. Therefore, the time is now for balanced
comprehensive reform.

Conclusion

Thank you for the opportunity to appear before you today on behalf of the U.S. Chamber
of Commerce and to submit these comments on behalf of Chamber members that rely on
an efficient, fair competitive process in providing the federal government with goods and
services to maintain and grow their businesses. We appreciate the Subcommittee's
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examination of FPI's impact on the private sector at this hearing today and urge quick
consideration of S. 346 by the full committee. I'd be happy to answer any questions you
might have. Thank you.
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Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member, and members of the Subcommittee, |
appreciate the opportunity to testify before your subcommittee today to discuss
S. 346, a bill which amends the Office of Federal Procurement Policy Act to
establish a government-wide policy requiring competition in certain procurements
from Federal Prison Industries (FPI).

My name is Kurt Weiss and | serve as Senior Vice President and General
Manager for U.S. Business Interiors (USBI), a small office furniture dealership. |
am here today testifying on behalf of the Office Furniture Dealers Alliance
(OFDA) and the roughly 5,000 independent resellers of office furniture all around
the country. OFDA is the national trade association for independent dealers of
office furniture.

As an independent office furniture dealer this hearing is important because |
hope it will shed light on the unfair monopolistic practices Federal Prison
Industries has over small business.

As a small businessman | don't have a problem with open and fair competition.
What | have a problem with is the fact that FPI is not competing with anyone, but
instead guaranteed by statute all the government business it wants. For instance,
if a government agency needs to buy office furniture, it must first look to
purchase these items through FPI, regardiess of price, quality of product, or
service. If FPI can provide it, the government must buy the product from them,
even if the agency can get a better product for less money from a small business
like mine.

lts ironic that we have laws in this country that prohibit the United States from
importing products that are made by prisoners in other countries, but here at
home, our own government in many cases is solely dependent on prison labor
for its goods. | agree with those who believe prisoners should learn skills and
trades while incarcerated that they can then use outside prison walls to earn a
living, but it should not come at the expense of honest hard-working small
business men and women. And FP! should not be allowed to grow and expand
at a time when this country's economy is struggling.

The mission of FP! when it was created in 1934 was to provide inmates with real
skills that they could use once released back into society. This is nice in principle,
but in reality, FP! is not living up to that mission. What you have today is a 1930's
philosophy that doesn't fit today's FPl and its mission. If you look closely at FPI,
its mission appears to be more about making a profit than it is inmate
rehabilitation. A perfect example is in the area of office furniture. What you see
is what we like to call "drive by manufacturing” or pass-throughs. "Drive-by"
manufacturing is the practice where FP! outsources its work to a private sector
manufacturer who manufacturers the product and ships it to the buying agency
under the FP} label. This process defeats the purpose for which FPl was created.
Learning to put a screw or bolt into a chair that is already assembled does
nothing to train an inmate for stable work once released. in many other cases
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the office furniture being delivered to the buying agency has zero inmate labor
content.

“Drive-by” manufacturing, fong condemned by this industry, takes job
opportunities away from inmates and small businesses. The only beneficiaries of
this practice are those running the FP! program. FPI1 will tell you that this is not a
common practice. The fact that it happens at all should be appalling to both sides
of this issue.

Reforming FPI should be a top priority of this Congress as this country has lost
some 2.5 million manufacturing jobs and our industry alone has had to lay-off
roughly 30,000 employees. In other cases our industry has had to go to four-day
work weeks. We have had to cut pay and benefits. All this while FP! has
continued to grow. The numbers are staggering. During FY'02 FPI generated
$679 million in sales, of which, 33% or $218 million came at the expense of the
office furniture industry. Why is FPI being allowed to grow at a time when we are
struggling to provide jobs for hard working Americans?

I'm sure you will here today from opponents of S. 346, who will share with you
the hardships they say are being placed on FPI because of actually having to
compete for contracts with the Department of Defense (DoD). Its hard to feel
sorry for FPI considering when DoD released its top 100 government contractors
recently FP{ maved up from 72nd in 2002 to 69" in 2003. Its clear that what is
commonly referred to Section 819 has not had the damaging effect some had
thought.

You will also not hear from our opponents about the advantages FPI has over the
commercial sector. For instance, FPI can pay subminimum wages and | believe
the number ['ve heard is inmates are paid from $.25 - $1.50 an hour. FPI does
not have to abide by the same of rules and regulation that small businesses like
mine do. FPI for instance does not pay employee benefits. FP! does not have to
abide by OSHA rules and regulations. FPI does not have to pay medical benefits
to its workers. And, FPI can use the Treasury as its own private bank. | wish my
company could have these same opportunities -- Congress might allow us to be
classified as a candidate for mandatory source.

You might also hear today that the FPI program is critical to reducing recidivism
rates. Again, we support that idea, but what our opponents fail to highlight is that
only 16% of the prison population actually are employed through the FP!
program. This is a mere fraction of the number of inmates incarcerated. FPI
also fails to highlight the fact that they are only employing the "best" inmate
employees. It's a false statement to say that you are truly reducing recidivism
when you're cherry-picking the best inmates, regardless of whether they are
serving short sentences or serving life. How is the FPI program helping
someone who is serving life to learn a skill they will be able to use? These
individuals will never be released.
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Another fact our opponents leave out is that the remaining 84% of inmates
incarcerated in prison do work. These inmates are responsible for the general
maintenance and upkeep of the prison. Some of these jobs include cooking,
janitorial duties, and laundry services. Opponents will say these jobs don't
provide real skill training inmates will be able to use once they are released back
into their community. Well, Mr. Chairman neither is screwing a nut and bolt into a
chair.

Mr. Chairman, another argument I'm sure you will here today for keeping the
status quo is that the FPI program is critical to keeping inmates busy so that riots
won't break out. We completely agree with the need to keep inmates busy to
protect the safety of all prison guards. No one from the business-labor wants to
see harm come to those asked to guard some of this country's most violent
offenders. That is why if our opponents really read the legislation, they would
see there is a provision that allows the Attorney General to reclaim FPI's
mandatory source if the warden of the prison "determines that an award of a
contract to FPI is necessary to maintain work opportunities not otherwise
available at the penal or correctional facility that prevent circumstances that could
reasonably be expected to significantly endanger the safe and effective
administration of such facility.” We support this provision and support keeping
prison guards safe.

This subcommittee should not fear reform to this program, but rather should
embrace it. S. 346 changes the way Federal Prison Industries (FP!) is able to
operate and forces them to compete openly and fairly for contracts they are
currently guaranteed by statute. The foundation this country was built on. This
reform legislation is good for small business, inmates and the taxpayer. Aren't
these the three constituencies Congress should be concerned with? Not how
much revenue FPI can generate. S. 346 will finally force FPI to provide the "real”
skill training inmate's need, while allowing small businesses to compete for
government contracts on a level playing field. S. 346 will also allow contracting
officers to spend taxpayer dollars more wisely.

| can tell you all about the hardships FPI has presented our industry, but |
thought it was more important if you heard real life stories from constituents in
your states whom have been directly affected by FPI in some way. The stories
are real and the financial losses suffered should not be overlooked. This is lost
revenue from small businesses in this country that follow the rules and therefore
should not be penalized for doing so. (See attached stories).

Thank you for allowing me to come and share my story with you today. | would
be happy to stay and answer any questions you may have for me at this time.
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Dealer Stories

Mr. Chairman:

in October of 2002 | began working with Kevin Travell with Merriman and Assoc.
on the furnishings for the new FAA facility at DFW Centerport. They where to
move in the end of December and needed to decided on product quickly that
could be delivered before the end of the year. We got a lead-time commitment
from Knoll that they would be able to deliver the Equity product to meet their
deadline. At this time the FAA had applied for their waiver and felt sure they
would receive it due to the fact that Unicor could not meet the lead-time. After
several committee meetings and plan review sessions Tusa was awarded the
entire project. A few days later we were informed that Washington had denied
their final request for a waiver and that Unicor had committed to meeting their
move in date. The employees of the FAA and the designer were very
disappointed that they where not able {o order what they had selected. The
outcome of this project was that Unicor was not able to deliver as promised and
the FAA was not able to move into their new building until Feb. 2003. At that time
they ordered a few ancillary items from Tusa Office Solutions, Inc. that they
where not able to get from Unicor.

Christy Foster
Tusa Office
Fort Worth, TX

Dear Mr. Chairman:

My name is Patricia Holland-Branch. | am the owner, President and CEO of
HB/PZH Commercial Environments, Inc. in El Paso, Texas. My business is listed
as a Texas Historically Underutilized Business (HUB) and also registered with
Minority Development Council in Dallas/Ft. Worth. | employee 27 people and
have been in business for over 15 years.

Over the past 10 years, my business has lost significant business to Federal
Prison Industries. We are a preferred Haworth office furniture full-service dealer
in this region. We have lost systems furniture, case goods, filing and seating
projects in addition to design and installation services to FPI at Ft. Bliss, the new
FBI facility, and the newly constructed Texas State Building. Federal Prison
Industries has encouraged even local governments and universities to choose
prison products over those manufactured and sold by private industry. Our direct
losses over the past ten years can easily be measured in millions of dollars in
sales revenue.
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Our lost opportunities have forced us to reduce staff. We went from 35 to 27
employees. We are considering completely eliminating the products part of our
business, as we see more infiltration of prison products into all levels of federal,
state and community organizations. This will be a travesty, as it will lead to
further layoffs from dealerships such as ours in a city already experiencing
double-digit unemployment. It is a real crime that our nation’s tax-payers are
suffering because prison products are the preferred source and government
entities are not required to bid their projects between private industries and FPI.

| am confident that our products and services are far superior, more competitively
priced and with shorter lead times then products manufactured by prisoners.

Sincerely,
Patricia Holland-Branch

HB/PZH Commercial Environments, Inc.
El Paso, Texas

Dear Mr. Chairman:

My name is Reed Lampley the owner of Coastal Offices Systems & Supply Co. in
Chesapeake, Virginia. Over the past 10 years since the inception of my
business, | have probably lost a total of 1 million + in sales due to the restrictions
placed upon government agencies in the tidewater area to buy strictly from FPI.
The thing that bothers me about this is: Repeatedly | proved | could deliver
quicker (usually 2 to 3 days compared to 2 to 3 months) the same quality
furniture at less cost to the government than FPL.

How many prisoners do you think go into the furniture business after release
from prison compared to the small business owner struggling to make ends
meet? That is the question that should be answered.

Thank you for allowing me the opportunity address your committee today on this
very critical issue and tell you how FP!'s current practices hurt my business.

Sincerely,
Reed Lampley

Coastal Office Systems
Chesapeake, VA

Dear Mr. Chairman:
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| can recall most vividly one order we lost to UNICOR. The Social Security
Administration in Baltimore put out for bid 2000 foot rests. | took them a sample
of a new product, which exceeded their specifications and was cheaper than they
had anticipated. However, when time came to actually go through with the deal, |
was informed that while | had a better product, a better delivery date, and a lower
price, they were required by statute to buy the product from UNICOR even if it
was not the best product. | for one have stopped saliciting bids from the Federal
agencies because it's become a waste of time. Time and again we are told that
by agencies that they are required to purchase their office products from FPI.

At one time, we did a nice business with the federal government, but now we do
less than $20,000.00 a year. We also have reduced our staffing from 9
employees to 2 full time and 1 part time. Your help is critical to the survival of
small dealerships like mine.

Sincerely,
William H Shaprow

Regester Office Supply
Baitimore, MD

Dear Mr. Chairman:

My name is Leigh Hoetfelker and | am President of Fremont Office Equipment
Co. in Fremont, Nebraska. | am a small dealer employing 60 people.

Plain and simple, Federal Prison Industries has taken all of our furniture business
that we bid to the State of Nebraska offices. Until a couple years ago, dealers in
the state had the opportunity to bid on the States furniture requirements. Thatis
no longer the case. Because of the requirements to buy from FPI, we are
constantly told that agencies must buy from FPI regardiess of price, quality or
timely delivery. | don't run my business that way and often wonder why the
government chooses to run its business that way. We saw our yearly sales to
the State of approximately $100,000.00 in furniture alone disappear completely.
All this because the state is required to buy from FPI. | say this in jest, but it
seems like if | wanted to do business with the state or Federal government, 1
should become a convicted felon -- | might have a competitive advantage that
way.

Sincerely,

301 North Fairfax Street  Suite 200 Alexandria, VA 22314
P: (703) 549-9040 ext. 124  F: (703) 683-7552  E: pmiller@iopfda.org



78

Leigh Hoetfelker
Fremont Office Equipment Co.
Fremont, NE

Dear Mr. Chairman:

In the fall of 2000, The University of Northern lowa was completing the Lang Hall
building renovation. Matt Parrott and Sons holds the contract for HON/Allsteel
with the University of Northern lowa. We received an order for some storage,
lateral files, task seating, and soft seating, but were denied an order for all the
drawer pedestals. The drawer pedestals amounted to approximately $35,000.00
in sales, but because of the obligation to fulfill commitments to FPI, the University
elected to purchase the drawer pedestals from FPI. | was told, although | haven't
confirmed, the University spent a third more money to purchase and fulfill this
commitment to FPI.

I was involved in a meeting with George Pavelonis, Facilities Planner and Carol
Christopher, Assistant Facilities Planner, prior to this decision. They talked about
how they haven't done very much business with FPI, so they probably would
need to send the drawer pedestal order to them. | asked about the drawer
pedestal quality and pricing. At that point, they both conceded to the fact the
Alistee! pedestals were better quality and less money. They also said the lead-
times were a lot longer.

Sincerely,
Lori Knaack

Matt Parrott & Sons
Waterloo, IA.

Dear Mr. Chairman:

My name is Billy Carroll; | am an outside sales representative with C & C Office
Supply Co. in Biloxi Mississippi. Our company has been in business over 20
years and we employ 20 people.

During the course of our 20-year history we have done considerable business
with numerous governmental agencies and military installations. Some of them
being Naval Construction Batallion in Gulfport, Mississippi Air National Guard in
Gulfport, Keesler Air Force Base in Biloxi, Naval Station in Pascagoula, and
NASA in Stennis Space Center.
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As a result of FPI's unfair monopolistic practices, we have seen sales from these
governmental agencies go from $100,000.00 a month toc less than $5,000.00 a
month.

There are numerous horror stories we hear from our customers who deal with
UNICOR. The most recent one being that a customer had to wait 5 months to
get their furniture. When the furniture finally arrived, it wasn't even what they had
ordered. This is something that would have been averted had they been able to
use our company or another dealer.

| could go on about how we could have sold the product much cheaper, which
would have saved taxpayers money, faster delivery, which would have increased
employee productivity, and finally better service, but | won't. You get the picture.

Sincerely,
Billy Carroll

C&C Office Supply Company
Biloxi, MS

Dear Mr. Chairman:

| personally worked with the staff who had just moved into a new ward at Walter
Reed Army Medical Center. We had two meetings during which | took
measurements and went over in great detail the furniture items they needed for
the report room, reception area, patient education room, two offices and some
miscellaneous shelving. The total | quoted to Walter Reed was approximately
$13,000 and met their needs exactly. This was in April of 2000. Our delivery
would have been completed within a month.

Because Walter Reed couldn't get a UNICOR waiver (just to determine this fact
takes at least 6 weeks) the order was placed with UNICOR and took eight
months to be delivered (it just showed up last week) and much of it was not what
officials at Walter Reed even ordered. FPI tells their customers what the
customer can have rather than meeting the needs of the customer. As an
example, we had designed a workstation for the report room to accommodate
four computers. UNICOR sent an expensive, massive cherry workstation for an
executive office that had to be put in someone's office (who didn't need new
furniture) because it was unusable where it was supposed to go. UNICOR
charged an additional $1,500.00 to assemble this (and didn't have proper tools to
finish the assembly). Our price for the proper item including all set up was less
than they charged for set-up alone.

You know, it's not just the impact FPI has on our businesses, it's the waste of
everybody's tax dollars when furniture costs more and doesn't even do the job.
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Sincerely,

Diane Lake

Economy Office Products, Inc.

Fairfax, VA

(A small, woman-owned business employing approx.19, in business since 1968)

Dear Mr. Chairman:

My name is Gregory Wickizer and | own Tippecanoe Press Inc. in Shelbyville, IN
and employ 20 employees. | recently lost a $300,000.00 to $400,000.00 bid
because of a must buy in the State of Indiana.

To a business like mine, this is real money lost. | guess my question is why
should my company lose out on business just because the government has to
buy it from prisoners. | thought the philosophy in this country was that
competition is healthy and the best offer should win out. That does not appear to
be the case and it hurts companies like mine who are trying to survive.

Sincerely,
Gregory Wickizer

Tippecanoe Press Inc
Shelbyville,IN

Dear Mr. Chairman:

My name is Joe Kiefer, | work for Shaheen Office Supply in Warner Robins, GA.
Our company has lost many opportunities in the name of UNICOR, the most
recent being last year. We are a Haworth Dealer, and serve the Middle Georgia
community, Robins AFB being our largest customer.

The most visible loss to UNICOR was with the 116TH Bomb Wing at Robins
AFB. We were able to secure some business at their new facility, about
$200,000, but | know UNICOR received over $800,000 of furniture business
there. For the projects we did receive, | saved this customer 20-30% over the
UNICOR proposals, and provided them with better quality furniture.

Sincerely,
Joe Kiefer

Shaheen Office Supply
Warner Robin, GA
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Dear Mr. Chairman:

'm no longer at the company | was at (Marvel Group) when this story
happened to me, but | thought it should be shared with you.

Last summer | began working with Air Force Recruiting to provide them with
furnishing for their new recruiting offices nation-wide. | was working with the
individual offices throughout the country and received orders for $80,000 from
the Air Force Recruiting Squadron (344th) at Scott AFB. They liked my services
so much that they recommended me to the other offices with the same needs
nationwide. My furniture was less costly than FP! and had significantly better
lead times (about 2 weeks) and was of overall better quality.

| spent several weeks traveling to different sights and doing quotes only to be
stopped by a Colonel at AF Recruiting HQ in Texas. The Colonel believed that
since FPIl was a required source that there was no reason to use me even
though their budget would have allowed them to furnish far more offices with my
product than with FPI. My estimates are that this decision cost my company
$500,000 - $700,000 in sales and probably cost the Air Force several hundred
thousand dollars. | have since left government sales do to a lack of sales -
mostly contributed to denied waivers by FPI.

Sincerely,

Gary Stephens
Workspace L.L.C

Dear Mr. Chairman:

| am concerned in the way tax payer's money is being wasted. A few years ago |
had proposed over $100,000.00 in chairs to the VA Medical Center. They were
excited about the chair | was proposing on contract. The chair was less
expensive than the chair proposed by FPI. The customer also recognized that
the chair | was proposing was better in quality and had more ergonomic features,
which would assist in some of their health issues. Another comment made by
the VA was the problem with the FP! chairs breaking easily. Parts were near
impossible to get, so they would throw the FPI chair in the garbage.

In this situation FP! denied the VA waiver. Regretfully they had to buy FPI
chairs. | can not believe this happens in America.

Sincerely,

301 North Fairfax Street  Suite 200 Alexandria, VA 22314
P: (703) 549-9040 ext. 124 F: (703) 683-7552  E: pmiller@iopfda.org



82

Rick Buchholz
Christianson's Business Furniture

Dear Mr. Chairman:

| am delighted to have the opportunity to tell you about challenges that | have
encountered with the Ohio Penal Institute (OP!) and State of Ohio Agencies. |
focus on selling to State of Ohio Agencies and most are required to buy from

OPIL.

Last year | worked on a state library project. They currently had all Haworth
furniture that they had purchased over the past 13 years, so they had a few
different vintages. My proposal planned on re-using about 25% of that existing
product, but | also got special pricing from Haworth that was much deeper than
normal state contract pricing. State Purchasing required the Library to get a
waiver from OPI for which OPI rejected my proposal. Not only does my product
come with a Lifetime Warranty and is a Grade A product with a 4-week lead-time,
but my pricing came in at over $100,000 LESS than the Ohio Penal Institutes
proposal. It is very frustrating as we put a significant amount of time into this
proposal and felt that we were providing this client with the best product at the
best price.

Example 2: Rehabilitation Services in Columbus. They have all OPI chairs that
are very uncomfortable and not ergonomically designed. | brought some
Haworth chairs to their office to pass around for a 3-week trial period. My chairs
were unquestionably selected as the chair they wanted to purchase going
forward. Not only are my chairs some of the most ergonomic in the industry, but
| was saving Rehab Services almost $100 per chair. OP! rejected their request
to purchase Haworth chairs.

Ohio's Governor has put a hold on any extraneous spending at this time...and it
is indefinite as to when he will raise this request. Every year thousands of dollars
are spent on OPI's products, which do not come with any warranties and cost
generally 30% higher than the best products on the market. Our taxpayers are
paying for this.

Thanks for the chance to share just a few examples with you.
Sincerely,

Chris Kelser
King Business Interiors

301 North Fairfax Street  Suite 200  Alexandria, VA 22314
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Dear Mr. Chairman:

My name is Jeff McKenzie and | work for Landis Office Center, which has 26
employees. We have a federal prison in our area and a division called UNICOR.
When the prison was first established we sold over $60,000.00 to them in the first
year. After this, UNICOR stepped in and started supplying most items to this
facility. Even if we were called and did measurements and suggested furniture, of
course spending multiple hours doing this, we were informed that furniture would
be secured from FPI. Why should we as citizens pay at least $40,000.00 per year
to house convicted prisoners and then we allow them to produce goods that are
sold against companies that must pay taxes, pay at least minimum wage, plus all
the other red tape that comes with operating a business. It is very unfair that the
government allows this to happen, much less, entertain the argument that
Federal Prisons should be able to expand their markets. It is time to put a stop to
this before you put more small businesses out of business.

Sincerely,

Jeff McKenzie
Landis Office Center

Dear Mr. Chairman:

My name is Joseph A. Nordman Hl and | am with PS Group/Cincinnati, Inc.
Federal Prison industries has taken multiple projects from my company, PS
Group/Cincinnati, inc. and has cost us hundreds of thousands of dollars.

PS Group has worked with the Cincinnati office of ATF since 1995, supplying
product and labor to enhance the existing Haworth product. PS Group even
went to Dallas, Texas to allow the ATF to work that existing product into the
existing Cincinnati product in order to save money. After spending all of this
money, time and energy, Federal Prison Industries claimed the project — ata
premium price well above the Haworth price. As a result, all of the existing
Haworth product has had to go into storage (An additional cost not anticipated by
the local ATF office).

The total Waste:
o Existing Cincinnati station, 40 plus
+ Additional 21 stations from Dallas
s Dallas inventory to be used against new product

301 North Fairfax Street  Suite 200  Alexandria, VA 22314
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» Possible buy back of all existing, should ATF want to purchase all new

+ FPI product not compatible, so all-258 stations were new, with no credit
for buy back, at a cost significantly higher than the Haworth.

+ The Government paid to inventory and ship 21 plus stations to Cincinnati,
put those stations into storage and then scrap all 61 plus stations.

o The ATF constantly tells PS Group that they can’t get service for the
Prison Industries Product

e More product to be ordered

Sincerely,

Joseph A. Nordman i
PS8 Group/Cincinnati, Inc.

Dear Mr. Chairman:

My name is Janet Ockerhausen with Business Interiors of Texas, Inc. in Corpus
Christi, Texas.

In 1999 Naval Air Station in Kingsville, Texas contacted me for furniture in an Air
Training wing for VT-21 and VT-22. They needed a drawing and prices for
approximately 12 rooms as soon as possible. My company worked over the
weekend to get these to them, the total was $150,000.00 worth of furniture.
When UNICOR saw the amount, they refused the waiver. The end user gave my
drawings and specs to UNICOR, which they copied down for every room layout,
and even the color. So, at my own time and expense, | received nothing for this
work and UNICOR received $150,000.00 with no time involved because they had
copied my designs.

| make my sole living and income by selling to federal government agencies and
UNICOR takes this business away from me.

Sincerely,
Janet Ockerhausen

Business Interiors
Kingsville, TX

Dear Mr. Chairman:

301 North Fairfax Street  Suite 200  Alexandria, VA 22314
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We are located in the Dayton, OH area, home to Wright Patterson AFB. We are
up against UNICOR on a daily basis. Some of the more recent projects include:

Sensor's Directorate. This project is 200 workstations plus seating, files, and
private office furniture. They are required to use crescendo, even though they
have over 400 workstations of existing Haworth product in the facility. The
mockup for this project took 16 weeks to arrive, yet they are promising to meet a
June 1 shipping deadline. $1,000,000 worth of UNICOR product is proposed.

Building 20052, Area B. All seating, freestanding casegoods and workstations

are UNICOR Classic XXI, approximately 75 workstations, 15 private offices and
seating for offices/workstations/conference rooms. Approximate value $450,000.

Sincerely,

Kim Duncan
Elements IV interiors

Dear Mr. Chairman:

During the past 5 years | have had representatives from UNICOR tell my
customers that they had to turn over my proprietary designs to UNICOR, without
payment to the dealership. They have told my customers that if they do not buy
UNICOR, they will be "reported to congress" and that there is no place else o go
for government furniture. They frighten young department of defense officials
with words like "illegal" when they ask about waivers.

The UNICOR reps routinely refuse waivers on the first approach. The

answer is a standard "UNICOR has products which will meet your needs.”

No explanation. They refuse to answer waiver requests in a timely fashion. | have
had $110,000 order for the Arizona Air National Guard in Tucson literally taken
away by UNICOR. The representative demanded the designs and said that
UNICOR would fill the request. There would be no waiver and no discussion.
And she was right. Despite the fact that all of the programming phase had been
completed by my designers, at no cost to the federal government, this rep
insisted that she knew what was best for this customer. Of course, the products
arrived late, in poor condition, was much more expensive than the budgeted GSA
furniture--and the reps have not been heard from. The answer is "a 10%
discount” or a "free chair.”

In Texas, my representative worked for 4 months with a customer, completing
designs and meeting all relevant criteria. She proposed only products on GSA
contract. UNICOR unilaterally refused to waive the chairs, approximately
$50,000 worth, because their factories were not at capacity. The fact that the
UNICOR chairs do not meet the price point, that UNICOR spent no time with the

301 North Fairfax Street  Suite 200 Alexandria, VA 22314
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customers determining function, color or other requirements has no meaning.
The seating portion of the order is lost. The remaining portion would have been
lost, as well, if the customer had not spent approximately 30 days going from one
appeal process to the other attempting to get waivers. Very few customers will
take the time to do this. Of course, when the project finally arrives, it will be late
and missions will be compromised.

interestingly, my husband's father was murdered several years ago. The same
prisoner that killed this fine man is now in an Alabama prison--taking away my
livelihood. Please, please get this legislation in front of someone who cares
about small business.

Sincerely,
Ruthanne S Pitts

Simmons Contract Furnishings
Tucson, Arizona

301 North Fairfax Street  Suite 200 Alexandria, VA 22314
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Statement of Andrew S. Linder
President and Owner
POWER CONNECTOR INC

Statement before the U.S. Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs Subcommittee on
Financial Management, the Budget, and International Security

Hearing on S. 346

April 7, 2004

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee. My name is Andy Linder. I’'m the
President and owner of Power Connector, a small electronics business based on Long Island, NY.

Power Connector went into business on April 1, 1987 — 17 years ago last week.

‘When we first put the key in the door, it was just a two-man company.

Just two people and a lot of hope.

In 17 years, we've grown a lot. Now there are 76 employees, not just one.

We’ve built what | think is a solid reputation producing high-quality, reliable electronic
connectors and cable hardware for the United States military. Mostly, we supply components to the
Department of Defense, Federal Prison Industries and to our nation’s primary defense contractors.

Our products are relied on every day by American forces all over the globe, including our
men and women in Afghanistan and Iraq. My employees and I are still especially proud that some
of the electronic components we made went into the transmitter that helped save the life of Air
Force Captain Scott O’Grady after his plane was shot down in Bosnia in the summer of 1995.

The story of Power Connector is very much the story of Federal Prison Industries.

1t’s a story that’s typical of thousands of other private sector small businesses in every State,

who’ve been helped by Federal Prison Industries over its nearly 70 years of existence.
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It’s a story that’ll come as a surprise to those who believe Federal Prison Industries poses
some kind of “threat” to the private sector.

And it’s a story that needs to be told as you hold this hearing on S. 346, legislation that
believe would suffocate Federal Prison Industries, and the vitally important work it does.

That’s because Federal Prison Industries isn’t just about inmates. It’s about thousands of
small businesses, just like mine -- many of them female- or minority-owned. Those thousands of
small businesses, my own included, have contracts with Federal Prison Industries — contracts worth
more than half a billion dollars in gross revenues in 2002 alone.

We've capitalized and hired employees on the strength of those contracts. Our employees
and their families count on those contracts. In fact, for every dollar purchased by Federal Prison
Industries, 74 cents goes directly back to small businesses just like mine. We're the ones who
supply the raw materials, the component parts and the services that make possible FPI's work with
inrr;ates.

Each of us — each of our businesses, our employees, our suppliers — are directly in the path
of efforts by some in this Congress to turn back 70 years of success with Federal Prison Industries
and force it, instead, into an impossible competition with the private sector.

Senators, Power Connector would never be in business today without Federal Prison
Industries.

That’s because it’s awfully hard for any company — much less a two-man company -- to
even submit bids to the federal government, much less to deliver a product up to specs.

But Federal Prison Industries isn’t like much of the federal government: they recognize the
gains to be made when dealing with small businesses like ours, and they make doing so a priority.

They broke down their Army contracts and asked small businesses — ours included —to bid on
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proto-types. They developed a unique partnership with smail busifless, whereby they bore high
costs for testing and for research and development. They mandated small business participation in
the competitive bidding process. And they acquired the components for the finished cable
assemblies which allowed companies like mine to participate.

By taking on the financial burden for the testing of proto-types, Federal Prison Industries
eliminated the single biggest financial barrier that stands in the way of small companies like ours.
That expense is the major reason, in my mind, why other government contracts of this type seldom
are awarded to small companies like mine, and why, instead, they wind up going to big companies
with more capital and human resources.

As aresult of FPI's efforts to work with the small business community our products were
approved. FPIprovided the intensive labor required, we provided the component parts. We had to
bid competitively on these contracts, and I am proud to say my company won the bids for the
component parts.

Unlike other federal agencies, Federal Prison Industries gave us the one thing we ever asked
for, then or ever since -- a chance.

They were hard taskmasters when it came to quality, but we delivered — on time and under
budget.

We’ve kept on delivering to Federal Prison Industries, too -- for 17 years now, products now
worth $14 million a year.

Federal Prison Industries doesn’t concern itself with how big you are, but with whether you
can deliver on time and up to specs. If we could meet military standards and perform, being a

simall, start-up business was not a liability.
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That’s part of FPT's mission — to partner with small businesses to help us get the kinds of
contracts for which we could otherwise never compete.

During Power Connectors first few years, we had no customers other than Federal Prison
Industries. Every dollar of our business, every individual employee, every dime of taxes we paid,
was directly the result of Federal Prison Industries. Our company would never have survived
without them.

Even today, 19 out of our 76 employees — roughly one-quarter of our workers, owe their
jobs to Federal Prison Industries. That’s also a testament to FPI’s efforts to reach out to small
businesses.

Power Connector today has more than 38 employees who work every day fulfilling
contracts with other government agencies and military defense contractors — contracts that don’t
mvolve FPL. None of those contracts — not one — would have happened had we not been able to
build a credible performance track record with FPL

By giving us the opportunity to prove ourselves at a time when most agencies or defense
contractors wouldn’t have given us a second look, FPI gave us the chance we were looking for 17
years ago.

And Power Connector isn’t the only company involved. In addition to our own success, the
subcontracts we have outsourced over the past 17 years to over 45 other small businesses has
created jobs for 147 full time employees outside our doors.

It’s my firm belief, moreover, that only the electronics division of Federal Prison Industries
has the capability of satisfactorily supplying the government’s cable, harness and mechanical
assembly requirements during times of war or extended periods of military conflict. Federal Prison

Industries has the experienced manual labor and the supervision necessary to perform this work.
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During the period from the mid nineties up to 9/11/2001, there was a steady decline in the number
of private military contractors who could perform this type of work as the defense budget for
military products was reduced. These assemblies are used in the military’s tactical communications
systems. The sheer volume and scope of the military’s needs for these products would overwhelm
the capacity of any domestic private business. The fact is that in many instances, Federal Prison
Industries routinely has in place long-term requirement contracts with qualified defense product
manufacturers, most of whom are small businesses. That's why Federal Prison Industries can
obtain materials so quickly and efficiently. The proven track record of these premier Federal Prison
Industries electronics facilities to deliver quality product, competitively priced, under surge
requirement conditions, with increased volume to their military customers, clearly proves how
critical Federal Prison Industries is to our nation’s defense preparedness and strength levels. The
previous record of Federal Prison Industries in Operation Desert Storm and its current outstanding
performance during the Afghanistan and Iragi conflicts manifests the obvious fact that our nation’s
defense capability cannot and must not be significantly compromised by impairing the work of
Federal Prison Industries.

But Federal Prison Industries isn’t just about creating private sector jobs.

One day in June, 2001, I received a letter from a Federal inmate at Fairton, New Jersey. He
told me he was to be released a month later after having spent the last 18 years of his life in state
and federal custody. He attached his resume, and asked me for a job.

Two days after Dino Ricciardone was released from prison, we had him up to our factory,
where he was interviewed by me and three of my managers. It was a tough interview — no tougher

than we submit to any other employee, but just as tough, that’s for sure.
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Dino made the cut. He started working for me the next Monday, and he’s been one of my
most relied-upon workers ever since. He’s never missed a day of work, and he’s never been late.
He integrated himself seamlessly into our organization and he’s performed beyond all expectations.

If Dino could testify before you today, he’d tell you what he’s told me many, many times:
that everything he’s been able to do since his release, every answer he gave that day during his
interview, and every minute of good work as a productive employee that’s followed, is due to the
training he received in Federal Prison Industries.

The day he wrote me that letter, Dino already had 15 years of training — 15 years of working
his way up from soldering to Lead Clerk for the Factory Manager. For the first time in his life, he’d
learned what responsibility means: what it’s like to show up, on time, and put in a full-day’s work.
He’d learned how to work with others. How 1o take pride in his work.

But more than that, he’d learned how to read blueprints and job specs. He’d learned how to
estimate job costs and time requirements. And now, he’s learned how to work with vendors and
customers.

Today, this man who spent 18 years behind bars supervises 3 other employees in one of the
most critical areas of our business.

He’ll tell you what turned his life around: the day he found religion, and the day he found
Federal Prison Industries.

Last year, I was the best man at his wedding. I'm proud to call him my friend, and 'm even
prouder to introduce him to the Senate — gentlemen, please welcome my Product Manager,
Demetrio Riceciardone — “Dino.”

Mr. Chairman, Members of the Subcommittee, neither I nor Dino would be here if it weren’t

for Federal Prison Industries.
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But there are thousands of others, who couldn’t be here today: business owners like me,
employees like Dino here, and our contractors and suppliers. Countless thousands of inmates who,
over 70 years, have received job skills training because of Federal Prison Industries. Thousands,
too, of corrections officers whose lives have been made easier because Federal Prison Industries has
been so helpful in keeping the institutions safe. And thousands more, who likely would have been
victims of crime were it not for FPI's 70-year track record in fighting crime.

I respectfully request that you very carefully consider any further attempts to curtail
or diminish the status of Federal Prison Industries through legislation such as S. 346. I strongly
oppose this legislation, as it would hurt small business, it would cost jobs, it would diminish the
opportunities for former inmates like Dino here, it would jeopardize the safety of our penal
institutions and, in my opinion, it would risk our nation’s military preparedness.

Thank you for your time and consideration.

Andrew S. Linder, President
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Mr. Chairman, Senator Akaka and Members of the Subcommittee. My name is
Philip W. Glover, and | am the elected President of the Council of Prison Locals.
The Council represents over 26,000 employees in the federal Bureau of Prisons
(BOP) system nationwide. We have 100 local unions that represent correctional
officers, case workers, food service foremen, Federal Prison Industries (FPI)
employees, and various others.

I would like to thank you for holding this oversight hearing on S. 346, a bill that
would establish a government-wide policy requiring competition in federal agency
procurements from FPL. It is an important topic for the safety and security of
federal prisons. This proposed legislation would have real consequences for the
men and women who work in federal prisons across the country.

The focus of today's hearing is on the permanent elimination of the FPI
mandatory source preference for the entire federal government. This sounds
pretty simple and not too controversial. However, this change, if enacted, would
have a devastating impact on the federal prison system.

Before | discuss this change and its impact, | would like to discuss the FPI
program and its benefits. | also would like to point out some misinformation that
always seems to come out when Congress is dealing with this issue.

FP] was created in the 1930s during the Great Depression. Congress and the
President decided to create such a prison industries program to help prison
wardens and correctional officers manage inmates and to create some positive
rehabilitation inside the federal prison system.

Through the years, as the prison inmate population rose, so did the FPI program.
In the 1990s, federal prison inmate populations exploded because of the
enactment of minimum mandatory sentencing, elimination of parole, and the “war
on drugs.” The FPI program expanded with it, causing certain private industry
groups to become increasingly upset. Unfortunately, during the heated debates
over FPI, the facts somehow get left out.

FPI receives a half of one percent of the entire federal procurement dollar. FPI's
office furniture sales, which seem to drive most of the debate on this issue,
totaled $144,330,467 in 2003 — which was 1.7% of the total U.S. domestic
furniture market. A year earlier in 2002, FPI furniture sales totaled $214,287,013
or 2.4% of the total domestic furniture market. This decrease in furniture sales
between 2002 and 2003 was due to Section 811 and Section 819 of the National
Defense Authorization Acts of 2002 and 2003, respectively. As a result of these
declining sales, we have had to close or reorganize 18 factories, idle 2,000
inmates, and eliminate 100 law enforcement FPI positions.
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While we understand that citizens in the United States are experiencing
uncertainty in the job market, our concern is the safety of federal prisons and the
communities that we work in. Our job as correctional professionals is to keep the
public safe from convicted felons, to run prisons in a humane way, and to try to
give inmates a chance to become productive citizens.

FP! has been one of the best programs for all of these purposes, and the
proposed legislation being discussed today will have a significant impact on it. |
have added to my written testimony three memoranda from union leaders at
three different federal prisons in Memphis, TN; Talladega, AL; and Bastrop, TX.
All three prisons have experienced disruptions at one time or another. The
memos | have provided state clearly that FPI inmates not only stayed out of the
disruptions, they also actually helped to normalize the prisons once the
disturbances were over. This is our key argument against any legislation that
would eliminate the FP1 program. The inmates who work in it are less prone to
get into trouble and cause disruption at the facility.

In the bigger picture, many people have discussed the issue of “inmate jobs vs.
private citizen jobs.” This does not have to be perceived as a problem. Our union
requested information from the BOP under our negotiated contract to examine
the issue. This information demonstrates that FP| has many contracts with
private companies, mainly small- and minority-owned businesses. We buy raw
materials from textile companies in North Carolina. And the Teamsters would
have less routes in small towns if our FPI factories weren't there because we
have contracts with UPS and Roadway Express.

| have attached a complete FPI state-by-state contracting list to my written
testimony. in Pennsylvania, for instance, we send $77,987,649 back into local
communities through buying materials for production, shipping and related items.
in New Jersey, we have contracts with private companies that total $19,536,436.
In Michigan, we have contracts totaling $56,107,581. Mr. Chairman, in your state
of Hlinois, we have contracts with private businesses that are worth $33,226,516.
These numbers all show that we are helping the economies in many states. We
are not draining those states. This means that should the Senate approve S. 346,
many of the private businesses we have contracts with will be hurt.

My overall concern with the proposed legislation is the lack of other job
opportunities that it proposes. in addition, we are concerned that there is no
phase-out of the mandatory source preference. The reason mandatory source
has been effective is that it keeps work going to the inmates. Without that work,
the inmates will become idle. As inmates become idle, they become bored and
depressed — both of which increases the chance of inmate violence. That is why
we must ask the Subcommittee to address the inmate job opportunity situation.
We know that this proposed legislation — as did the DoD changes — will cause
inmate idleness and eventually lead to more violence.
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We believe if the Subcommittee adopts this proposed legisiation without
providing other types of inmate work opportunities —~ such as the repatriation of
goods production and service work from overseas — that we will find ourselves in
a very difficult situation. Section 1 of the bill eliminates mandatory source while
Section 3 eliminates the service work we currently perform so even more FPI
factories will close as a result.

We know that one of the S. 346's sections authorizes the Attorney General to
exempt a federal agency from competition requirements and maintain FP! work
opportunities prevent “circumstances” that could be expected to “significantly
endanger” the safe administration of a federal prison. However, we believe this
section will not be used because no prison wardens will want to state that they
cannot run their prison safely.

Something we think the Subcommittee needs to be aware of is the actions taken
by the FPI Board of Directors. in the last two years, they have modified many
issues in FPIL. The Board of Directors have passed resolutions to grant all
waivers so federal agencies do not have to be locked into FPI. They have passed
a 20% rule on mandatory source items where FPI must stay under 20% in the
federal market. Additionally, they have passed other resolutions which have deait
with many of the causes of the furor over the FPI program.

Mr. Chairman, | again want to thank you for holding this hearing. For the reasons
| have stated, we are opposed to this legislation as written and believe a more
comprehensive bill must be drafted. Our health and safety, we believe, depends
onit.

1 would be happy to answer any questions the Subcommittee may have for me.
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1* VP Local 3731 (FCI Memphis)
Subject: 1993 Riot st FCI Mamphis
To: Phil Glower, President CPL 33

The Riot ar FCT Memphis in October of 1995 caused extensive damage.

The main instigators or agitators were inmates from Facilities and Food
Servica. They sttempted to enlist the support of inmates from arcond the
compowmnd with somewhat limited success.

At ono point they spprosched the main entrance of Unicor and demanded that
we open the doors and let all the inmates out. The iumsates in Usicor at the time
were happy to stey put sixd not participate. We informed the radical growp of
inmates at the doar that we were 20t going 1 open Unioor and that the inmates
inside did not want to participate. Afler some vexy intense exchanges the groop
Jeft the front eatrance of Unicor.

Later that aficamoon, the same radical group became violent and began
destroying government property. They alyo sttacked 19 in front of one of the
housing units, Momens after attacking us they went to the rear of Utdoor and
begen breaking open the “fire escape” door. The inmates on the inside of Unicor
helped fight them off snd yelled they did not want 10 purticipete or destroy Unicor.
As g remult, the mdical group abendoned the ides of destroying Unicor. They
tomed their siftention o other arcas of the institntion and continned their raupage.

The inmates employed by Unicor had jobs impartant enough o them that
ﬂmmnma‘zodw. Jobs d

That particuler day in 1995 was vety, very long and trying. Tt took a large toll
o0 a lot of people not to mention the physical damage to the facility (Approx. 5
million dollas). The “program” of Unicor was instrumenta! in preventing more
extensive damage.
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March 30, 2004

Phil Glover, CPL 33, President
720 Pxkview Drive
Johastown, PA 15905

Dour Phil,

1 forward this fetter in an efftet to shed light on the narure of inmate(s) assigned to Unicor
factories within our prisos.

In October of 1995 there was & 1iot here at FCI Talindega, it was g very intense tiov and one I
will not soon forget. Inmates were going to and from work areas, destroying as much property as
possible. What I want t0 stress to you is, unicor inmates were inatromental in discouraging cvents
of the riot, Additionally, unicor inmates discouraged others from participsting in disruptive
beliavior and encouraged the restoration of order and control.

In particular, ¥ can speak of an example pertaining to Unicor inmate Wilson #02756-017, This
inmate pixysd a significant role during the early stages of tha aftermath from the riot of 1995 &t
F.CL Teliadege, Alabams, This inenate along with othars resisted the peer prassure from
distuprive jumates and began to side staff in restoring the iostitution following the destructive
tiorous bebavior days carfier. These acts by inmate Wilson were important enough for the former
Warden (J. L. Biviey ) to write a lotter of apprecistion, I have attached that letter for your review.

Unicor inmates are attempling to lsum the way of holding outo a job and work like the aversge
lnuhhgahm Unicar provides such a opportursty to leam by providing meaningfi,

B T

FQ 'l‘dlldqa
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UNITED STATES GOVERNMANT
NEMORANDUNX. -

PEDERAY CORRNCTIONAL
INSTITOTION

TALLADEGA, ATABAMA 35160

{ation
otis Reg. No. 02756~017

All concarned

2 would like to take this mormny TO exypross ny sincers
thanks for your participation i{n the immate work eul:e following
2: ml?’:b?'e,e' that took place at FCI Talladsga, Alabama on

Tas Glsan-up task proved to be meleam ‘undertaking and would
have hean an even greater burden had it not bean for the ipmate
work cadre, You volunteersd to assist with tha alean-up Mhich
included picking up and resoving debris Dy the ton. In doing-so,
you resisted peer pressure froz other inmates who

vthers not to assist in ths rebuilding process. Your will

to assist steff in returning the institution to a semdblamce of
it'a formsr eelf is a credit to you.

Onee again, I would like to extend my appreciation for a job well
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AFGE LOCAL 3828
“EQUALITY IS THE GOAL”
FIC3, Bramog. Toum 18660

Date: April 1, 2004

Saply to g

Avn ol 1. Orfshy, Pevidert, AFGE Local 3828
Sabject: Oisturbance

Ta: Phil Glover

On September 1, 2003 there was a disturbance in Unit two of F.C 1. Bastrop. A total of twenty eight inmates
were locked ap. Thirteen inmates were released back to the compound. Fifteen inmates were given Disciplinary
actions. Out of the fificen inmates two were UNICOR inmates. Unit two houses 335 inmates with approximately
80 inmates working in UNICOR. This adds up to about 25% of the unit.

1 had one immate assigned 1o my detail that was iitially locked up, but was released. There were several memos
stating that he was trying to break the disturbance up and got caught in the lock ups. He was not disciplined.
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I

108TH CONGRESS
1ST SESSION S. 346

To amend the Office of Federal Procurement Policy Act to establish a
governmentwide policy requiring competition in ecertain executive agency
procurements, and for other purposes.

IN THE SENATE OF THE UNITED STATES

FEBRUARY 11, 2003

Mr. LEVIN (for himself and Mr. THOMAS) introduced the following bill; which
was read twice and referred to the Committee on Governmental Affairs

A BILL

To amend the Office of Federal Procurement Policy Act
to establish a governmentwide policy requiring competi-
tion in certain executive agency procurements, and for
other purposes.

1 Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-
tives of the United States of America in Congress assembled,
SECTION 1. GOVERNMENTWIDE PROCUREMENT POLICY

RELATING TO PURCHASES FROM FEDERAL

PRISON INDUSTRIES.

(a) REQUIREMENTS.—The Office of Federal Procure-

ment Poliey Act (41 U.S.C. 403 et seq.) is amended by

o o~y W R W

adding at the end the following new section:
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2
“SEC. 40. GOVERNMENTWIDE PROCUREMENT POLICY RE-
LATING TO PURCHASES FROM FEDERAL
PRISON INDUSTRIES. |
“(a) COMPETITION REQUIRED.—In the procurement
of any product that is authorized to be offered for sale
by Federal Prison Industries and is listed in the catalog
published and maintained by Federal Prison Industries
under section 4124(b) of title 18, United States Code, the
head of an executive agency shall, except as provided in
subsection (d)—

“(1) use competitive procedures for entering
into a contract for the procurement of such product,
in accordance with the requirements applicable to
such executive agency under sectious 2304 and 2305
of title 10, United States Code, or sections 303
through 303C of the Federal Property and Adminis-
trative Services Act of 1949 (41 U.S.C. 253 through
253¢); or

“(2) make an individual purchase under a mul-
tiple award contract in accordance with competition
requirements applicable to such purchases.

“(b) Orrers Froym FEDERAL Prisox INpus-
TRIES.—I11 conducting a procurement pursuaunt to sub-

section (a), the head of an executive ageney shall—

+S 346 IS
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3
1 “(1) notify Federal Prison Industries of the
procurement at the same time and in the same man-
ner as other potential offerors are notified; and
“(2) consider a timely offer from Federal Pris-

ou Industries for award in the same manuer as

Industries is a contractor under an applicable mul-
tiple award coutract).

2

3

4

5

6 other offers (regardless of whether Federal Prison
7

8

9 “(e) IMPLEMENTATION BY AGENCIES.—The head of
0

10 each executive agency shall ensure that—

11 “(1) the executive agencyv does not purchase a
12 Federal Prison Industries product or service uunless
13 a contracting officer of the executive agency deter-
14 mines that the product or service is comparable to
15 products or services available from the private sector
16 that best meet the executive agency’s needs in terms
17 of price, quality, and time of delivery; and

18 “(2) Federal Prison Industries performs its
19 contractual obligations 1o the executive agency to the
20 same extent as any other contractor for the execu-
2] tive agency.

22 “(dy ExXCErTION.~—(1) The head of an executive

23 agency may use procedures other than competitive proce-
24 dures to enter iuto a contract with Federal Prison Indus-

25 tries only under the following circumstances:

*S 346 IS
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“{A) The Attornev General personally deter-
mines in accordance with paragraph (2), within 30
days after Federal Prison Industries has been in-
formed by the head of that executive agencey of an
opportunity for award of a contract for a product,
that—

“(i) Federal Prison Industries caunot rea-
sonably expect fair eonsideration in the selec-
tion of an offeror for award of the coutraet on
a competitive basis; and

(i) the award of the coutract to Federal
Prison Industries for performance at a penal or
correctional facility is necessary to maintain
work opportunities not otherwise available at
the penal or correctional facility that prevent
circumstances that could reasonably be expected
to significantly endanger the safe and effective
admiustration of such faecility.

“(B) The product is available only from Federal
Prison Industries and the contract may be awarded
under the authority of section 2304(¢){1} of title 10.
United States Code, or section 303(c}(1) of the Fed-
eral Property and Administrative Services Act of
1949 (41 T.S.C. 253(e)(1)), as may be applicable,

pursuant to the justification and approval require-
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1 ments relating to noncompetitive procurements spee-
2 ified by law and the Federal Acquisition Regulation.
3 “(C) The head of the executive agency deter-
4 mines that the produet that would otherwise be fur-
5 nished is to be produced, in whole or in significant
6 part, by prison labor outside the United States..
7 “(2)(A) A determination made by the Attornev Gen-
8 eral regarding a contract pursuant to paragraph (1)(A)
9 shall be—
10 “(1) supported by specific findings by the war-
11 den of the penal or correctional institution at swhich
12 a Federal Prison Industries workshop is scheduled
13 to perform the coutract;
14 “(i1) supported by specifie findings by Federal
15 Prison Industries regarding the reasons that it does
16 noe expect to be selected for award of the contract
17 on a eompetitive basis; and
18 “(iii) made and reported in the same manner as
19 a determination made pursuant to section 303(¢)}(7)
20 of the Federal Property and Administrative Services
21 Act of 1949 (41 U.S.C. 253(e}(7)).
22 “(B) The Attorney General may not delegate to any

23 other official authority to make a determination that is
24 required under paragraph (1){A) to be made personally

25 by the Attorney General.
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“(e) PERFORMANCE AS A SUBCONTRACTOR—(1) A
contractor or potential contractor under a contract en-
tered into by the head of an executive ageucy may not
be required to use Federal Prison Industries as a subeon-
tractor or supplier of produects or provider of services for
the performance of the contract by any meauns, imcluding
meaus such as—

“(A) a provision in a solicitation of offers that
requires a contractor to offer to use or speeify prod-
ucts or services of Federal Prison Industries in the
performance of the contract;

“(B) a contract clause that requires the con-
tractor to use or specify produets or services (or
classes of products or services) offered by Federal
Prison Industries in the performance of the contract;
or

“(C) any contract modification that requires the
use of products or services of Federal Prison Indus-
tries in the performance of the contract.

“(2) A contractor using Federal Prison Industries as
a subcontractor or supplier in furnishing a commereial
product pursuant to a contract of an executive agency
shall implement appropriate management procedures to
prevent an introduction of an inmate-produced product

into the commercial market.
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“(3) In this subsection, the term ‘contractor’, with
respect to a contract, mncludes a subcontractor at any tier
under the eontract.

“(f) PROTECTION OF CLASSIFIED AND SENSITIVE
INFORMATION.—The head of an executive ageney may not
enter into any contract with Federal Prison Industries
under which an inmate worker would have access to—

“(1) any data that is classified or will become
classified after being merged with other data;

“(2) any geographic data regarding the location
of—

“(A) surface or subsurface infrastructure
providing communications or water or electrical
power distribution;

“(B) pipelines for the distribution of nat-
ural gas, bulk petroleum products, or other
commodities; or

“(C) other utilities; or
“(3) any personal or finaneial information

about any individual private citizen, including infor-

mation relating to such person’s real property how-

ever deseribed, without the prior consent of the mdi-

vidual.”.
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(b) CLERICAL AMENDMENT.—The table of contents
in section 1(b) of such Act is amended by adding at the

end the following new item:

“See. 40. Governmentwide procurenient policy relating to purchases from Fed-
eral Prison Industries.”.

SEC. 2. CONFORMING AMENDMENTS.

(a) REPEAL OF INCONSISTENT REQUIREMENTS AP-

PLICABLE- TO DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE.—(1) Section
2410n of title 10, United States Code, is repealed.

(2) The table of sections at the beginning of chapter
141 of such title is amended by striking the item relating
to section 2410n.

{b) REPEAL OF INCONSISTENT REQUIREMENTS AP-
PLICABLE TO OTHER AGENCIES.—Section 4124 of title
18, United States Code, is amended—

(1) by striking subsections (a) and (b) and re-
designating subsections (e¢) and (d) as subseetions

(a) and (b), respectivelv; and

{2) in subsection (a), as redesignated by para-
graph (1), by striking “Federal department, agency,
and institution subject to the requirements of sub-
section (4)”7 and inserting “Federal department and

agency’ .

{¢) OTHER Laws.—(1) Sectionn 3 of the Javits-Wag-

ner-O’Day Act (41 U.S.C. 48) is amended by striking

*S 346 IS
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“which, under section 4124 of such title, is required” and
inserting “which is required by law”’.

(2) Section 31(b)(4) of the Small Business Act (15
U.S.C. 657a(b)(4)) is amended by striking “a different
source under section 4124 or 4125 of title 18, TUnited
States Code, or the Javits-Wagner-O’Day Act (41 U.S.C.
46 et seq.)” and inserting “a different source under the
Javits-Wagner-O'Day Act (41 U.S.C. 46 et seq.) or Fed-
eral Prison Industries under sectionr 40(d) of the Office
of Federal Procurement Policy Act or section 4125 of title
18, United States Code”.

SEC. 3. UNLAWFUL TRANSPORTATION OR IMPORTATION OF
PRODUCTS, SERVICES, OR MINERALS RE-
SULTING FROM CONVICT LABOR.

Section 1761 of title 18, United States Code, is
amended—

(1) i subsection (a), by inserting after “‘any
goods, wares, or merchandise manufactured, pro-
duced, or mined, wholly or in part by convicts or
prisoners,” the following: “or sells i interstate com-
merce any services furnished whollv or 1 part by
convicts or prisouners,”; and

(2) 1 subsection (¢), by inserting . or services
furnished,” after “or mined” in the matter pre-

ceding paragraph (1).
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1 SEC. 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.

2 The amendments made by this Aect shall take effect

3 180 days after the date of the enactment of this Aet.
O
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Statement
of
Pete Hoekstra
United States Representative, Second District of Michigan

Before
Subcommittee on Financial Management,
the Budget, and International Security
Committee on Governmental Affairs
United States Senate

Legislative Hearing on S. 346, a Bill to Amend the Office of Federal
Procurement Policy Act to Establish a Government-wide Policy
Requiring Competition in Certain Procurements
from Federal Prison Industries

April 7, 2004

Chairman Fitzgerald, | thank you for scheduling today’s legislative hearing on S.
346, a bipartisan bill sponsored by the senior Senator from Michigan (Mr. Levin), with
Senator Thomas of Wyoming, the Senate’s leading opponent of unfair Government
competition with the private sector, as the principal cosponsor.

Mr. Chairman, Senator Akaka, and Members of the Subcommittee, T would
request that my statement be made a part of the record of today’s hearing.

Federal Prison Industries, Inc. (FPI) continues to be one of the worst examples of
unfair Government competition with the private sector. Through its status as a
mandatory source of supply, FPI is able to deprive non-inmate workers, and the firms
that employ them, from even being able to bid on more than a half a billion dollars in
Federal business opportunities, funded with their tax dollars. Law-abiding private
sector workers are deprived of being able to compete for job opportunities to guarantee
work for Federal inmates.

FPI's federal agency “customers” are also victims under the system authorized
by FPI's Depression-era authorizing statute. FPI, rather than the buying agency, has
the power to determine whether FPI’s offered product and delivery schedule best meets
the mission needs of the buying agency. FPI, rather than the buying agency,
determines the reasonableness of the price that the buying agency will have to pay to
FPL. Under this archaic system, a buying agency must actually obtain FPU's permission,
a so-called waiver, to be able to get the maximum value for the taxpayer dollars being
expended. Whether to grant a waiver is FPI's sole decision.
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FPI’s authorizing statute permits FPI to bypass the competitive contracting
processes that underpin the Federal procurement process. The statutory basis for the
system is the landmark Competition in Contracting Act of 1984, which originated in this
Committee under the sponsorship of Senator Levin and the former Senator from Maine,
Senator Bill Cohen.

S. 346 empowers contracting officers of the various Federal agencies to make
independent business judgements regarding the FPI-offered product, proposed delivery
schedule, and proposed pricing. It prudently empowers them to compare FPI’s
offerings with the offerings of private sector vendors. If the buying agency determines
that FPI’s offered product, proposed delivery schedule, and proposed pricing best meet
the buying agency’s needs, then the purchase is made from FPI pursuant to FPI’s
statutory preference. If FPI's offerings are determined by the buying agency not to
meet the standard, then the procurement is conducted on a competitive basis. S. 346
requires the buying agency to solicit an offer from FPI and evaluate any offer submitted
by FPI against the same standards used to evaluate offers from private sectors vendors.

The use of competitive procurement techniques to obtain goods and services,
rather than relying on non-competitive contract awards, have been consistently shown
to result in substantial savings in acquisition costs, Such savings have been estimated
at between 10 and 30 percent. This standard was first established through the extensive
work done by the General Accounting Office (GAQO) during the mid-1980s in response
to the cases of egregious spare parts overpricing confronted by the Department of
Defense (DOD). The benefits of competitive acquisition techniques have been
consistently validated through subsequent work by GAO and by the various
Inspectors General (IG) of the large buying agencies, most notably the DOD 1G.

With FPI’s annual “sales” approaching $700 million, such projected savings in
acquisition costs cannot simply be ignored. Use of competitive procedures have also
been shown to result in very valuable, but less easily quantified, improvements in the
quality of products furnished and the speed of their delivery.

As you consider S. 346, keep in mind that to the extent that FPI fails to provide to
a buying Federal agency the product that best meets the buying agency’s needs, timely
delivered, at something approximating a fair market price, then the buying agency is
unwillingly subsidizing FPUs operations. The non-competitive award of contracts to
FPI pursuant to its mandatory source status merely enables FPI to expropriate to its use
a portion of the funds specifically appropriated by the Congress for the use of the
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buying Federal agency to perform its mission on behalf of the American people.
Without being subject to competition, the assertion that FPI is “self-supporting” is
simply a baseless slogan. FPI does not need to receive its own appropriations because
its statutorily-based mandatory source status authorizes FPI to take money freely from
its captive Federal agency “customers.”

Keep these facts in mind when you hear complaints about the “sales” FPI has
recently “lost, ” due to recent limitations on the abusive use of its mandatory source
status. What FPI is actually losing is the ability to wantonly subsidize its operations
from funds appropriated to its captive Federal agency “customers.

FPI's current mandatory source status is little more than a license to steal. Steal
money from its captive Federal agency “customers” and steal the work opportunities
provided by federal contracts from non-inmate workers and the firms that employ them,

S. 346 is based on existing law. It is based on Section 2410n of Title 10, United
States Code, which was added to the statutes that guide the DOD procurement process
by Section 811 of Public Law 107-107, the NATIONAL DEFENSE AUTHORIZATION ACT
FOR FiscaL YEAR 2002. The provision that became Section 811 was sponsored by
Senator Levin, then Chairman of the Senate Armed Services Committee, and supported
by Senator John Warner, then the Commiittee’s Ranking Republican Member. Efforts to
strike the provision were vigorously opposed by Senator Levin, Senator Warner, and
Senator Thomas. The effort to delete it was soundly defeated on a rollcall vote of 74 to
24 (Rollcall Vote No. 287, 107th Cong.). Subsequently, the then Director of the Office of
Management and Budget, Mitch Daniels, wrote: “The Administration supports the
version of Section [811] as passed by the Senate.” The Administration “believes that
all Federal agencies should have the flexibility through competition to purchase quality
goods and services at fair and reasonable prices with the expectation of timely
performance.” {Letter to Hon. Mac Collins; October 24, 2001).

S. 346 does just that. The bill gives all Federal agencies the ability to get
maximum value for the taxpayer dollars being expended in their dealings with FPIL.

Earlier this year, the President signed the CONSOLIDATED APPROPRIATIONS ACT,
2004, P.L. 108-199. It contains a provision which extends to the contracting officers of
the various Civilian agencies during Fiscal Year 2004 the authorities available to DOD
contracting officers pursuant to Section 2410n. The Administration did not raise any
objections to this proviston.
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Specifically, Section 637 of Division F (Transportation, Treasury, and
Independent Agencies Appropriations, 2004) of P.L. 108-99 prohibits the expenditure of
funds appropriated “by this or any other Act for fiscal year 2004 for the purchase of a
product or service offered by FPI, unless the agency making such purchase determines
that the FPI-offered product or service represents the best value, pursuant provisions
of the Government-wide Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR) that impose the
procedures, standards, and limitations of Section 2410n. The FAR coverage was
published in the FEDERAL REGISTER on March 26, 2004 (69 Fed. Reg. 16148).

In many ways, S. 346 simply makes permanent the prudent procurement
procedures that are currently in place on a Government-wide basis.

I expect that today’s witnesses opposed to S. 346 will raise a number of
arguments, which we in the House have heard many times before. Let me discuss a few
of them with you.

Some of today’s witnesses will certainly cite lost sales and layoffs which FPI has
suffered in FY 2003 due to Section 2410n. Putting those assertions in context seems
appropriate.

Although FPI’s Annual Report to the Congress has not been submitted for FY
2003, the report of FPD’s auditors, Pricewaterhouse Coopers, LLP, submitted on
November 11, 2003, was just released. It shows that FPI had a very good year in FY
2003. Sales are up in five of FPI's eight “Business Groups.”

Within the Electronics Business Group revenues increased substantially to
$152.4 million, up from $132.7 million in FY 2002. I suspect that most of these increased
“sales” are purchases by DOD required by military operations in lraq. For example, FP1
continues to obtain tens of millions of dollars in “sales” through non-competitive
orders under a requirements-type contract non-competitively awarded by the Army
Materiel Command’s Communications and Electronics Command in 1998, which
bypasses the requirements of Section 2410n for the duration of the contract, which runs
until 2013. This is but one example.

“Sales” within FPI's Fleet Management and Vehicular Components Business
Group also increased substantially in FY 2003 to $123.3 million from $99 million in FY
2002. Again, I suspect that much of this increase can be attributed to demands relating
to military operations in Iraq. Part of the increase can also be attributed to continued
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expansion of FPI’s venture to have Federal inmates remanufacture automobile
components for the commercial market. This foray into the commercial market is being
undertaken without an express statutory authority and in contravention of long-
standing statutory prohibitions on allowing the results of inmate labor to be introduced
into interstate commerce.

FY 2003 was also a year of growth for FPI’s Industrial Products Business Group.
Revenues increased to $36.8 million in FY 2003, up from $27.8 million in FY 2002.

FPI’s Recycling Business Group also saw substantially increased “sales” in FY
2003, increasing to $8.1 million from $3.4 million in FY 2002. This business group
focuses principally on demanufacturing of computers, monitors, and related equipment.
The major increase is likely attributable to work being done for non-Federal agency
customers. Under FPI's self-generated authority to provide inmate-furnished services
in the commercial market, FPI has been aggressively marketing its recycling services to
local governments and private firms.

During FY 2003, FPI's Services Business Group showed only a small increase,
with $12.3 million in revenues, up from $12.2 million in the prior fiscal year. This FP1
Business Group offers a broad array of commercial-type services from simple data entry,
to digitalization of paper documents, and to laundry services. This Business Group is
also vigorously pursuing work for the commercial market.

FPI cannot compel a Federal agency to purchase services because FPI’s
mandatory source status only applies to the products that it offers. This does not mean
that FPI actually competes for its “sales” in services, as it often asserts. Rather, its
“sales” are negotiated on a non-competitive basis as an “intra-governmental transfer.”
Private sector service providers are still foreclosed from being able to compete for these
Federal business opportunities.

Now, let’s take a look at the three FPI Business Groups that had reduced
revenues in FY 2003,

The first was the Clothing and Textiles Business Group, which showed slightly
reduced revenues of $158.4 million in FY 2003, down from $159.7 million in FY 2002

This is notable because most of FPI “sales” within this business group are
mostly to DOD, principally military clothing and related textile-based military equipment.
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Such purchases increased dramatically due to the demands associated with increased
military operations, principally in Iraq. These purchases are subject to the requirements
of Section 2410n and DOD managers have made especially good use of the new
authority. The DOD product managers continue to use FPI when it makes good
business sense, but enables them to make awards that sustain the few remaining small
businesses that comprise the industrial base for military clothing and textiles. I suspect
that FPI still remains the largest single supplier of these items to DOD, and that with
$158.4 million in “sales,” FPI remains larger than the combined sales of the next five
largest private-sector suppliers to DOD.

The Graphics Business Group showed a more significant reduction in FY 2003,
with revenues of $23.7 million compared with $26 million in FY 2002.

The Graphics Business Group provides printing services, signage, and awards,
plaques, and other logo-bearing items to Federal agency customers. I suspect that
some of this reduction can be attributed to DOD buyers making use of the Section
2410n authority to get maximum value on their purchases.

The Office Fumniture Business Group showed the largest reduction in FPI
revenues between FY 2003 and the prior fiscal year. FPI reported that its “sales” were
down to $152 million in FY 2003 from an all-time high of $217.8 million in FY 2002, which
the industry believes substantially understates FPI actual revenues. The products of
this business group include a broad range of dormitory and quarters fumniture as well as
the full range of office furniture and associated products.

The lost “sales” by the Office Furniture Business Group are, to me, a
confirmation of what the Federal Prison Industries Competition in Contracting Coalition
has been saying all along: FPI is not the “supplier of choice™ to the Federal agencies,
only the mandated supplier. DOD buying agencies are using the Section 2410n
authorities to competitively obtain the best products that the marketplace has to ofter.

The Director of the Federal Bureau of Prisons and others will certainly cite the
benefits of inmate work programs in reducing rates of recidivism as well as their value in
helping combat idleness and its attendant problems.

Prison systems at all levels use work opportunities to combat idleness and to
impart basic work skills that contribute to an inmate's successful return to society upon
release. In the Federal Bureau of Prisons (BOP), as in most state prison systems, the
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vast majority of inmates work at jobs directly related to the operation and maintenance
of the correctional facility. Work assignments encompass the full gamut of activities
providing necessary services, such as helping to operate kitchens and laundries,
helping with plumbing and electrical repairs, performing carpentry, painting, and
groundskeeping to help maintain the Federal correctional institution.

A much smaller percentage of inmates have work assignments in prison industry
programs, which assemble products or furnish services which are generally sold
exclusively to governmental agencies. Within the Federal system in FY 2003, 16 percent
of the inmates work for FPI. The remaining 84 percent of able-bodied inmates are
engaged in institutional work assignments.

The opponents of change often assert that participating in FPI helps reduce
recidivism. The data underlying that assertion is drawn from the Post Release
Employment Project (PREP) study. Beginning in 1983, BOP has conducted a on-going
study of the effects of vocational training and inmate work experiences on post-release
success. The most recent analysis of the PREP data covering 1984 through 1987, issued
in 1997, shows that work experiences have a positive effect on post-release employment
success, resulting in a 24% reduction in recidivism. They forget to mention that the
same PREP data showed that vocational and remedial education programs have even a
more positive effect on reducing recidivism, resulting in a 33% reduction in recidivism.
Similarly, such educational programs also help combat idleness.

Keep in mind that the PREP study does not confirm any rehabilitative benefit to
the inmate associated with the corrosive manner in which FPI can treat its captive
Federal agency “customers.” While FPI’s mandatory source status may guarantee a
steady stream of work, it deprives the Federal agencies of being able to assure
themselves that they are getting full value for the taxpayer dollars being paid to FPL

Further, to maximize its revenues and quiet Federal “customer” dissatisfaction,
FPI is increasingly relying on contractual “Partners.” For many commercial-type items,
FPI inmate workers are now simply assembling complete finished kits produced by one
of these contract suppliers. Quality and timeliness of delivery are both improved to the
extent that the inmates’ participation in the manufacturing of a product is reduced.
Such programmatic shift, however, calls into question FPI’s claimed focus on inmate
rehabilitation. To those of us seeking fundamental reform, FPI seems more focused on
expanding its gross profits to be used in expanding its operations.
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To avoid change, others will seek to play to fear. Any change to FPI's current
mandatory source status will lead to massive inmate idleness that undermines the safe
operation of the Federal correctional institutions, endangering inmates and staff.

When you hear this remember the statistics about how many inmates work in
institutional job assignments, 84 percent, and how many have job assignments within
FPI, 16 percent. Also remember that inmates with work assignments within FPI tend to
be among the best inmates from a disciplinary standpoint.

Further, keep in mind that S. 346 contains a provision which authorizes the
Attorney General to take contracts on a non-competitive basis if the work provided by
the contract is need to “prevent circumstances that could reasonably be expected to
significantly endanger the safe and effective administration” of the institution at which
the work on the contract is to be performed. To prevent abuse of this authority, the
provision requires that the determination by the Attorney General be supported by
specific findings by the warden of the penal institution at which the work on the
contract is to be performed.

FPI's management have convinced the leadership of the Council of Prison Locals
that the wardens will never provide the needed findings, because it would be viewed as
a “black mark” on their record, impeding promotion. To me it is incomprehensible that a
warden would take a real risk of institutional unrest that could lead to the physical harm
of inmates and staff to avoid making the necessary findings to support the bill’s
forward-looking, judgmental standard. If that is the case, the Bureau of Prisons and the
staff represented by the Council of Prison Locals have more to worry about than
possible legislative changes to the workings of FPI’s mandatory source status.

Opponents of change are also trying to hide behind FPI’s stable of suppliers, as
you will hear from one of today’s witnesses. As with so many of the assertions by
those opposed to change, this one also proves false when subjected to scrutiny.

With FPI operating as a prime contractor, exercising its mandatory source status,
an FPI supplier has a very preferential place in the Federal procurement process.
Remember what mandatory source means in practical business terms. FPI, rather than
the buying agency, determines whether FPI's offered product and delivery schedule
meets the agency’s mission needs. FPI, rather than the buying agency, determines the
reasonableness of FPI's offered price.
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As a former businessman, [ would like to be part of a team that can force its
customers to make purchases. It gives me a guaranteed base of sales. Why would [
want to relinquish such a preferred status?

However, from a public policy standpoint, FPI’s mandatory source status is
simply indefensible.

Under S. 346, FPI's current suppliers will be free to win Government business
indirectly as a supplier to FPI or they may chose to sell directly, something which many
of them already do. As is the nature of the marketplace, business will be won based on
their ability to best meet the Federal agency’s needs, or more accurately the taxpayers’
needs, in terms of quality, delivery, and price.

Many of FPI’s suppliers have reputations as highly competitive, quality
performers, you will be hearing from one of them this afternoon, who was featured in a
full-page ad in the September 29, 2003 issue of RoLL CALL. Suppliers like Power
Connector, Inc., successful in both the commercial market and the Government market,
will be a big help to FPI in obtaining its Federal business on a competitive basis.

Further, the enactment of S. 346 will not increase or decrease the business
opportunities available through purchases by the various Federal agencies. Under S.
346 assures FPI a right to compete in the Federal market, supported by its network of
suppliers. In fact, the bill places an affirmative duty on a Federal agency to solicit an
offer from FPI. Other prospective Government contractors, large and small, have to find
their Federal contracting opportunities.

Next, you will hear about FPI’s stellar performance in making contract awards to
small businesses, including small businesses owned and controlled by women and
minorities. FPT claims that 62 percent of its dollars are spent with small business. This
seems almost too good to be true. From my experiences with FPI and their penchant for
distorting data, I would make a related observation.

FPI awards its supplier contracts through a procurement method in which only
FPI can challenge a bidder’s certification regarding its status as a small business. Many
of FPI’s newest and most prominent suppliers, which FPI's refers to as its “Partners,”
are subsidiaries of larger corporations. A firm is not entitled to claim the status of a
“small business,” if such firm is the affiliate of a firm that is “other than a small
business.” 1 have sought, unsuccessfully, to obtain a list of FPI's active suppliers and



182
10

see which ones have claimed small business status. With the help of the Chairman of
the House Committee on Small Business, requests could be made to the Small Business
Administration to determine if there have been any false certifications.

Finally, some will assert that they are not opposed to the elimination of FPI's
mandatory source status provided that the Attorney General retains the authority to
maintain adequate work opportunities at Federal prisons as part of a comprehensive
reform that grants the Attorney General the tools necessary to maintain prison
discipline and reduce recidivism.

That legislative proposal to bring comprehensive and fundamental reform to FPI
is pending before the Committee on the Judiciary. It is H.R. 1829, the Hoekstra-Frank-
Collins-Maloney-Sensenbrenner-Conyers FEDERAL PRISON INDUSTRIES COMPETITION
IN CONTRACTING ACT OF 2003, which was passed by the House by a vote of 350-65 on
November 6, 2003.

Like S. 346, H.R. 1829 contains the provision that allows the Attorney General to
take inmate work opportunities on a contract-by-contract basis when needed to
“prevent circumstances that could reasonably be expected to significantly endanger the
safe and effective administration” of the institution at which the work is to be
performed. To me, that meets the requirement to “provide[s] the Attorney General with
the authority to maintain adequate work opportunities at Federal prisons”.

Despite the assertion that [T]he Administration is anxious to work with the
Congress to develop [comprehensive] FPI reform legislation”, no specific
recommendations for modifying H.R. 1829 have been forthcoming from the
Administration despite written requests to the President on October 17, 2002, January
30, 2003, and to the then OMB Director on March 31, 2003. Apparently, the Attorney
General wants additional authorities, but they remain unknown to Congress.

In the meantime, I urge the Committee on Governmental Affairs to promptly
report S. 346 and vigorously seek its consideration and passage by the Senate. It is the
least we can do to bring some relief to FPT's captive Federal agency “customers,” and to
non-inmate workers, and the firms that employ them, that are only seeking an
opportunity to bid on Federal business opportunities funded with their tax dollars.
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Statement for the Record
Mark Green, United States Representative, 8" District of Wisconsin
Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget and International Security Committee on
Governmental Affairs, United States Senate
Legislative Hearing on S. 346
April 7, 2004

Mr. Chairman, Senator Akaka and Members of the Subcommittee I would request that
my staternent be made a part of the record of today’s hearing. I appreciate this opportunity to
relay to you my concerns regarding S. 346 as the Congressman from the 8™ District of Wisconsin
and the impact that this legislation will have on Federal Prison Industries’ (FPI) business and
therefore many of my constituents who have held contracts with FPI for decades. In addition,
however, [ also submit my statement as a Member of the House Judiciary’s Subcommittee on
Crime as we have specific oversight of FPI which includes our very serious responsibility of
ensuring the safety and security of all inmates and personnel in our federal prisons.

It is my understanding that the combination of an apparent lack of conformity and
compliance in the application of Sections 811/819 of the DoD Authorization bill of 2002 and
2003 by the contracting officers at DoD) and its general affect of curtailing the use of FPI's
mandatory source by federal agencies are causing serious downturns in FPI's backlog orders and
therefore inmate employment levels. This is of great concern to me as the Bureau of Prisons has
repeatedly testified before Congress that FPI is one of its most critical correctional tools for
managing our federal prisons and protecting both the inmates and our federal employees. If FPI
is in danger of an inability to maintain its current inmate employment levels and the work

program, generally, I would like to know why and help to correct this. As a Member of the
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Subcommittee on Crime along with my other colleagues we will ultimately need to answer for
any serious repercussions that may occur as a result of these downward trends. As you know,
over the next five years, the federal inmate population is expected to double amidst already
heavily, overcrowded conditions. This is due to the public policy changes of longer sentences
coupled with the expectation that inmates be provided with opportunities that will improve their
post-release success prospects as law-abiding employees.

With this backdrop, and at this time, we can ill afford any policy changes by Congress
that would further aggravate an already dangerously, overcrowded situation. Iunderstand that
many of the correctional institutions are now faced with double, triple bunking and the outright,
open, dormitory-style bedding that they have been forced to employ due to the overcrowding.
Therefore, I think it is central to this debate that we review the positive benefits that the FP1
program brings to bear on the institutions, inmates, society, the American taxpayer and the
private sector. Based on testimony before Congress as well as FPI’s posted annual reports we
know the following:

. FPI employs approximately 25% of the eligible inmates in meaningful work which
contributes significantly to the safety and security of the correctional institutions by
keeping them gainfully occupied. They have found that inmates who participate in FPI
are less likely to engage in prison misconduct for fear they would lose their FPI jobs

which are in demand as evidenced by the waiting lists for participation in the program.

. Inmates who participate in FPI are more likely to remain crime free and employed as they
have a 24% less likelihood to recidivate, even higher for minorities who are at greater
risk to do so and a 14% better chance of being employed as compared to non-

participating inmates. These numbers become very important to the American taxpayer
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as the annual cost of incarceration of an inmate is $30,000, more than most taxpayers pay

to send a child to college per year.

FP1 receives NO appropriated funds from Congress and 100% of each earnings dollar is
returned to the community: 74% goes to purchases from the private sector of raw
materials and supplies, 20% is paid to staff and 7% is for inmate salaries that they are
required to use to meet financial obligations and for commissary purchases of products

supplied by local community vendors.

FPI creates an opportunity for inmates to fulfill their court-ordered financial obligations.
For instance, in 2002, inmates participating in the FPI program contributed $3.1 million
for child support, victims restitution and other court ordered programs. In addition, many
inmates send portions of their earnings home making the difference sometimes between a

family going on welfare and one that does not.

I would submit te you that the FPI business model strikes the delicate balance between

maintenance of the inmate employment levels with positive effects on the private sector. The

following statistics confirm this:

In fiscal year 2002 FPI’s purchases from the private sector comprised $502 million or
74% of their overall sales. These purchases were made from over 10,000 private industry
vendors from across the country in the way of equipment, supplies, raw materials and
machinery. In addition, in 2002 FPI awarded over 62 % of its contracts to small
businesses and has consistently received the Attorney General’s “Best Percentage” Small

Business Award in recognition of FPI’s work in this area. The Office Furniture Group at
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FPI alone purchased $105 million from private sector vendors, 55% of its contracts

coming from small businesses.

Curtailment or elimination of the FPI program would indeed adversely impact thousands
of FPI vendors throughout the nation most of whom are small businesses and rely on FPI for
some portion of their business as evidenced by the above statistics. Based the statistics herein, it
is clear that FPI is creating a tremendous amount of positive impact for many private sector
businesses that otherwise may not have had similar opportunities.

The facts and statistics above, I believe, support the arguments for the maintenance of the
FPI program as they demonstrate how important it is to the safety and security of the institutions,
the post-release success of inmates, the American taxpayer and the private sector contractors. It
is because of the benefits accruing to so many segments of our society as articulated above that 1

am concerned about the unintended consequences S. 346 may cause.

[ commend the Chairman for holding a hearing that ensures that all interested parties
have the opportunity to present their views and I am available to assist you in anyway possible.

Thank you.
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The Enterprise Prison Institute

8008 Selvyn Avenue, Sulte 100, Bathesda, MD 20817
301/320-8180 . (fax) 301/320-0181
Krostad @ aol.com

April 5, 2004

Peter G. Fitzgerald, Chairman

Daniel A. Akaka, Ranking Member

Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget
and International Security

Committee on Govermmental Affairs

446 Senate Hart Building

‘Washington, DC 20510

Genticmen:

We write regarding S. 346. We neither support nor oppose the bill. We support the need to
reform the federal industrios program, and preserve opportunities for inmate training and work.
With two amendments outlined below, we do support passage of the bill.

As Attormey General and Deputy Attorney General in Republican and Democratic
administrations, we saw first-hand the rehabilitative impact of job training and work programs,
and how real work in prison provide real jobs and success after prison. In short, these programs
work. Therefor, the pending reform legislation before Congress (S346) is important 1o us.

No one questions the need for prison programs that work, Every day this year some 1600
inmates leave prison. Are they ready? In June the Department of Justice published data on
recidivism rates. By following 272,111 state inmaics sclcased in 1994, researchers found that
67.5% were re-amested within three years.

Fcederal Prison Industrics (FPI) past achicvements of providing valuable job training to inmates
carned it support from Congress and Democrat and Republican administrations alike. Lately,
FPI's reputation in Congress has been tamished. Some critics claim FPI is an sgency insulated
by its original 1930s business model and uneble to change. They say FPI has competed unfairly
against businesses, displaced civilian workers, and expanded its authority without congressional
approval. FPI supporicrs deny these charges and offer evidence that FPI has taken significant
precautions to avoid harm to the private sector.

Given the importance of job training and work programs and this congressional environment,
legislation must: 1) reform FPI with a job training and work model for the 21" century
workplace, with real safeguards to avoid harm to American workers, and 2) atlow for sufficient
new job training and work. S 346 is a major step forward towards the first objectives. It docs not
adequately address the second.
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§ 346 needs two major changes. First, we should let cmployers — only employers that certify that
they cannot find enough workers -- train and employ inmates through a limited pilot program.
(This program should not aliow FPI to sell into the commercial market.) We know
manufacturing jobs have been lost to offshore locations; this pilot may, in & smell way, reduce
this transfer of jobs offshore.

Second, the bill may unnecessarily restrict the states in a manner that could kill many state
programs, discourage new initiatives, and cost the states millions of dollars. Before passing
legislation that would restrict state programs, hearings should be held. If these programs arc
operating effectively and consistent with accepted standards, states should be free to act.

With these changes S 346 is a winner. The amended bill preserves reforms FPI critics seek and
provides training and work FPI supporters want and public safety requires.

The private sector will support the amended bill as it supports similar state pilot programs,
because they can remedy a need of employers: skilled workers. A National Association of
Manufacturer’s roport has corroborated what other rescarchers have concluded; cven in the
current environment with offshore outsourcing, we still face a significant worker skilis shortages.
This shonage will get worse. The Employment Policy Foundation projects growing shortages to
reach 12.4 million job openings by 2021.

Taxpayers spend some $40 billion a year for prisons, and, as noted above, most inmatcs fail
when they Icave prison. Not passing S 346 as amended means not strengthening one of the very
best tools we have 10 reduce this failure rate, to reduce crime, and to increase public safety and
prison securily.

While FPI is today a source of controversy in Congress, the importance of its mission has
greater bi-partisan support then at any time in our memorics. These programs are sspecially
important to those who are in the greatest necd: unskilled, lower income and disadvantaged
individuals who disproportionately make up our inmate population.

This broad support is not new. Twenty-three years ago at the University of Nebraska Law
School, Chief Justice Warren Burger laid out the case for inmate work with a powerful idea.
He said, “When society places a person behind walls 2nd bars, it has a morel obligation to do
whatever can reasonably be done to change that person befor¢ he or she goes back into the
stream of society.”

We agree and hope the Congress will too.

Sincerely,
Bdwin Meese I Eric Holder

Chair, Nationa! Advisory Board Vice Chair, National Advisory Board
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J. MICHAEL QUINLAN
March 31, 2004
The Honorable Peter Fitzgerald The Honorable Daniel Akaka
Chairman Ranldng Member
Subcommittee on Financial Management, Subcommittee on Financial Management,
the Budget and International Security the Budget and International Security
Governmental Affairs Comrmittee Govemnmental Affairs Committee
United States Senate United States Senate
Washington, DC 20510 Washington, DC 20510

Dear Chairman Fitzgerald and Ranking Member Akaka:

1 am writing with regard to Senate Bill 346, a bill which would amend the Office of Federal
Procurement Paolicy Act to establish a government-wide policy requiring competition in certain
procurements from Federal Prison Industries (FPI).

As the former Director of the Federal Bureau of Prisons (BOP) from 1987 to 1992 and as a
former warden for five years at the BOP’s Federal Correctional Institution — Otisville (NY), [
personally witnessed and experienced the tremendous value of Federal Prison Industries. It is my
firm belief and opinion as a career corrections professional that a viable Federal Prison Industries
program 1is a significant and critical component of a safe, secure and well run federal prison
facility. Further, and perhaps most importantly, it is my strong belief that Federal Prison
Indusiries is one of the most successful programs ever established to provide federal inmates the
skills and experiences necessary to prepare for their release and eventual return to society as
productive, law-abiding citizens.

In my opinion, it is virtually impossible to change the lives of criminal offenders while they are
incarcerated without strong educational and vecational programs. The evidence has been clear for
many years that federal prison inmates involved in FPI are less likely to return to incarceration
than those inmates who have not participated in FPI. When 1 was BOP Director, the agency
completed a study which affirmed those principles. Subsequent studies and research have
demonstrated and reaffirmed those principles. In fact, the recidivism rate for FPI participants is
24% less than the rate for those federal inmates who do not participate in FPL.

The recent passage of Sections 811/819 of the National Defense Authorization Acts of 2002/2003
respectively and several measures implemented by FPI's Board have resulted in serious declines
in several of FPI's programs, inmate employment levels and factory operations. These declines
should be of critical concern to the Congress. FPI has long been a centerpiece of the BOP’s
outstanding record of facility management and operations. Over the past 20 years, even as the
BOP’s inmate population has increased by more than 600%, the agency has been able to maintain
this outstanding record due in no small part to FP1, Without a strong and viable prison industries
program, thousands of the BOP's 176,000 inmates will be less likely to improve their lives and
upon release, find good jobs and become productive members of society.

1462 Evans Farm Dr. McLean, Virginia 22101
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Page Two
March 31, 2004

In my view, Senate Bill 346, if enacted, would compound the serious declines FPI has been
experiencing in recent years and critically wound a program that the BOP has been working very
hard to reform. FPT has realigned factories and reduced operating costs, and it is continuing to
seek ways to create new inmate jobs in areas such as fleet management, recycling, services and
projects that would otherwise be performed outside the United States. FPI is making significant
good faith efforts to meet the concerns of industry while providing viable opportunities for
federal inmates. It is my hope that FPI and the BOP can continue these efforts without further
restrictions.

Sincerely,
fJ . Michael Quinlan

ce: The Honorable Susan Collins
The Honorable Joe Lieberman
The Honorable Ted Stevens
The Honorable George Voinovich
The Honorable Arlen Specter
The Honorable Robert Bennett
The Honorable John Sununu
The Honorable Richard Shelby
The Honorable Carl Levin
The Honorable Thomas Carper
The Honorable Mark Dayton
The Honorable Frank Lautenberg
The Honorable Mark Pryor
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STATEMENT FOR THE RECORD

OFFICE OF FEDERAL PROCUREMENT POLICY ACT
[S. 346]

SUBMITTED TO

THE UNITED STATES SENATE

THE SENATE GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS SUBCOMITTEE ON
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT, THE BUDGET, AND
INTERNATIONAL SECURITY

The Honorable Peter Fitzgerald, CHAIRMAN

By
REGINALD A. WILKINSON, Ed.D.

DIRECTOR, OHIO DEPARTMENT OF REHABILITATION AND CORRECTION
1050 FREEWAY DRIVE NORTH
COLUMBUS, OHIO 43229
(614)-752-1164

APRIL 7, 2004
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INTRODUCTION

Chairman Fitzgerald and members of the Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs
Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget, and International Security. | am
Reginald A. Wilkinson, Director of the Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and Correction
(ODRC) and current president of the Association of State Correctional Administrators
(ASCA). | am pleased to provide you with written testimony regarding the impact of
Senate Bill 346 [S. 346] on federal, state, and local correctional industries. | would
especially like to thank the National Correctional Industries Association for inviting me to
provide information to the Subcommittee on behalf of correctional industries, and for
their ongoing support for the development of quality industry programs in our nation’s

prisons and jails.

First, I'd like to provide the Subcommittee with a general overview of the importance of
prison industries in state correctional facilities, as well as a thumbnail sketch of Ohio’s
approach to prisoner employment, before delving further into the areas impacted by S.
3486.

WHY PRISON INDUSTRIES?
Let me first address the issue of why | believe that it is vital for states to have effective

prison industrial programs. in my view, there are at least six primary rationales:
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First: Prison jobs are a management tool to keep prisoners busy. When prisoners

are forced to be idle, tension and violence increase in correctional facilities. Prison
industry programs keep thousands of inmates productively involved in the day-to-day,
structured operation of our nation’s correctional facilities, thereby increasing the safety
of civilians and inmates alike, as well as the communities surrounding the facilities. This
theory is backed by research data. Criminologist Bert Useem, Ph.D., noted in a 1999
multivariate analysis of prison protests, disturbances and riots that “the percentage of
inmates with paid employment was inversely related to the probability of an inmate
disturbance.” Another criminologist, Beth M. Huebner, stated in her 2003 multilevel
analysis of administrative determinants of inmate violence that “prisoners involved in

work programs were significantly less likely to assault staff.”

Second: Job training reduces crime. Inmates who participate in meaningful job

training demonstrate a statistical reduction in recidivism. In a recent article by Larry
Thompson of the Brookings Institute on the benefits of prison industries entitled
“Federal Prison Industries: Fair to business, vital to society,” he cites a Washington
State Institute for Public Policy study that showed that for every $1 spent on prison
industry programs, as much as $6.23 is saved in future criminal justice costs (arrest,
conviction, incarceration, post release supervision and crime victimization). In Ohio, a
1995 study conducted by the ODRC showed that Ohio Penal industries (OP1), our
inmate industrial training program, is having a similar positive impact. Participation in
OPI| jobs reduced the return rate of offenders released from prison by 20 percent.

Participation in high-skilled OPI jobs resulted in a 50 percent reduction in recidivism.
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The study also indicated that certain groups of prisoners benefited differently. For
instance, prison industry participation had the greatest positive impact on African

American males.

Third: Meaningful job training contributes to the successful reentry of offenders

and increases their chances of finding and keeping jobs after release. As one can

imagine, former prisoners attempting to find jobs are at a natural disadvantage. itis our
mission to teach them skilis so that they can compete in the job market after they have
served their prison sentences. Ohio’s 105 vocational education programs range from
building maintenance to welding, from brick laying to auto mechanics. A solid base of
educational, treatment programs, reentry activities, and formalized linkages to the
community combined with real work experience and developing work ethic, buttress

prison vocational programs.

Fourth: Partnerships with private sector industries boost economic development.

In an attempt to expand prison industries and create more real-world and high-skilled
jobs, prison industries have placed an emphasis in recent years on partnering with the
private sector. These partnerships benefit both state Departments of Correction and the
companies they contract. In Ohio, we currently have 13 contracts with private sector

entities that employ 808 inmates.

Before signing, contracts are reviewed by Ohio's Prison Labor Advisory Council (PLAC),

a six-member board that advises and assists the Department in its responsibility to
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create meaningful work for inmates. The Council is comprised of business and
community leaders, who help insure that proposed private sector contracts meet the
Department’s objectives to have no adverse impact on Ohio’s labor market. If endorsed
by the PLAC, companies agree to sign a statement that they will_not displace Ohio

workers in utilizing inmate labor.

Fifth: Prison _industries offset the cost of incarceration. Like most other state

correctional industry programs, OP! is a self-supporting entity that does not require
financial assistance from Ohio’s General Revenue Fund. According to an independent
study commissioned by ODRC, OP! further defrays taxpayer costs by providing a $15.9
million annual benefit to Ohio and creating 62 private sector “spin-off” jobs for a net gain
to the local economy. Customer surveys, moreover, consistently demonstrate that OP!

is fulfilling its mission to produce quality products.

By the end of fiscal year 2003, OP| employed over 2,100 inmates and generated sales
of over $18 million. These sales enable OPI to cover expenses and operate self-
sufficiently. OPI shops and services range from the traditional production of license
plates and janitorial supplies, to high-tech services such as, asbestos abatement and
computer refurbishing. Some of our current contracts are saving Ohio taxpayers millions
of dollars by utilizing inmate workers to convert information digitally and make it
available to the general public using Computer Aided Design (CAD) and Geographical
Information Systems (GIS) support services. These activities are also preparing inmates

for high-tech employment upon release.
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Finally, prison industries_imbue inmates with a work ethic and a sense of self-

responsibility. Many inmates have never held a job for any length of time, nor have
they learned to take instruction, and feel the satisfaction of a job well done. In Ohio and
other states, prison industries work standards mirror the normal work environment as
closely as possible so that when offenders are released to the community they are as

ready as possible to join the work world and make a productive contribution.

It is also important that former prisoners learn to accept the same employment
responsibilities that you and | do. They must support their families, pay their rent, and
other obligations. In many cases, they are required to pay restitution, child support, and

other legal judgments. | believe it is our duty to instill these traits.

COMMENTS ON SENATE BILL 346
| would now like to address some specific points of discussion regarding S. 346. Ohio
and other State Departments of Correction are especially concerned with Section 3 of
S. 346 that specifically amends 18 USC 1761 (a) and (c) at the federal, state, and local
levels to prohibit the interstate sale of services furnished wholly or in part by priscners
within 180 days of enactment of the bill. This time frame gives prison industries only six
months to completely phase out its service programs and to make accommodations for
lost inmate jobs. Additionally, S. 346 would force federal, state and local correctional
industries operating non-Prison Industry Enhancement (PIE) service operations to

convert them to PIE programs under the U.S. Department of Justice certification, or be
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forced to close them permanently. Unlikely to be economically viable under PIE

requirements, nationally, this change could force the elimination of over 2,700 inmate

jobs, negate the opportunity for viable service work programs in the future, and force

thousands of inmates to be dangerously idle. This would have an obvious adverse

impact 6n the state and national economies with the loss of more than $20 million in
state annual gross revenues that are generated by correctional industry service
operations. Furthermore, 2000 private companies who supply raw materials and
partner with correctional industries would be placed at risk to lose their jobs should S.
346 pass in its current form. Finally, the states would be in jeopardy of being sued by
these 2000 companies due to the abrogation of existing contracts, not to mention the

related legal and court fees.

CONCLUSION
As | have stated above, prison industries provide many positive benefits to federal,
state, and local correctional agencies by keeping inmates meaningfully engaged and by
providing them with marketable job skills that may reduce the likelihood of future
recidivism. They also provide positive economic benefits to states by reducing reliance
on general revenue fund sources, creating demand for raw products and supplies, and
by increasing skilled labor and establishing private sector partnerships. Communities
and families benefit by offenders being returned to society with a greater likelihood for

employment, a chance to become productive, law-abiding, and drug free citizens.
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Based on the concerns that | and other corrections professionals have articulated with
S. 346, | would urge that you delay its passage and work towards legislation that

enhances rather than constrains prison industries.

Mr. Chairman and Committee members, thank you for the opportunity to submit my
written testimony and for entering it into the record. Please contact me with any

questions that you may have.
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AFNA

April 5, 2004

The Honorable Peter G. Fitzgerald
Chairman

The Honorabie Daniel K. Akaka
Ranking Member

Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget,
and International Security

Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs

446 Hart Senate Office Buiiding

Washington, D.C. 20510

Dear Chairman Fitzgerald and Ranking Member Akaka:

On behalf of the American Furniture Manufacturers Association (AFMA), | would lfike to
commend the subcommittee for its interest in holding a hearing on Federal Prison
Industries (FP1) competition. Legislation being considered by the subcommittee today
would bring much-needed competition to the government’s procurement process by
allowing agency contract officers to determine, based on product quality and delivery
schedule, whether FPl or a private sector competitor offers the best value for the
American taxpayers’ dollars. AFMA supports bipartisan efforts to reform FPI's unique
mandatory source status in the government procurement process, and respectfully
submits these comments for the hearing record.

AFMA is the nation’s largest trade organization for furniture manufacturers in the United
States, representing more than 200 leading manufacturers and 250 suppliers. The
majority of AFMA members are small and medium-sized businesses, often with 100 or
fewer employees. Residential furniture is a mature industry, and AFMA members
participate in a highly competitive market affected by ever-changing style preferences,
margin pressures, and shifting patterns in consumer spending. According to UBS
Investment Research, manufacturers’ sales of residential furniture in 2002 totaled nearly
$24 billion, an increase of 3.4 percent from 2001. AFMA serves as the principal voice of
the domestic furniture industry, and is dedicated to fostering its long-term growth and
development, and to improving the effectiveness and efficiency of furniture
manufacturing in the U.S. AFMA’s structure, programs, and member services are
designed to encourage participation and continuing education at all levels of furniture
manutfacturing management, from the company president to the plant supervisor.

Although AFMA member companies primarily manufacture residential furniture, a small
but growing number also produce contract furniture for sales to commercial businesses,
educational institutions, hotels and resorts, and the federal government. In fact, it

American Furniture Manufacturers Association
1120 Connecticut Ave, N.W., Suite 1080 - Washington, DC 20036 « 202-466-7362 » Fax 202-429-4915
+ http:/iwww.afmadu.org +
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surprised me to learn in preparing for this hearing that some of our member companies
have supplied furniture to the federal government for more than 20 years. One such
company, located in full committee Chairwoman Susan Collins’ home state of Maine, has
had a long history of producing a wide range of wood bedroom furniture for veterans
homes in that state, through sales to the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs and the
U.S. Department of Defense. Still others sell distinctive furnishings to the U.S.
Department of State for use in American embassies and official diplomatic residences
overseas. In most of these cases, sales to the federal government represent less than 5
percent of a company’s total sales, but they are an important part of these companies’
strategies to remain competitive and to maintain domestic production. Moreover, these
companies are quite proud to be able to offer high quality furniture products for sale to
the U.S. government.

The need to explore and expand such business opportunities for domestic manufacturers
is especially acute in the furniture industry, which is currently going through a difficult
transition period. Since 2000, the furniture industry has lost some 15 percent of its
domestic wood manufacturing capacity and nearly 30 percent of its work force. The
stunning growth in the U.S. market of furniture imports, particularly from the Pacific
Rim, is the dominant factor challenging the domestic furniture industry. In 1993,
imports represented roughly 25% of all wood household furniture and approximately 6%
of upholstered household furniture sold in the U.S. By 2002, imports jumped to 47.7%
of wood household furniture and 13.7% of upholstered household furniture. While China
remains the principal source of furniture imports, Brazil and Vietnam also have emerged
as potentially significant new sources of furniture exports to the U.S.

Not surprisingly, consolidation, plant closings, and lay-offs have followed as import
competition has caused domestic production to fall off. Since 2000, more than 47,000
residential furniture production workers have lost their jobs. Case goods workers, those
who build wood furniture products, have been particularly hard hit, with a loss of more
32,000 jobs in just three years, or a 28.5 percent decline. Unfortunately, such job losses
do not occur in isolation. The ripple effects of jobs that have been lost to imports and
other factors have a corresponding adverse impact on companies that supply fumber,
textiles, hardware, stains, adhesives, and many essential services to the furniture
industry. Equally vulnerable are the rural communities where many furniture plants are
located, and where economic development opportunities are already limited.

Because the domestic industry faces multiple challenges from competing in the global
economy, AFMA is working with the Bush Administration, and the bipartisan
Congressional Furnishings Caucus to explore new ways fo increase demand for U.S.-
made furniture products. For example, AFMA has consulted with the Commerce
Department and the international Trade Administration on strategies to boost exports of
American-made furniture products. Part of the answer lies in breaking down tariff and
non-tariff barriers to foreign markets, and ensuring that trading partners are living up to
the agreements they have entered into with the U.S. Another integral part of this
strategy is to encourage our members to pursue business opportunities with the federal
government. Unfortunately, if complicated government procurement rules and
requirements aren't enough to discourage private sector firms from seeking to do
business with the federal government, FPI's virtuai monopoly on federal contracts is.
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With this subcommittee’s help, however, we hope to make it easier for private sector
firms to compete for the government’s business.

As you know, FPl is a government-owned corporation, operating under the trade name
“UNICOR,” that employs federal prison inmates to produce goods and services for sale to
government agencies. FP! enjoys a special “mandatory source” status in the federal
market, which essentially compels government agencies in need of a product to purchase
that product from FPi regardiess of price or quality -~ whether the product is shoes,
pants, mattresses, electronics, or even furniture. FP! is not required to compete for
government contracts, and is exempt from paying its workers minimum wage. Current
law prohibits private companies from competing for any federal contract if FP| seeks a
monopoly. [f FP| says it wants a particular contract, it gets that contract, regardless of
whether a company in the private sector can provide the same product cheaper, better,
or faster. No consideration can be given to a private sector competitor uniess that
agency petitions FPI for a waiver from its own monopoly. | am certain that members of
the subcommittee will agree that there is something profoundly unfair about denying
businesses in the private sector an opportunity to compete for sales to their own
government - sales that are paid for by their tax dollars.

This combination of preferences has made it difficult for many private sector companies
to compete effectively for government contracts, including U.S. furniture manufacturers
who produce office, contract, and dormitory-style furniture products. According to their
2002 Annual Report, the most recent available through FPI's Internet site, FPI generated
more than $670 million in net sales of inmate-manufactured goods and services in 2002.
Of the eight business units that comprise FPI's core programs, the furniture-related
business unit had the highest amount of net sales in 2002 - $217.9 million — and
“employed” the second largest number of inmates ~ 5,304. While $218 million may not
seem like a lot of money, especially at a time when federal budgets are measured in
billions of dollars, every piece of furniture purchased from FP| represents a potentially
lost opportunity for domestic furniture manufacturers, especially if the law prohibits
them from competing for the government’s business. Moreover, as an enterprise with
more than 20,000 “employees,” FPl looms as a formidable competitor in the
procurement arena, especially against smaller businesses who must contend with a host
of structural costs and regulatory burdens.

For several years now, AFMA has been an active member of the broad-based Competition
in Contracting Coalition, made up of business, labor, and federal manager
representatives, which has advocated comprehensive reform of the FPI program. AFMA
and the Coalition both strongly support S. 346 and H.R. 1829, which the House of
Representatives overwhelmingly approved last November. H.R. 1829, the Federal Prison
Industries Competition in Contracting Act, provides phased-in legislative reform of FPI's
mandatory source status to allow private sector companies to bid on contracts now
reserved for FPI, and prevents FPI from expanding into the commercial market. The bill
also provides a transition period for FP| as it adapts to the loss of its preferential status.
AFMA supports the bill’s inclusion of alternatives to inmate rehabilitation as a means of
facilitating re-entry into private employment, such as providing work opportunities
through partnerships with non-profit organizations and additional educational, training,
and release-preparation programs. Equally important, the legislation calls for an
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independent study to determine the consequences of modifying FPI's mandatory source
authority, including developing recommendations for any corrective legislation. Though
smaller in scope, 5. 346 would similarly ensure that private sector firms are able to
compete for contracts with all federal agencies. Under the bill, if a federal agency can
get an equal or better product at a lower price from a private sector source, the agency
would be free to purchase it from the private bidder. The bill does not limit FPI's ability
to sell its products to federal agencies, but instead requires that such sales be made on
a competitive, rather than a sole-source basis.

While fundamental reform of FPI remains our top priority, AFMA is pleased that Congress
has taken notable interim steps toward creating a more level competitive playing field in
the government procurement process. Thanks in large part to the efforts of Senator Carl
Levin (D-MI), a member of this subcommittee, Congress included a provision in the
Fiscal Year 2002 Defense Authorization Act that enables commercial firms to compete
with FP| for contracts with the Department of Defense, one of the largest procurement
customers in the federal government. Earlier this year, a similar provision was included
in the Fiscal Year 2004 omnibus appropriations package that allows federal agencies to
decide for themselves how best to meet their procurement needs by examining the
current marketplace and purchasing products on a competitive basis. Government
agencies would still be able to purchase goods and services from FPI, but only if they
represent the best value to the buying agency. The good news is that the provision
affects procurement decisions on a government-wide basis, not just with respect to
Defense Department contracts. The bad news is that it will expire at the end of the
current fiscal year unless Congress renews it or enacts a more permanent solution.

Like our Coalition partners, AFMA believes strongly in protecting American businesses
from unfair government competition. In its current form, FP! enjoys a special status in
the government procurement process that can no longer be justified — in terms of
fundamental fairness, quality and value to the taxpayers, and potential opportunities for
American manufacturers to maintain and expand their businesses. Given a level playing
field, America’s skilled furniture workers are highly competitive when it comes to price,
quality, and delivery times. They should have every opportunity to compete fairly for the
federal government’s business. AFMA greatly appreciates being able to share its
perspective on the need for FP! reform with the subcommittee, and looks forward to
working with you and all members of the Senate Governmental Affairs Committee to
advance S. 346 this session.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me at (202) 466-7362.

Sincerely,

oo e,

Christopher P. Pearce
Director of Congressional & Regulatory Affairs
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St t to be submitted for the Record of

The Coalition for Government Procurement
Before the US Senate Governmental Affairs Committee’s
Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget and
International Security Regarding oversight of Federal Prison
Industries Reform, S. 346.
April 7, 2004

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommitiee.
The Coalition for Government Procurement appreciates this opportunity to
comment today in support of 8. 346 and FPI reform. The Coalition has
worked closely with Congress and industry through the vears as the issue
of FPT’s mandatory source status has been debated, and we look forward
to the discussion of S. 346 and ulﬁ.ma:cly the implementation of a
procurement plan that is fair and just for the agencies, the taxpayer, the

prisoncr.

The Coalition is a 330-member association of companies selling
eommercial solutions to the federal government. Our members include
both large and small businesses, many of them suppliers to DOD.
Coaiition members account for nearly 75% of all sales made through GSA
Muiltiple Award Schedule contracts and over half of all commercial
solutions purchased annually by the government. We have worked with
government officials for over 22 years to ensure common sensc in

government procurement.

OISR oroint service and procuct suppiiens o §ie F
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The Coalition for Government Procurement has worked on this issue for
15 years. We have engaged FPI in an attempt to work together and have
taken legal action to protect our members. Few organizations are as well

positioned to speak on FPI’s impact on contractors and the federal market.

Now is the time to reform FPI. FPI has proven to be untrustworthy and has
fought industry every step of the way. Most recently with the passing of
the provision in the 2004 Defense Authorization bill in Congress
climinating FPI’s solc source status for one year, FPI continues to fight
and has proven once again that it does not respect our system. S. 346 is

strong medicine and FP1 today is a patient in need of it.

The Coalition considers S. 346 to be the representation of an cffort to
create a fair government procurement process while improving the prison
rehabilitation and training program. While federal agencies are considered
to be the prime customer of FPT, the process is lacking the benefits of fair
market iriteraction and, in turn, improved value dependent upon the
presence of competition. We support Senator Levin and the Congressional
authors of this legislation who have sought to improve the quality of
product and value of service to the federal customer, while at the same
time encouraging continued training and education that is necessary to

assure that paroled offenders do not return to lives of crime.

Both industry and the federal government benefit from fair competition
based on price, quality, and performance. To be truly reformed, FPI must
compete with the private sector. While this would require FPI to improve
its QUality and customer service, it would greatly improve the value
received by the federal government and will ultimately help FPI while

providing a procurement policy that is fair for the taxpayer.



205

QOver the past twenty-five years, the Coalition has had significant
experience working on issues related to FPI directly as well as through
furniture company members, and cach instance revealed procedural and
methodological problems that are systemic in nature and require
fundamental lcgislative reform such as S. 346 can produce. In order to
thoroughly reform FPL, Congress must eliminate the mandatory source and

require FPI to compete with the private sector.

FPTmust not be given sole power to control the market, to choose
federal winners and losers in for the rest of society is a competitive world
of success or ultimate failure. It is in the hands of FPI's Board of Directors
to approve products and services for the Federal market, but it is in the
hands of Congress to improve the procedures by which the Board does so,

and it is tme for Congress to step in.

In the House of Representatives joint Subcommittee hearing last spring,
FPI senior officials stated that they did not fear losing their sole source
status, that they had faith in their organization and believed they would be

able to compete without fail. Now is the time to give FPI that opportunity.

In fact, FPT has proven this itself that losing sole source status will not
definitely lead to demise. A few years ago, FPI's dormitory furniture sales
were changed from sole-source status to competition, and instead of going
under as FPI's leading proponents would express it would have, dormitory
sales flourished. FP1 can withstand competition when run ethically,

morally. and when forced to step up to the competition.

Opﬁbnents of S. 346 stress the fact that ending FPI's sole source status has
the potential of ending inmate training and lowering work rates, yet FP1
sells products branded as “Prison made” that never see the inside of a

prison. While this may make for profitable business, and is similar to
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private practices, this policy does nothing to increase inmate employment
and should be prohibited. FPI needs to place a limit on the amount of work
contracted to non-FPI sources, thereby protecting the work of inmates,
even as they compete in the Federal market. Repeatedly, FPI has admitted
that it uses “pass-through sales” to fill some of the orders that its takes
from its federal customers. Although FPI has stated that such sales are
contrary to its mission and not in its best interests, FPI’s discrétion to fill
orders from Federal customers with goods made entirely by non-prison
labor is unlimited. The casc of those opposing this legislation is founded
on the fact that thousands of inmates will be out of work. Coalition
contention is that FPI sales could actually be reduced, lessening their

private sector input, while increasing inmate employment.

The Federal prison system and federal government procurement has
changed a great deal since FPI was created in 1935. While the need to
have new ways to reduce inmate idleness has grown with the inmate
population, so has the manner in which FPI has been permitted to deny
legitimate private companies from competing to supply goods and services
to the federal government. Before granting FPI new opportunities to
compete unfairly with private firms, Congress must fundamentally reform

FPI’s abusive authorities in the federal market.

The Coalition believes that S. 346 deserves this long-awaited opportunity
for consideration in the Senate. FPI has fought reform every step of the
way vet its business continues to grow. FPI's consistent inability to
ackunowledge existing law is a growing concern, and 1o further postpone
what is fair and just for the agencies, the taxpayer, the prisoner, and the
process as a whole would in the end be increasingly costly for all

involved.

The Coalition supports Senator Levin’s Senate bill 346 and appreciates the
opportunity to comment. 1f we can be of assistance, please contact

Kathryn Coulter, Director of Policy, at 202-331-0975.
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NATIONAL CORRECTIONAL INDUSTRIES ASSOCIATION, INC.
1202 North Charles St. *  Baltimore, MD 21201 *  (410)230-3972 *  Fax (410) 230-3981

April 16, 2004

The Honorable Peter G. Fitzgerald

Chairman

Senate Governmental Affairs Subcommittee on Financial
Management, the Budget and International Security

446 Senate Hart Building

‘Washington, DC 20510

Dear Chairman Fitzgerald,

Thank you for affording us the opportunity to submit written testimony for the record with regard to
S. 346 — the Office of Federal Procurement Policy Act — sponsored by Senators Levin and Thomas.
As we have expressed, S. 346 poses a serious danger to the future safe management of our nation’s
state and federal correctional facilities, and compromises our ability to support the successful
reentry of offenders.

Mr. Chairman, we understand that the sponsors of S. 346 want you to poll the subcommittee
on the bill as soon as possible. As you know, the General Accounting Office (GAO) will be
releasing its study on April 30, 2004, of the 2002 and 2003 Department of Defense
Appropriations Act provisions restricting Federal Prison Industries’ mandatory preference.
We respectfully request that you not take further action on S. 346. A reasonable amount of
time needs to be allowed for a thorough review of the GAO report — at a minimum, 30 days.

The hearing that you conducted in the Senate Governmental Affairs Subcommittee on Financial
Managerent, the Budget and International Security was a step in the right direction toward
educating Senators on the potential negative impacts of the bill. It was unfortunate that a witness
speaking specifically to the issues from the states’ perspective was not at the table to answer the
Senators questions in person. We hope that the written testimonies that have been submitted for the
record will be carefully reviewed before any further action on S. 346 is considered.

Passage into law of S. 346 would create a number of unintended, but nevertheless, serious
consequences for state corrections systems, as well as hurt the Federal Bureau of Prisons. Negative
impacts include the following:
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v Serious threats to the safety and stability of state and federal prisons and the communities
where they are located due to forced inmate idleness caused by a reduction in industry
assignments.

v" Unfunded mandate placed on states — by the abrogation of thousands of existing service

industry contracts between state corrections systems and their vendors and suppliers, thus

resulting in costly legal fees and the need for states to pay for alterative programming to
offset the risk of idleness.

Negative fiscal impacts on state correctional budgets.

Unnecessary termination of thousands of private sector and inmate jobs.

Destruction of the only self-funded reentry program in our correctional facilities - an action

that would be counterproductive to President Bush’s commitment to supporting reentry.

AN NN

We hope that regardless of your position on S. 346, you will agree that it is only appropriate that
Senators understand the GAO findings before taking further action on S. 346. In light of the report
findings, an additional hearing may need to be conducted on S. 346. Should an additional hearing
be conducted, we would appreciate the opportunity to provide a witness who could adequately
address the states’ perspective on the detrimental effects of S. 346.

Thank you for using your considerable influence to delay passage of S. 346 until its impact on state
corrections systems is fully examined and clearly understood, and until the findings of the
upcoming GAO report have been thoroughly reviewed.

Please contact me at 410-230-3972, or 410-961-0373 should you have any questions.

Sincerely,

Gwyn Smith Ingley
Executive Director
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STATEMENT FOR THE RECORD
CONTRACT SERVICES ASSOCIATION OF AMERICA

Senate Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget,
and International Security Hearing

S. 346, the “Federal Prison Industries Reform Act of 2003”
April 7, 2004

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, the Contract Services Association
of America (CSA) requests that this statement be included in the official record for your
April 70 hearing on “Federal Prison Industries Reform Act of 2003” (S. 346.) CSAis
the nation’s oldest and largest association of service contractors, and represents more
than 300 companies that provide a wide array of services to Federal, state, and local
governments. Qur members are involved in everything from maintenance contracts at
military bases and within civilian agencies to high technology services, such as scientific
research and engineeting studies. Many of our members are small businesses, including
8(a)-certified companies, small disadvantaged businesses, women-owned, HUBZone, and
Native American owned firms. Our goal is to put the private sector to work for the public
good.

We have worked closely with private sector labor unions, the U.S. Chamber of
Commerce and other associations and individual companies to work on an equitable
resolution of the problems that the Federal Prison Industries (FPI) has caused for many
companies, especially the small businesses of this Nation.  As we have noted in the past,
while the goals of FPI are laudable, the manner in which it has aggressively pushed itself
into the Federal marketplace — and many legitimate businesses out of that same market — is
not.

Background

The history of FPLis well known. It was created in 1934 to employ Federal
prisoners to manufacture products exclusively for all Federal agencies. But, as a
mandatory source of supply, FPI has a virtual lock on the Federal market — putting the
rights of felons’ above the need for the Government to get the best value for its tax
doilars, and above the rights of hardworking law abiding citizens.

How does this mandatory source status work? Current law and regulation
obligates a Federal agency to look first to FPI to fulfill its requirements for a product —
and to negotiate a contract with FPI on a sole source basis. The final determination of
the price to be paid for its products is left to FPI - not to the Federal manager. The only
way around buying from the prisons is for an agency to request a waiver from FPI itself,
which controls both the waiver and appeals process. This process ties the hands of
Federal managers on FPI designated items. The mandatory source requirement is
completely contrary to normally requited competitive procurement practices for
Government contracting as well as overall Govemment policy, which states that “/n the
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process of governing, the Government should not compete with its citizens. The
competitive enterprise system, characterized by individual freedom and initiative, is the
primary source of national economic strength. ' (Section 4, 1996 Revised Office of
Management Budget Circular A-76). It is also contrary to the bi-partisan efforts of the
last several years to encourage greater commercial practices in how the Federal
government conducts its business. These reform initiatives (e.g., the 1994 Federal
Acquisition Streamlining Act, the 1996 Clinger-Cohen Act and the FAR Part 15 rewrite)
require Federal agencies to conduct market research, have informal discussions with
industry, and take steps to assist agencies in identifying their needs. Acquisition reform,
with its emphasis on best value, also has led to more performance based contracting, the
issuance of more refined statements of work, a reduction in procurement lead times, and
an improvement in quality control.

Of course, FPI claims it can provide products of equal or better quality than the
private sector, make deliveries as promptly as the private sector, and sell some products
at a lower price than the private sector thereby saving taxpayer dollars. But these
statements are not true. That is why FPI fights so hard to keep its “super preference” that
allows it to force out the private sector and prevent companies from bidding on contracts.

Indeed, contrary to FPI’s assertions, the General Accounting Office (GAO)
reported in April 1998 that the Federal Prison Industries cannot back-up its frequent
claims about being a quality supplier to Federal agencies, furnishing products that meet
their needs in terms of quality, price, and timeliness of delivery. Once FPI commandeers
a product, it erodes, displaces, or eliminates private sector competition, thus opening the
door for it to raise its future prices.

FP1 has an additional unfair advantage over the private sector. It need not comply
with the laws and regulations imposed on the private sector such as those governing
minimum wage rates, retirement and other fringe benefits, insurance costs, and
compliance with OSHA requirements. And, according to the General Accounting Office,
the cost of prison labor ranges from .25 cents to $1.23 per hour.

Unfair Expansion into Services Contracting

So far, these comments have focused on FPI’s mandatory source in the
manufacturing arena. So why should the Contract Services Association of America
(CSA) and its members care about FPI's impact in the manufacturing world? CSA has
entered the discussion because FPI sees services as ripe for aggressive expansion. While
the authorizing statute is silent with respect to services, FPI already is involved in
numerous service-related activities including laundry services, distribution and mailing
services, data services, and telephone support services.

While the mandatory source requirement does not strictly apply to services, FPI
has implied that it is a “preferential source™ for services and used this to enter into sole
source contracts with Federal agencies for services. Unfortunately, the approval process
and the requirement for an adverse market impact study that affords some coverage for
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private sector manufacturers are not applied to services. Furthermore, FPI does NOT have
to pay any competitive wages to prisoners. As was noted earlier, this ensures they have an
advantage over service companies that must comply with the Service Contract Act and
other labor laws and regulations.

1t would appear that congressional authorization, along with the necessary
protections, must be given before the FPI could ever contemplate becoming a services
provider for Federal agencies. However, CSA does not advocate this — because our
members do not believe the FPI should be allowed to enter the services marketplace at all.

The FPI’s expansion into services contracting is particularly critical as the Federal
government progresses towards greater competitive sourcing of its commercial activities.
CSA is concerned about previous statements made by FPI to become the “first-stop” for
Federal agencies when they decide to contract out those commercial activities currently
being performed by Federal employees.

There is an ever-increasing appreciation of the many benefits offered by thoughtful
and balanced efforts to competitively source the Federal government’s commercial
activities. For example, the Federal Activities Inventory Reform (FAIR) Act is aimed at
promoting competition of commercial activities currently being performed by Federal
agencies, where doing so represents the best value to the taxpayer. But supporters of the
FAIR Act, such as CSA, did NOT work hard to get that measure enacted only to see these
commercial activities turned over — without competition — to FP1L.

Turning over commercial activities to FPI without competition raises a very
fundamental faimess question. Part of the debate over competitive sourcing focuses on
developing fair and appropriate “soft landing” policies to those Federal employees who are
impacted by an outsourcing decision by giving those Federal employees a right of first
refusal for jobs for which they are qualified, as well as other benefits. Indeed, the
percentage of Federal employees offered a position with a private sector firm taking over a
commercial activity is high. But there would be no soft landing or right of first refusal for a
Federal employece whose job would be going to FP1. For that matter, how does any
employer (private or Federal) explain to his/her employees that FP1 is taking over the
manufacturing of a product or the provision of a service that the employees have been
performing in order to give jobs to criminals? What will happen to the people who lost
their jobs to prisoners? Must they commit a crime to get their job back?

Unauthorized Expansion into Commercial Market

Equally disturbing is FPI's intent to expand into the commercial marketplace.
This is an alarming development that should be opposed for at least three reasons. Furst,
FPI’s attempts to expand into the commercial market 1s in conflict with the clear
language of FPI’s enabling legislation. Second, it is a reversal of more than sixty years of
public policy. Finally, the creation of a state run enterprise, competing with its own
citizens, is a policy at odds with the role of Government in a free society.

(93]
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FPI’s decision to expand into the commercial market was based on a series of
internal Justice Department legal ‘opinions.” which found that expansion into the
commercial market is not in conflict with FPI's enabling legislation. In a memo dated
November 11, 1997, FPI concludes, “it is not prohibited from selling services on the open
market.” According to FPI’s reasoning, because congressional debate on this provision
focused mainly on products that the Congress did not intend to prohibit FPI from entering
the commercial services market. The opinion gives only cursory treatment to 18 U.S.C.
section 4122(a), which states:

18 U.S.C. 4122(a): Administration of Federal Prison Industries

Federal Prison Industries shall determine in what manner and to what extent

industrial operations shall be carried on in Federal penal and correctional

institutions for the production of commodities for consumption in such
institutions or for sale to the departments or agencies of the United States, but
not for sale to the public in competition with private enterprise.

Since its inception in 1934, FPI has adhered to this statutory prohibition
preventing it from entering commercial markets. It has exclusively, and with preferential
status, sold its products to the Federal government. In other words, for more than sixty
vears, FPI has interpreted its statute to mean what it says, "but not for sale to the public
in competition with the private sector.”

Now, based on an internal memorandum, FP1 is attempting to overturn sixty years of
policy, without public debate. If FPI pursues this avenue without restriction, the United
States now will be selling commercial services in competition with law abiding taxpaying
businesses, using prison labor that is often paid less than a dollar an hour. The creation of a
state run enterprise, using prison labor to offer products or services to the commercial
market in competition with private enterprise is a dramatic shift in policy, and in conflict
with the clear language of 18 U.S.C. 4122(a). However, there are absolutely no
circumstances that would warrant the Federal government using prison labor to compete
with law-abiding employers. Therefore, CSA strongly urges you to not allow FPI to sell its
products or services to the commercial market.

Federal Agencies Actions

The Department of Defense (DOD) was the first Federal agency to receive relief
from unfair competition from FPI. Section 811 of the Fiscal Year 2002 Defense
Authorization Act requires the DOD to conduct market research before purchasing
products which are listed in the catalog for the Federal Prison Industries (FPI), to
determine whether the FPI product is comparable in price, quality and time of delivery to
products available in the private sector. If the FPI product is not comparable, DOD must
use competitive procedures to acquire the product - and NO waiver (from FPI) is
required should DOD determine FP is not comparable. The determination of
comparability is “a unilateral decision mude solely at the discretion of the department or
agency” (e.g., the Department, Service or defense agency). Furthermore, the
comparability determination is based on whether FPI can provide the product on the basis
of price, quality AND time of delivery. Additional clarifying language (section 810) was
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included in the conference report for the Fiscal Year 2003 Defense Authorization Act. A
final rule to implement this provision was published in the Defense Federal Acquisition
Regulation Supplement (DFARS) on November 14, 2003.

Similar relief was given to all Federal contracting officers by section 637 of
division F Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2004, (P. L. 108-199); an interim final rule
was published in the Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR) on March 26, 2004,

These FPI reform provisions ensure that contracting offices across all Federal
agencies have the freedom to explore the market for products to determine if FPI's
pricing is reasonable and compares in terms of cost and quality to the private sector.
Thus, these are critical acquisition reform initiatives (including market research) for FP1
- and this authority should be extended on a Government-wide basis to ALL Federal
agencies.

If FPI is to become a vehicle for reducing idleness and preparing inmates for the
private sector, it should prepare those inmates for the reality of the competitive pressures
faced by real life employers and employees, and the need to respond to, rather than dictate,
customer needs.

Past Performance

In late August 2003, the Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR) Council issued a
proposed rule to expand the use of past performance evaluation requirements to Federal
Prison Industries (FPI) contracts, CSA submitted comments in support of the proposed
rule.

The proposed rule is a step towards reform, although questions remain on
reconciling its mandatory source status with any past performance evaluations it may
receive. The proposed rule would amend the FAR to empower Federal contracting
officers to evaluate FPI's performance of its contracts, as is done for all other
Government contractors. Currently, FPI's past performance {good or bad) cannot be
evaluated — and since FPI is a mandatory source, past performance evaluations have been
irrelevant.  This discrepancy needs to be addressed.

CSA believes that FPI should be held to the same standards as private sector
vendors, and that past performance records should have the same impact on contracting
decisions with FPI as they do with private sector vendors, where a contractor’s past
performance 1s a factor, often a significant factor, in source selections. In FY 2001, FPI
was ranked as the 39" largest Government contractor, with total sales of $582.5 million.
Given the high dollar volume of revenue generated each year and the number of contracts
entered into by Federal agencies with FPI, it is only fair and equitable that contracting
officers should have access to FPI's past performance records. Considering that the
General Accounting Office (GAQ) has reported that FPI cannot back-up its frequent
claims about being a quality supplier to Federal agencies ~ furnishing products that meet
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their needs in terms of quality, price, and timeliness of delivery — contracting officers
need to be given the full story.

Vocational Training

Certainly, CSA does recognize that the FPI must balance two legitimate needs
currently defined in the law:

1) The need to provide work opportunities to help combat idieness and recurrence of
law-breaking through the TRAINING of prisoners for gainful employment so they
may become productive members of society upon their release from prison; and

2) The need to minimize the effect of the FPI's work program on the private sector
and its non-inmate employees.

However, these goals are not being met. A number of individuals have testified at various
hearings that the FPI’s current operations fail at inmate rehabilitation while hurting
businesses and non-inmate workers. The inmate workers of FPI are not receiving the
vocational training that will prepare them for jobs upon release. Instead, their work
experiences with the FPI only teach very basic skills, CSA believes believe that vocational
skills training is extremely important to a prisoner’s future once he/she has returned to the
“real world.” Yet, such training does not appear to have a place within the FPL

Conclusion

FPI’s mandatory source requirement has been particularly detrimental to our
nation’s small businesses. Recognizing this, a key recommendation at the 1995 White
House Conference on Small Business was that Government mandatory sources be
curtailed from competing unfairly with small private sector firms. It is time to act on
these recommendations.

That is why CSA and its members support a common-sense proposal introduced
by Senators Craig Thomas (R-WY) and Carl Levin (D-MI). S. 346 would require FPI to
be a more responsible supplier to Federal agencies and the taxpayer, and would allow the
private sector to compete fairly with FPI for Federal contracts by eliminating the
requirement that Government agencies purchase products from FP1. Recently, the U.S.
House of Representatives passed overwhelmingly the “Federal Prison Industries
Competition in Contracting Act ot 2003 (H.R. 1829) by a vote of 350-65. The time is
now for Congress to make these provisions permanent by passing S. 346.

As the association that represents the broadest sector of service companies, CSA
believes that both industry and the Government benefit from fair competition based on the
price and quality of the product or service in question. CSA looks forward to working with
you to promote that goal.
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Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee, | appreciate the
opportunity to submit this Statement as President/CEO of the Textile Rental
Service Association of America (TR8A). Since 1913, TRSA members have
provided textile maintenance and rental services to commercial, industrial and
institutional accounts — over 90 percent of TRSA member companies are small
businesses. TRSA members serve hygienically clean textile items to millions of
customers in commerce, industry, and other professions. Major customers of
most uniform and linen supply services and commercial launderers include:
automobile service and repair facilities, food processing companies,
pharmaceutical manufacturers and other manufacturing facilities; hotels,
restaurants, hospitals, nursing homes, doctors’ and dentists' offices and clinics;
retail stores and supermarkets; and a variety of other industrial and service
companies. The combined textile rental industry had an estimated 2002 sales of
about $10.9 billion. Linen supply and industrial laundering companies employ
more than 110,000 people.

TRSA strongly supports S. 346, a bill to amend the Office of Federal
Procurement Policy Act to establish a governmentwide policy requiring
competition in certain executive agency procurements, which is designed to
protect workers and businesses from unfair competition from the Federal Prison
Industries, inc. (FPI)—a Government owned corporation. The language included
in this bill would require FPl to be a more responsible supplier to federal
agencies and the taxpayer, and would allow the private sector to compete fairly
with FPI for federal contracts by eliminating the requirement that government
agencies purchase products from FPi. Similar reform measures were enacted as
part of the FY'02-03 Department of Defense Authorization bills and as part of the
FY'04 Transportation-Treasury Appropriations bill, which allows the contracting
officer, rather than FPI, to choose the best possible supplier to meet its needs.
The time is now for Congress to make these provisions permanent by passing S.
346.
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Sen. Levin's proposed legislation enjoys broad bipartisan support of the
Competition in Contracting Coalition, made up of business, labor, and federal
managers who are actively seeking a level playing field with FPI to ensure a fair

and efficient federal procurement process.

TRSA urges the subcommittee to ensure that S. 346 or any similar
legislation will include a strong provision regarding services. The textile rental
services industry is concerned with FPI's assertion that it possesses the authority
to sell services in the commercial market, without limitation. FPl's position is
based on a questionable 1998 Department of Justice (DOJ) determination that
inmate-furnished services provided by FPI are not explicitly prohibited by the
broadly applicable 1934 statutory prohibition on the sale of the results of inmate-
labor in interstate commerce. The statute specifically includes a prohibition on
the sale of inmate-produced goods/products, but makes no specific mention of
services. As such, FPI| has aggressively marketed services in the commercial
market since 1998, reversing 64 years of practice. Without strong Congressional
action, FPI will precede full throttle into these small-business dominated service

sectors.

FPl enjoys significant advantages in any competition with small
businesses in the private sector. FPl pays inmates less than two dollars per
hour, far below the minimum wage and a small fraction of the wage paid to most
private sector workers in competing industries. While damaging to all
husinesses, the effects of government subsidized competition is particularly

harmful to small businesses.

| urge your careful consideration of any legislative proposals such as
S. 346.

Thank you for your consideration.
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Thank you for the opportunity to present the views of UNITE. On behalf
of the 250,000 members of UNITE, we urge you this subcommittee to support S.
346, a bill to amend the Office of Federal Procurement Policy Act to establish a
government-wide policy requiring competition in executive agency procurements.
We believe procurement policy should be reformed to allow federal agencies to
choose freely between private sector suppliers and Federal Prison Industries, so
that they can make contracting choices that best serve the interests of the end

users and the American taxpayers.

UNITE is the largest union of garment and textile workers in North
America. Our members in the apparel and textile industry, and the companies
for whom they work, have had to bear the disproportionate burden of unfair
competition from the Federal Prison Industry complex. Under current law, FPI
receives preferential status in government procurement, which requires federal
agencies to buy only from FPI, rather than using a competitive purchasing
process. The private sector is not even given consideration unless an agency
asks for an exemption from FPI's monopoly. Our members have been and
continue to be adversely affected by this preferential status; more than 24% of
FPI sales are in the apparel and textile industry. FPI directly competes with free
labor for the small amount of apparel and textile work that still remains in the
United States. We at UNITE wholeheartedly believe that the Federal Prison

Industries should not be in the business of putting law abiding American workers
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out of work. That is why we strongly support this measure to allow for private

sector competition with FPL.

We believe that FPI dominance in the area of federal procurement of
apparel goods is a direct threat to the welfare and economic viability of apparel
workers and their communities. Despite the onslaught of low-wage offshore
labor in the apparel industry, there remain approximately 400,000 apparel jobs in
the United States. Many of the factories that produce for the U.S. government
are factories in small towns in rural America where the loss of factory jobs can
deal a deathblow to a whole community. One of the important remaining
opportunities for the existence of a domestic apparel industry is production for
the federal government. The Berry amendment requires that uniforms and other
apparel be produced domestically. Therefore, every garment produced in a
factory prison is production removed from a U.S. factory. There is no way
around the fact that, in the military uniform sector, prison production directly

destroys U.S. jobs.

1t is particularly galling that one of the justifications used to support
prison industry programs is that prisoners receive on-the-job training that can
prepare them for employment upon their release into society. Prisoners trained
to manufacture clothing will find themselves, upon release, competing for work

with hundreds of thousands of unemployed and laid-off garment and textile
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workers who have lost their jobs as a result of imports, and in many cases, as a

result of unfair competition from federal prisoners.

UNITE believes, of course, that there are legitimate and important reasons
to have vocational programs inside prisons — to occupy prisoners and keep the
peace inside prisons, and to enable prisoners to have real work experience.

UNITE shares the view of the AFL-CIO and its other affiliates that training
opportunities should be provided for prisoners to help in their rehabilitation, and
to reduce recidivism. However, the creation of just any type of work activity,
without any regard for the future employability of the prisoners upon their
release to society, and expropriating economic activity that could create jobs for

law-abiding citizens, seems on its face to be perverse public policy.

In fact, the policy impetus behind the Berry amendment is to provide for a
“warm industrial base” of manufacturers that can supply our armed services with
the uniforms and other equipment that they need, including in times of war and
emergencies. But all the production that the government gives to Federal Prison
Industries instead of to the private sector severely weakens the industrial base of
companies that can supply protective uniforms and apparel, and limits the

military's options for reliable “surge” production and supply in times of crisis.
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Furthermore, private sector manufacturers have shown that in many cases
they can compete with and improve upon the quality, delivery and price offered
by Federal Prison Industries. UNITE members and their employers are highly
skilled and make great garments. These companies should be given the chance
to offer a better deal to government agencies, and the agencies should be given
the chance to solicit those offers and select the best option available without
being restricted to FP1. FPI's monopoly creates disincentives for FPI to improve

its quality, delivery and price.

S. 346 is a strong step in the right direction. This broad bipartisan
legislation has the support of the Competition in Contracting Coalition, which is
made up of business, labor, and federal managers, which is actively seeking a
level playing field with Federal Prison Industries to ensure a fair and efficient
federal procurement process. The language included in this bill would require
FPI to be a more responsible supplier to federal agencies and the taxpayer, and
would allow the private sector to compete fairly with FPI for federal contracts by
eliminating the requirement that government agencies purchase products from
FPI. Similar reform measures were enacted as part of the FY'02-03 Department
of Defense Authorization bills and as part of the FY'04 Transportation-Treasury
Appropriations bill, which allows the contracting officer, rather than FPI, to
choose the best possible supplier to meet its needs. The time is now for

Congress to make these provisions permanent by passing S. 346.
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Your colleagues in the House passed an FPI reform bill (H.R. 1829) last
year by an overwhelming 350-65 margin. We would appreciate your help and
support in moving S. 346 through the Committee favorably so that we can get
this important bill to the floor before the summer recess. This legislation would
give garment manufacturers and workers much-needed opportunities to compete
for business with the federal government. It would signal to our members that
they do not need to get themselves sent to prison in order to keep their jobs
making clothing. And it would give federal agencies more and better contracting

choices, and a more stable industrial base. Thank you.
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Peter G. Fitzgerald, Chairman Senator Daniel Akaka

Subcommittee on Financial Management ~ Ranking Minority Member

Senate Government Affairs Committee Senate Government Affairs Committee
Washington, D.C. 20510 Washington, D.C. 20510

Dear Chairman Fitzgerald and Ranking Member Akaka:

On behalf of the more that 13 million members of the AFL-CIO and its affiliated unions,
Turge you to support S. 346, the Federal Prison Industries Reform Act.

The AFL-CIO has a longstanding policy of supporting efforts to provide training
opportunities for prisoners to help in their rehabilitation and 10 reduce recidivism. We have
cautioned, however, that prisoners should never be used in competition with or to replace non-
inmate labor. We believe S. 346 provides much-needed reform to the Federal Prisor: Industries
(FPI) program. It would require federal agencies to notify both FPI and private sector vendors of
their particular product needs, and then to select the best proposal based on price, quality and time
of delivery.

The bill also includes a “safety valve” to protect the safety of prison guards by granting
special authority to the U.S. Attomey General to award 2 contract to FPI if losing the partticular
prison work would endanger the safe and effective administration of a prison facility. In additon,
we urge the committee to include in S. 346 the House-passed amendment to H.R. 1829 that would
make vocational training, practical remedial education, and not-for-profit work more widely
available to inmates.

Sincerel

1lliam Samuel, Director
DEPARTMENT OF LEGISLATION

c:  All members of the Subcommittee on Financial Managsment
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STATEMENT FOR THE RECORD

OF DELCO REMY INTERNATIONAL, INC.

We appreciate the opportunity to submit a written statement for the record regarding
Delco Remy International’s correctional industries program as it pertains to Section 3 of
Senate Bill 346, “To Amend the Office of Federal Procurement Policy Act to establish a
government-wide policy requiring competition in certain executive agency procurements,
and for other purposes.”

Delco Remy is one of the leading manufacturers and refurbishers of automotive
components in the world. Integrating correctional industries along with a variety of lean
industrial engineering initiatives has enabled Delco Remy International to survive in a
highly competitive global marketplace—a marketplace that has not only slashed Delco
Remy’s sales prices but has resulted in the insolvency of many of Delco Remy’s
competitors during the past decade.

Delco Remy Intetnational respectfully submits that Section 3 of S. 346 (Federal Prison
Industries Reform Act) pertaining to the prohibition of service agreements should be
deleted. If service agreements were prohibited, Delco Remy — which currently has
three such agreements in South Carolina and Virginia - would be forced to pay
offenders the higher of minimum wage or the prevailing wage for the area in which
such jobs are located. This is tantamount to compelling Delco Remy to move these
operations abroad. In today’s global economy, there simply is no way in which Delco
Remy can competitively price its products without the use of low-cost labor. Many
major companies are in the process of moving a portion of their operations abroad; some
have moved their entire operations to foreign countries.

We live and work in a different world now, and it has forced us to look to countries with
lower labor costs, as we are continually pressured by our customer base to reduce costs in
the products that we produce and refurbish. Through the use of correctional services,
Delco Remy has been able to preserve over 1,100 civilian jobs in Virginia and South
Carolina. With a total of nearly 3,000 civilian employees in the United States, Delco
Remy continues to maintain a strong presence in this country; correctional industries is
oue of many initiatives exercised to maintain this presence and to ensure the company
survives intense competition from abroad.

Delco Remy is committed to employing American workers. Using service agreements
with correctional institutions helps ensure that Delco Remy can keep both civilian and
inmate jobs here in the United States, and provides significant work experience to
participating inmates that helps reduce recidivism once they are released from
confinement.

Delco Remy’s South Carolina Correctional Industries Program

Delco Remy’s agreement with the South Carolina Department of Corrections has
provided 125 jobs for inmates, and prevented the relocation of 500 civilian jobs to
Mexico. The State of South Carolina receives $923,000 annually in Delco Remy
payments as well.




226

In 1997, our transmission servicing operation in Summerville, South Carolina was
considering relocating its factory to Mexico in response to increasing cost-cutting
pressures from its customs. At about the same time, we were approached by the South
Carolina Department of Corrections who offered us the opportunity to relocate some of
our work processes from our civilian factory in Summerville to a correctional facility in
Leiber, South Carolina. We constructed a factory building within the correctional facility
at our own expense and commenced production in September, 1998. Our $2,000,000
investment in constructing a building and purchasing equipment & machinery preserved
the civilian factory of 500 employees in Summerville and no one was laid off as a result
of this. The role of this factory was, and continues to be, to disassemble and clean
transmissions to be reassembled in the civilian factory in Summerville, South Carolina.
The factory in Leiber Correctional Institution has enabled us to compete with foreign
labor.

The services agreement with the South Carolina Department of Corrections ensures that
we can keep both civilian and offender jobs within the United States. Delco Remy pays
$4.00 per offender hour to the State, and the State pays between 35 cents to $1.10 per
hour to the offender workers (the difference between what we pay and amount the
offenders receive is used to help fund a program for victim restitution as well as help pay
the cost of operating the correctional institution). Because of challenges unique to
operating a factory in correctional facility (versus a civilian factory), Delco Remy utilizes
more offenders for jobs in the correctional facility operations than it would ordinarily
require in its civilian factories and, therefore, to ensure financial viability of the program,
the offenders are paid a sub-minimum wage. It is not uncommon to have “lockdowns”
within the entire correctional facility, causing us to lose productivity for several days at a
time. If there is a heavy fog, offenders are not released from their dormitories to work.
Offenders are frequently transferred from our correctional facility to other correctional
facilities with little or no notice, causing a disruption to our operations. Many of the
offenders at Leiber suffer medical problems that require special accommodation through
frequent medical treatment. Moving product in and out of the correctional facility is a
very time-consuming procedure with costly delays. Contractors charge us a premium to
service our equipment and machinery because of delays to enter and exit the factory
within the walls of the correctional institution. With the significant inefficiencies
inherent in a correctional industries environment, it is most difficult for a “for-profit”
company to develop a business case for operating a factory within a correctional facility.
A sub-minimum wage, as afforded by service agreements, enables correctional industries
to be competitive with foreign labor and, as such, Delco Remy has repatriated work from
China and Malaysia to the United States.

If S. 346 were to pass with the prohibition of service agreements, South Carolina would
lose not only $923,000 annually in additional revenues through Delco Remy’s payments
for offender labor, but it would also lose 111 inmate jobs that would be relocated to San
Luis Potosi, Mexico; these offenders would once again be dependent on receiving monies
from home, causing a hardship for many of these families who are often already
struggling to “make ends meet.” The absence of these jobs would also increase the
likelihood of disruptions in the correctional facility as gainful employment not only
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teaches the offenders new skills but keeps them busy most of the day, providing a safer
environment for correctional officers and civilian workers within the correctional facility.
As a matter of policy, Delco Remy offers jobs in our civilian factories to any interested
ex-offenders who successfully worked in our correctional industries programs.

Delco Remy’s Virginia Correctional Industries Program

Delco Remy’s agreement with the Virginia Department of Corrections and Federal Prison

Industries has provided 430 jobs for inmates in Virginia {230 offenders with the state and

190 offenders with Federal Prison Industries). The Commonwealth of Virginia receives

$1,732,224 annually in Delco Remy payments, and Federal Prison Industries receives
1,422,720 annually.

Since opening a factory in Leiber Correctional Facility in South Carolina, Delco Remy
has opened refurbishment factories in a state correctional facility in Culpeper, Virginia
and a federal correctional facility in Petersburg, Virginia. The Petersburg and Culpeper
operations are worthy substitutes for our traditional production model of having low-
variety, high-volume production capacity in low-labor-cost countries while maintaining
high-variety, low volume production in the United States. Again, these operations were
initiated with the understanding that civilian workers would not be displaced by such
operations. For the Culpeper operation, Delco Remy pays $3.47 per offender hour to
Virginia, and Virginia pays either 65 cents or $1.25 (depending on length of service) per
hour to the offender workers. For the Petersburg operation, Delco Remy pays $3.60 per
offender hour to Federal Prison Industries and Federal Prison Industries pays either 65
cents or $1.25 (depending on length of service) per hour to the offender workers.

As is the case with our South Carolina correctional industries operation, if service
agreements were to be prohibited, we would be required to close both correctional facility
operations in Virginia, and these jobs would be relocated to existing operations in San
Luis Potosi, Mexico and/or Xiamen, China, resulting in the loss of 430 offender jobs in
Virginia.

In addition, through our service agreements with the Virginia Department of Corrections
and Federal Prison Industries, we currently pay $1,732,224 annually to the
Commonwealth of Virginia and $1,422,720 to Federal Prison Industries for offender
workers. These revenues would disappear if service agreements were to be prohibited.

Why Delco Remy’s Correctional Institutional Programs Work

1. Service agreements with correctional facilities add jobs for American civilian
citizens, and prevent the relocation of these jobs to other countries.

As described above, our correctional facility operations actually add jobs, rather than
displace American workers. Our contracts with the State of South Carolina, the
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Commonwealth of Virginia and Federal Prison Industries state that civilian workers shall
not be displaced by the activities we place in the correctional facility operations. In
addition, when we service products in correctional facilities we tend to source a majority
of our component parts from U.S.-based vendors. Since beginning our correctional
industries programs, we have added 99 civilian jobs in Virginia and in South Carolina.

Moreover, the location of these jobs in the United States helps ensure that related parts
and support services foster activity in both local and national economy. The competitive
realities of today’s automotive parts manufacturing and refurbishment world is that this is
work that would otherwise be performed, as much of it currently is, in Mexico and Asia.
Like our competitors, much of our refurbishment of parts is done so abroad. And when
these products are serviced in Mexico and China, a majority of the component parts and
materials used in the servicing process are procured from vendors in these countries.
Therefore, servicing our products in U.S. correctional facilities is much better for the U.S.
economy and the U.S. job market than servicing them in Mexico or China. IfS. 346
becomes law without deletion of Section 3, it will most certainly result in the loss of U.S.
jobs.

2. Since any of Delco Remy’s competitors can enter into service agreements
with correctional facilities, these agreements are well within the realm of fair
competition.

U.S. companies, including our competitors, are flocking to develop operations in Mexico
and Asia. Some of them also have operations in correctional facilities. Both small and
large businesses can participate in correctional industries with service agreements and, in
fact, most companies that have operations within correctional facilities are small
businesses.

In Virginia, there are over 30,000 offenders incarcerated at any one time and there are
over 2,000,000 people incarcerated nationwide. Delco Remy employs a total of 351
offenders in its state correctional operations and 190 offenders in its federal correctional
operation, leaving hundreds of thousands of offenders seeking gainful work. Any of our
competitors who are not currently using offender labor have the same opportunity to use
it as we do. (Recently, one competitor ceased using correctional industries labor because
they secured lower costs by relocating to Mexico.)

3. Delco Remy’s program of emploeying offenders provides them with valuable
work experience and reduces recidivism.

Since 94% of all those incarcerated will eventually be released into society, work
experience assists our correctional institutions in preparing offenders for a stable
transition into society. According to some studies, work experience can reduce
recidivism by up to 60% (Pride Enterprises of Florida). Most offenders learn what it
means to “get up each morning and go te a job” for the first time in their lives. This
would not be possible if service agreements were to be prohibited.
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1t is important to note that all of the workers in our correctional facility operations are
working because they desire to work. No one is required to work for us and any offender
may resign at any time without providing notice to us. Offenders consider Delco Remy
jobs very desirable because they provide:

* real-life work experience (the first “real” job for many offenders)
* hand-tool skills amenable to various trade jobs
* compensation that is significantly more than traditional correctional work

programs such as floor sweeping, food preparation, and litter collection.

In fact, some offenders have come to work for Delco Remy following their release from
incarceration.

Delco Remy provides a safe working environment for all of its offenders, as our
correctional industry factories must adhere to the same high standards for safety and
cleanliness as our civilian factories. Offenders receive the same mandatory safety
education and training programs that are provided to our civilian employees. The
environmental regulations in our correctional facility operations are just as strict as in our
civilian operations. (Our operation in the Federal institution in Petersburg was delayed
by more than six months in obtaining all of the necessary operating permits from the
Virginia Department of Environmental Quality.) Moreover, because Delco Remy’s staff
within the correctional facility must work in an OSHA-compliant environment, the
correctional facility factories adhere to OSHA rules and regulations.

We are very proud of our correctional industry programs and we strongly encourage
those who are interested to tour these operations. Although Delco Remy is a US-owned
company with a 110-year history, there are no government mandates requiring our
continued existence. Surviving in the new global economy has been a struggle despite
our significant capital investments to procure state-of-the-art equipment and machinery,
as well as having introduced the most modern lean refurbishment techniques to all of our
factories. These items, in-and-of themselves, have not been sufficient to be competitive.
Our continued survival has required us to develop production capacity abroad.
Correctional industries have enabled us to slow down, and we hope halt long-term, the
exodus of many jobs leaving U.S. soil for Mexico and Asia.
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Statement of Michael B. Styles submitied to the Senaie itee on Financial A the Budget and International Security - 4/16/04

Chairman Fitzgerald, Ranking Member Akaka and Members of the Senate Subcommittee on Financial
Management, the Budget and International Security:

My name is Michael B. Styles and [ am the National President of the Federal Managers Association
(FMA). On behalf of the nearly 200,000 executives, managers, and supervisors in the Federal
Government whose interests are represented by FMA, I would like to thank you for allowing us to
submit our views regarding the Federal Prison Industries (FPI) reform measure, S. 346, before your
committee.

Established in 1913, FMA is the largest and oldest Association of managers and supervisors in the
Federal Government. FMA has representation in nearly 30 different Federal departments and agencies.
We are a non-profit advocacy organization dedicated to promoting excellence in government. As those
who are responsible for the daily management and supervision of goverament programs and personnel,
our members are keenly aware of the important role they play in ensuring efficient and effective service
to the American people.

FEDERAL MANAGERS CARE ABOUT HOW TAXPAYER DOLLARS ARE SPENT

The main message that FMA wants to convey to you and Members of the Subcommittee is that Federal
managers and supervisors — and the civil servants we lead — try extremely hard to be good stewards of
the tax dollars entrusted to us. We dedicate ourselves daily to delivering to the American people the
most value for their hard-earned dollars. Routinely, we are called upon to do it “better,” “faster,” and
“cheaper.” “Doing more with less” is the norm, not the exception.

In our view, the FPI mandatory-source requirement ties the hands of Federal managers when it comes to
making smart purchasing decisions. While combating inmate idleness and providing 21 percent of the
irmmate work opportunities for Federal prisoners are important public policy objectives, the cost of the
FP1 program should not be transferable to the increasingly tight budgets of other agencies with their own
missions in service to the American people.

That is why FMA supports passage of S. 346,which would eliminate this mandatory-source requirement
burdening Federal agencies.

No doubt that you will hear from the FPI staff about how many waivers FPI grants, permitting Federal
agency managers to make purchases from the private sector. The statistics may sound impressive, but I
would ask you to consider some fundamental questions about the waiver process and how it works.

To begin, why should Federal managers be required to seek FPI's permission before being able to spend
the money of American taxpayers in the best possible manner? Under the waiver process, FPI — rather
than the buying agency - determines whether FPI's offered product, delivery schedule, and
reasonableness of FPI’s offered price meet the needs of the agency. Waivers are not granted on the basis
of price unless FPI’s offered price exceeds the statutory standard of “current market price.” Current
market price is not the same thing as a “fair market price” and is substantially different from the “best
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value” standard that applies to competitive procurements. Rather, the buying agency can be required to
pay FPY's offered price provided that FPI's offered price does not exceed the highest price offered to the
government for a comparable product. Therefore, no actual sales need to be made for the standard to be
met.

A 1998 General Accounting Office study (GAO/GGD-98-151) of 20 FPI products found that “FPI
generally did not offer Federal agencies the lowest prices for products that they purchased. Therefore, if
it were not for FPI's mandatory source status, customer agencies might have decided to purchase
comparable products at less cost.” This assessment is consistent with the anecdotal experiences of our
members.

FMA members are also concerned that it frequently takes longer to receive products from FPI than from
other commercial vendors. Another GAO report (GAO/GGD-98-118) regarding the timeliness of FPI
deliveries showed similar results. In more than 50 percent of the cases reviewed the actual delivery date
was later than the buying agency had originally requested. Again, this is congruent with the experiences
of our members.

Small businesses in the private sector, on the other hand, strive hard to keep costs low, quality good, and
delivery services efficient. Otherwise, they would find themselves out of business. Consumers benefit
from their efforts. These benefits do not exist when a business holds its customers hostage, as is the case
with FPI and Federal agencies.

Aside from the questionable policy of placing the burden on a Federal manager to have to request and
Justify a waiver request, the waiver process ifself raises substantial issues. The initial consideration of
the request is undertaken by the FPI sales division, which will take the contract if the waiver is not
granted. More recently, FPI has begun to utilize contract sales representatives, paid on a commission
basis, to augment its own marketing staff. Thus, it seems reasonable to FMA to presume that neither
FPI's own marketing force nor its contract sales force have much incentive to initially grant a waiver.

A Federal manager willing to invest yet more time and effort can take an appeal of a waiver denial to
FPI’s Ombudsman, a member of FPI’s senior management team. Federal managers feel that the decision
to grant a waiver — either initially or on appeal — is a unilateral decision made by FPI without the benefit
of any standards upon which to independently assess FPI’s actions.

Like the underlying mandatory-source status it is designed to buttress, FPI's waiver process presents the
Federal manager with a “stacked deck” that may not be worth pursuing, unless accepting FPI’s product
or delivery schedule would substantially impede the attainment of the buying agency’s mission, or FPI's
price constitutes an egregious waste of the buying agency’s limited operating budget.

Some have sought to cast the ongoing debate regarding FPI reform as a simple economic clash over
government business between FPI and the business community. I am here to tell you that the current
system also places an unacceptable burden on Federal managers in terms of both mission
accomplishment and the quality of work life. If FPI were to deliver a quality product, on time, and at a
reasonable price, then FPI will be able to compete, Federal agencies would give the American taxpayer
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more “bang for their buck,” and inmates would be given an opportunity to truly learn the skills they will
need in the outside job market.

If FPI's product does not represent the “best value” for the tax dollars expended, FPI's captive Federal
agency customers are then being forced to use their scarce resources to subsidize FPT’s program to create
inmate work opportunities. In turn, Federal workers are being forced to make do with products of lesser
quality and suffer the consequences of delayed deliveries — consequences that can adversely affect their
ability to perform their jobs as well as the quality of their services.

SCARCE RESOURCES GREATLY HEIGHTENS COST CONSCIOUSNESS

As taxpayers first and civil servants second FMA members want to see their tax dollars used in the most
productive manner possible. A factor in our heightened concern about making the best use of scarce
agency resources is the mandated increase in public-private competition for Federal functions.

Federal functions performed by civil servants are being subjected to unprecedented competition with the
private sector. As part of the President’s Management Agenda and in subsequent memoranda from the
Office of Management and Budget, Federal agencies have been called on to increase public-private
competitions as well as provide more in-depth justification of what constitutes an “inherently
governmental” position in adhering to revision to OMB Circular A-76.

The Bush administration has called for up to 850,000 Federal jobs to be put up for competition in the
coming years, yet Federal prisoners do not have to compete — they are guaranteed a job. Hardworking
Federal employees not only have to worry about their job being put up for public-private competition,
but the same government that is mandating the competition is placing Federal workers at a disadvantage
by not allowing them to purchase needed goods at a reasonable price.

In this time of increased scrutiny on the use of taxpayer dollars by the government, it is necessary to
remove the mandatory-source status held by FPI so that Federal agencies are able to purchase the
products they need at the best value possible.

LIFTING MANDATORY SOURCE WOULD ENABLE AGENCIES TO GET BETTER DEALS

The Federal Government spends more than $235 billion a year on goods and services. Between $110
and $120 billion of this amount is spent on contracting-out for services. The remainder is spent on
products. Current law requires us to purchase over half a billion dollars’ worth of supplies from FPL
The almost $700 million in annual sales for FPI in this context is significant.

Section 811 of the fiscal 2002 National Defense Authorization Act removed FPI's mandatory-source
status for the Department of Defense (DOD). The provision allows the Secretary of Defense to conduct
market research before being forced to purchase inmate-manufactured goods from FPL If prisoner-
manufactured products are not comparable to private-sector products in price, quality, and time of

4
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delivery, DOD contracting officers can purchase with taxpayer dollars the best and most cost-efficient
goods from other private vendors rather than be forced to buy from FPL.

As part of the fiscal 2003 National Defense Authorization Act, Congress passed language (Sec. 819)
which strengthened the enforcement of the provision passed in the FY02 Defense Authorization bill.
Section 819 will:

v make explicit that DOD contracting officers are empowered to determine if a product offered by
FPI is “comparable to products available from the private sector that best meet the Department’s
needs in terms of price, quality, and time of delivery™;

¥’ provide DOD contracting officers the full range of “market research” tools to make the
required comparability determination;

v’ make explicit that the full range of competitive procurement techniques are available to a DOD
contracting officer, including making a purchase through a GSA Multiple Award Schedule
contract;

v' prevent FPI from referring to the FPI Arbitration Review Panel, established by Section 4124(b)
of FPI's 1934 authorizing statute, allowing an FPI challenge of a DOD contracting officer’s
determination regarding the comparability of a product offered by FPI; and,

¥ empower DOD contracting officers to ensure that FPI “performs its contractual obligations to the
same extent as any other contractor for the Department of Defense.”

As has been done with DOD, S. 346 is the next step in releasing the rest of the Federal government from
the captivity of mandatory-sourcing through FPL

CONCLUSION

In closing, Mr. Chairman, Federal managers and supervisors are currently receiving two conflicting
messages from Washington, DC. On the one hand, we are being asked to “do more with less.” From
Congress, we frequently hear that the bureaucracy should act more like the private sector. In contrast,
the law requires us to purchase over half a billion dollars” worth of supplies from a non-competitive
source that frequently charges more than other commercial vendors.

We are simply asking that the FPI Board of Directors and the FPI management staff allow us to be better
stewards of the taxpayers’ hard-earned dollar by untying our hands when it comes to making smart
purchasing decisions for the Federal government.

Thank you again for providing FMA an opportunity to present our views and we look forward to

working with you on this important issue.
Ak
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STATEMENT FOR THE RECORD
OF FRANKLIN SPORTS, INC.

Aprif 14,2004

The Honorable Fitzgerald
Via e-mail to: mike_russell@govt-aff.senate gov
Washington, DC 20510

Dear Senator Fitzgerald:

t am writing to you today to alert you to the detrimental impact that S. 346, a bill to amend the
Office of Federal Procurement Policy Act, will have on Franklin Sports, Inc. should it become
faw. This bill is scheduled on the calendar of the U S Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs
Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget, and International Security on Aprit 6, 2004
at 2:30 PM Eastern time. We respectfully request that you oppose S. 346.

Private sector companies who supply to or partner with correctional industries are working
together to educate Congress about the harmful public policy implications of S. 346 in general,
and specifically Section 3.

Generally, S. 346 amends and updates the federal government’s procurement rules concerning
purchases of inmate-manufactured commodities and services. Because of a provision in this bill
(Section 3) that is injurious to the state, local and Federal correctional industry programs, we
cannot support S. 346.

This legislation would place an unfair and expensive federal mandate on the states’ and localities’
right to self determine the management and operation of their departments of correctional industries
and would cause companies such as Franklin Sports, Inc. to lose jobs and revenue.

To provide you and your staff with more information on this important issue, the following are
some principal facts about this legisiation’s economic and rehabilitative impact:

»  The loss of jobs nationwide to over 2000 private sector businesses that partner with
correctional industries as suppliers and vendors would be significant.

e The loss of revenue to local and regional private sector businesses that pariner with
correctional industries as suppliers and vendors would be significant.

»  Hundreds of ¢civilian employees managing and supervising correctional industries would be
placed at risk to Jose their jobs if S. 346 passes.

s S, 346 would abort more than $20 million dollars in state annual gross revenue generated by
correctional industry service operations that help support fiscally strapped state and local
economies.
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e The Natjonal Correctional Industries Association (NCIA) has calculated statistical figures
showing the combined harm to states, if S. 346 passes. Nationwide, over 2,700 state inmates
would be idled. And, as a direct result of S, 346’s passage, these idle prisoners would lose an
important opportunity to develop work ethic, reentry readiness and transferable job skills in
preparation for legitimate employment post-release.

e Criminology/corrections research shows that inmates who do not work in correctional
industries while incarcerated experience three times the likelihood of returning to a life of
criminal activity and victimization on the streets - and recommitment to prison.

As you consider S. 346, please understand the devastating impact Section 3 of the bill would have on
several thousand private sector companies like ours and the states and localities including the civilian
employees who work for these programs. It is imperative that you take i diate steps en behaif of
Franklin Sports, Inc. to prevent the damage of S. 346 from occurring,

Thank you for your assistance in assuring that Franklin Sports, Inc. and the many other private sector
businesses retain our ability to properly manage our operations within the continental United States while
providing adequate opportunities for inmates to learn job skills while incarcerated. Your efforts will not
only help support the safe management of our correctional facilities, but also prevent the loss of significant
revenue to the many private sector businesses that partner with or are suppliers for these programs.

Sincerely,

FRANKLIN SPORTS, INC.

Don Loiacano
Vice President, Operations

Dil/dmz
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TENNESSEE REHABILITATIVE INITIATIVE IN CORRECTION
(TRICOR)

WRITTEN STATEMENT
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THE UNITED STATES SENATE

THE SENATE GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS SUBCOMMITTEE ON
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT, THE BUDGET AND
INTERNATIONAL SECURITY

The Honorable Peter Fitzgerald, Chairman

Statement Submitted By:

Patricia Weiland, Executive Director

Tennessee Rehabilitative Initiative in Correction (TRICOR)
President of the National Correctional Industry Association (NCIA)
240 Great Circle Road, Suite 310

Nashville, Tennessee 37228-1734

(615) 741-5705



238

Position Statement
1 appreciate the opportunity to provide a written statement concerning the adverse impact
of Section 3 of Senate Bill 346 on state correctional industry programs. This legislation
would have harmful and unintended consequences for many state correctional systems in
the nation. The immediate impact on the state correctional industries would be a loss of
$19.8 million in annual gross revenue and severe legal ramifications. The loss of revenue
to our private sector suppliers would be in excess of $9.5 million annually. The loss of
inmate jobs to the state correctional systems would be at least 2200 resulting in the

potential need for increased state funding.

The long term ramification on the recidivism rate and the cost to the taxpayers will be
devastating if S. 346 is passed in its current form. Inmates who participate in work
programs are 20% less likely to recidivate than inmates who do not participate in these
programs. There were 600,000 inmates released from prison in 2003. Statistics show that
the overwhelming majority of inmates currently incarcerated will eventually be released
from prison and it is in everyone’s best interest that they have job skills and work
training. Section 3 of S. 346 would eliminate all states ability to operate service industry

programs as currently structured.
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Intreduction

I am Patricia Weiland, Executive Director of the Tennessee Rehabilitative Initiative in
Correction (TRICOR). TRICOR operates the correctional industry program in Tennessee.
I am also the current President of the National Correctional Industry Association (NCIA).
The NCIA is a professional organization of individuals, agencies and companies both
public and private, committed to promoting excellence and credibility in the field of

correctional industries.

First I would like to provide an overview of correctional industries and the role it plays in

the correctional system.

Overview
Correctional industry programs provide work and training opportunities for men and
women incarcerated throughout the country. These programs currently work and train
over 81,000 inmates annually. This accounts for approximately 18% of the eligible
prison population. Inmates actively engaged in these programs worked 117.8 million
hours in 2003. These programs provide a multitude of benefits including cost effective
solutions to prison management and inmate programming, significant training and job
skill development opportunities, a reduction in the cost of incarceration and government

operations and a reduction in recidivism.

All states and the federal government operate correctional industry programs. There are

currently over 8,500 civilian staff employed in the correctional industry field. These
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programs purchase raw materials, supplies and services from thousands of private sector
businesses nationwide. Forty-nine correctional industry programs are operated on a self-
sufficient basis. In addition, thirty-five programs receive no appropriated funds for capital

equipment and thirty-eight programs receive no appropriated funds for construction.

Training opportunities for the inmates involved in these programs are provided in a
variety of areas such as animal husbandry, desktop publishing, electronics, graphic arts,
inventory management, metal fabrication, printing, product assembly, scanning and

imaging, welding and warchousing and distribution, just to name a few.

Benefits of Correctional Industry Programs
1. Prison Management
The management of a safe and secure correctional system is the optimum goal of
any governing body. To maintain the necessary balance of safety and security
within the correctional environment it is imperative that inmates are kept involved
in productive activity. History will show that idleness breeds tension, which often

results in violence.

You need look no further than the correctional system in Tennessee, which was
one of a number of states in the 1980"s and 1990’s involved in class action
lawsuits resulting in federal court intervention. Scotty Grubbs v. the State of
Tennessee was a class action lawsuit filed challenging the conditions of

confinement within the Tennessee prison system. At the core of the lawsuit was
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overcrowding and inmate idleness. Tennessee was required to begin
programming its inmates in productive work and educational activities to aide in
reducing violence in the system. The state spent millions of dollars building an
infrastructure within ifs system to provide meaningful education, work and
training opportunities for inmates. The occurrence of violent activities was

reduced dramatically when constructive programming activities were increased.

Job Skills Training Reduces Recidivism

The men and women entering our prisons today are less educated and have fewer
job skills than the population as a whole. According to a study conducted by the
U.S. Bureau of Justice Statistics, only 59% of state prison inmates had a high
school diploma or its equivalent as compared to 85% for the adult population as a
whole. The study also disclosed that only two-thirds of inmates were employed
during the month before they were arrested for their current offense. Much of this

work however was part-time and did not reflect a stable full-time work history.

As noted previously, correctional industry programs offer a myriad of job skills
training programs which include animal husbandry, desktop publishing,
electronics, graphic arts, inventory management, metal fabrication, printing,
product assembly, scanning and imaging, welding, warehousing and distribution,
and many more. There is a direct correlation between job skills training and
successful re-entry. Studies disclose that inmates who participate in work

programs while in prison are less likely to recidivate than those who do not
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participate in these programs. The average recidivism rate for work program
participants is 20% less than non-program participants. The net effect of this
reduction in recidivism to correctional systems, state and federal budgets and the

taxpayers is monumental and long lasting.

After release from prison, maintaining a legitimate job is probably the best
opportunity a former inmate has for restoring legitimacy to his or her life and to
compensate for the negative stigma of having a criminal record. Therefore
involvement in job training and work programs is critical to long-term

rehabilitation and re-entry efforts.

Reduces the Cost of Incarceration and Government Operations

The majority of states and the federal government are faced with shrinking
resources and growing prison populations. A disproportionate amount of
government revenue is being used to build and operate prisons at both the state
and federal level. The majority of correctional industry programs are self-
supporting and do not rely on appropriated funds for their daily operating

revenue.

For example, it costs the Tennessee Department of Correction an estimated
$3,000 per year to program an inmate in a work or education program. There is
however no cost to the department to program an inmate in a TRICOR operation.

Inmates that participated in TRICOR training and work programs last fiscal year



243

saved the state approximately $3 million in programming costs. It is
conservatively estimated that the programming costs saved by correctional
systems nationwide, as a result of correctional industry programs operating as

self-supporting entities, exceeds $80 million annually.

In many instances, correctional industry programs also reduce the cost of
government in general. In Tennessee, inmate labor is used for a variety of
programs including contracts with the Department of Safety, the Department of
Education, and the Department of Finance and Administration. These programs
use inmate labor to provide services which save the State of Tennessee and the
taxpayers millions of dollars. In a time of severe budget cuts, partnerships such as
these allow the state to continue to provide the services that its citizens expect in a

timely, cost efficient manner.

Positive Economic Impact

Correctional industry programs have a significant positive economic impact on
local economies in particular and the private sector in general. These programs
purchase raw materials, supplies and services from thousands of private sector
vendors nationwide. For example, TRICOR purchases products and services
from an average of 400 different vendors each year. These purchases are in
excess of $9.5 million annually. Compounding this to all states and the federal

government makes the economic impact significant.
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Correctional industry programs also partner with the private sector to manufacture
products and provide services. The benefits of these programs are far reaching for
both parties involved. A significant benefit for the correctional system is the
positive influence of “real world” business practices and job training in the
correctional industry environment. The net effect of this is to make all industry

programs more cost efficient and effective.

Negative Impact of S. 346 on State Correctional Industry Programs
Senate Bill 346, Section 3 in particular, will have a significant negative impact on a
number of state correctional industry programs. Section 3 of S. 346 amends 18 USC
1761 (a) and (c) at the federal, state, and local levels to prohibit the interstate sale of
services furnished wholly or in part by prisoners. This section of the bill will force
federal, state and local correctional industries operating service programs to convert them
to Prison Industry Enhancement (PIE) programs under the U.S. Department of Justice
certification within 180 days or be forced to close permanently. The modification of these
programs to PIE would most likely not be a viable alternative for the companies
involved. It is anticipated that this would result in either closing down the operations or
moving them out of the country. Currently, at least twenty states operate service industry
programs that would no longer be allowed to operate if this bill passes in its current form.
S. 346 would require states to completely phase out its service programs within 180 days
of enactment of the bill. This causes a multitude of problems for the states, which include

the following.
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Loss of Substantial Revenue
The states currently operating service industry programs would lose in excess
of $19.8 million in annual gross revenue. This is a substantial loss and would

have a serious detrimental effect on these programs.

Loss of Inmate and Civilian Jobs

The states currently operating service industry programs would lose in excess
of 2200 inmate jobs and 120 civilian jobs. The loss of these inmate jobs would
have a significant negative impact on the operation of these correctional
systems. It is anticipated that the civilian jobs lost would not be regained in
the private sector because the operations would most likely close or move out

of the country.

Negative Economic Impact

Service industry operations currently purchase raw materials, supplies and/or
services from at least 2,176 private sector suppliers. It is estimated that these
purchases are in excess of $9.5 million. This loss would have an immediate

adverse impact on the state economies.

Severe Legal Ramifications
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Service industry programs are operated under contracts with private sector
partners. States will be required to cease operations within 180 days of
enactment of the bill thus placing the states in jeopardy of serious legal

ramifications. The cost of litigation for the states will be significant.

5. Unfunded Mandate
The passage of S. 346, Section 3 would immediately eliminate over 2200
inmate jobs. Each state would be forced to reprogram these inmates in other
training and work programs which would be funded through appropriated
dollars. It would be necessary for each state department to increase its
funding to meet these obligations. For example, the State of Tennessee would
lose 236 inmate jobs and would incur a cost of $708,000 to reprogram these
inmates into alternative training and work programs. The net affect of this bill

results in a significant unfunded mandate to the states.

I have noted that there are many significant and long lasting benefits to operating
correctional industry programs. These programs have a positive impact on prison
management, provide job skills training which reduces recidivism, reduce the cost of
incarceration and government operations and lastly, have a positive impact on the

econonmy.

Correctional industry programs are widely praised for their contribution to the safe and

secure operation of all correctional systems throughout this country and the significant
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effect these programs have on recidivism. The operation of self-funded training
programs that have the ability to keep men and women from returning to prison is a win-
win situation for government, the private sector and the taxpayers. These programs are

the unsung success stories in rehabilitation and re-entry.

I strongly encourage Members of the Committee to discuss the benefits of your
correctional industry program with your Governor. It is significant that all states
currently involved in service industry operations would lose their ability to continue these
operations as currently structured. It is equally as significant that all states would lose the
ability to operate these programs in the future. This does not make sense for the state

correctional systems or the taxpayers.

Based upon the information I have provided and the concerns I have noted about Section
3 of S. 346, I strongly urge the deletion of this section from the bill so that state
correctional systems may operate their state industry programs in the best interest of their

governing body.

I appreciate the opportunity to submit a written statement for the record. I am available to

further discuss my position or answer any questions you may have. /

11
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Alternate Fax (631) 244-8753

April 15, 2004

The Honorable Peter G. Fitzgerald

Chairman

Senate Governmental Affairs Subcommittee on Financial
Management, the Budget and International Security

446 Senate Hart Building

Washington, DC 20510

Dear Chairman Fitzgerald,

I am grateful to you for the opportunity last few week to testify before you
regarding Senator Levin's bill, S. 346. I am appreciative as I believe the story of
the private sector businesses who are positively impacted by FPI MUST BE
HEARD. I am hopeful that my testimony assisted you and other Members in
understanding the serious impact that S. 346 will have on small businesses like
mine and women-owned and disadvantaged businesses in your state and across the
country who currently hold contracts with FPL.

I also wanted to respond for the record to questions that some of the Members of
the Subcommittee asked that I believe need further clarification. Much of the
testimony provided on April 7, 2004 was in reference to whether or not FPI would
lose significant amounts of business if the mandatory preference was eliminated.
During my testimony, I mentioned that it was my belief that FPI would suffer with
the preference eliminated. This is predicated on the fact that a large majority of the
work FPI would lose will be to large business. [ also stated that small business will
suffer dramatic net losses in the dollar volume that will be subcontracted to them if
large business takes business away from FPI. My premise is that large business
will perform most of the work themselves that FPI is presently subcontracting to
small business, Whereas, FPI has made it their mission to set aside as much
material as possible to small businesses, large business is not required to
subcontract major portions of their material. FPI advertises publicly for its
requirements through small business set asides over the US governments’ Federal
Business Opportunities(Fed Biz Opps) internet site. In addition to the Fed Biz
Opps program, the contracting officers in each FPI facility go out many times daily



249

seeking small business sources for their requirements. In stark contrast to FPI,
large business usually limits their subcontracting efforts to their existing supply
networks.

Additionally, some Members of the Subcommittee claimed that FPI/Unicor
received indirect subsidies by overcharging their DOD and other customers.

It is a fact that starting in late 1989 CECOM, Fort Monmouth, NJ, SINCGARS
program management recognized the competitiveness and capability of FPI and
solicited FPI to consider taking on the challenge of trying to assist CECOM in
reducing the high costs of the cable and harness components in the SINCGARS
program . The effort was a complete success. Since 1989 through today and likely
for another 10 years the CECOM JTRS program will be able to utilize the
electronic cables via FPI and has already saved the DOD millions of dollars with
the potential of savings millions more on the JTRS program if given the
opportunity. It was through this SINCGARS program and FPT's involvement that
Power Connector Inc. was able to establish itself and grow over the past 15 years

I thank you for your consideration of my views and oppose S. 346.

Andy Linder
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U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Legislative Affairs

Washington, D.C. 20530

November 17, 2004

The Honorable Peter G. Fitzgerald

Chairman, Subcommittee on Financial Management,
the Budget, and International Security

Committee on Governmental Affairs

United States Senate

Washington, DC 20510

Dear Chairman Fitzgerald:

This letter responds to inquiries arising out of the April 7, 2004, appearance of Bureau of
Prisons (“BOP”) Director Harley G. Lappin before the Senate Governmental Affairs
Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget, and International Security. We appreciate
the opportunity to provide the Subcommittee this additional information about the Federal Prison
Industries (“FP1”) program.

You requested information regarding the activation of new FPI factories, specifically, the
portions of each new factory that are paid with appropriated and non-appropriated funds. During
the activation process, the BOP uses appropriated funds for the construction of buildings and
structures that will support factory operations. The FPI program purchases the equipment for the
start-up and day-to-day operation of new factories from revenues derived from the sale of FPI
products and services.

You also requested information regarding FPI’s annual financial statements. In
accordance with the Chief Financial Officer’s Act of 1990 (31 U.S.C. § 9106(b)), an independent
financial audit of FPI is conducted at the end of each fiscal year. The audit contract is awarded
and administered by the Department of Justice’s Office of the Inspector General. We have
enclosed the most recent audit, conducted by Price, Waterhouse, Coopers, LLP, and FPI’s
management report relating to fiscal year 2003.

You asked for the date the practice of “pass throughs” was eliminated and for some
details about the practice and its elimination. “Pass throughs” were practices previously
undertaken when FPI could not meet the delivery date of an order. FPI very rarely used pass
throughs because the practice was used only during those infrequent instances in which inmates
could not work for a significant period of time, such as during an institution lockdown. When a
rare occurrence such as a lockdown interfered with FPI’s ability to complete an order, FPI
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coordinated with a private vendor to fulfill the order. The practice of pass through was initiated
as a last resort in order to meet the delivery schedule and to preserve FPI's relationship with the
customer. The FPI program did not increase the price of the items that were passed through and
made no money when this practice was employed. The practice of pass through was eliminated
entirely by a resolution of the FPI Board of Directors dated October 24, 2002. The resolution
directs “that the practice of ‘pass-through’ of finished goods items that would otherwise be
manufactured by FPI be discontinued; and that customers be given the right to accept late
delivery, or be granted an immediate waiver to purchase that portion of the order elsewhere . . .”
We have enclosed a copy of the resolution and a copy of an electronic mail message from Steve
Schwalb, Chief Operating Officer of FPI, to all FPI staff implementing the Board’s resolution.

You requested information on the FPI factories in the State of Illinois. The FPI program
currently operates three factories in lllinois: a clothing and textile factory at the Federal
Correctional Institution in Greenville, an electronic cable assembly factory at the United States
Penitentiary in Marion, and a metals factory at the Federal Correctional Institution in Pekin.

You also asked for a complete list of products and services provided by the FPI program
to the military. The enclosed list indicates all of the products and services provided to the
Department of Defense in Fiscal Year (“FY”) 2003 by FPI Business Group. This list also shows
the revenue from sales of each product or service to the Department of Defense.

You requested information on BOP’s use of contract prisons for the confinement of
Federal inmates, specifically asking for the number of facilities, number of inmates, and status of
any industry programs at these facilities. As of July 8, 2004, 17,788 Federal inmates (which is
approximately 10 percent of the Federal inmate population) are confined in 15 secure contract
facilities. The BOP contracts to help manage the Federal inmate population when the contracting
arrangement is cost-effective and complements the agency’s operations and programs. Fourteen
of'the 15 secure contract facilities are managed and operated by private companies. One facility
is under private management with the line staff comprised of county government employees.
None of these facilities has an industry work program. Of the inmates confined in these
institutions, 9,609 are sentenced criminal aliens subject to deportation. A recently constructed
facility in Philipsburg, Pennsylvania, is awaiting activation and will confine approximately 1,300
inmates (1,000 low-security males and 300 females of all security levels). The BOP also
contracts with privately operated community corrections centers (or halfway houses) for the
placement of inmates in the community just prior to their release, with local jails for short-term
confinement, and with privately operated juvenile facilities. Approximately 9,800 Federal
inmates are in community corrections centers, local jails, and juvenile facilities, bringing the total
number of Federal inmates under contract confinement to 27,397 (or about 15 percent of the
Federal inmate population).

Senator Levin requested an analysis of products that are purchased by the Federal
government and that are produced offshore. Several years ago, FPI researched opportunities to
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produce goods purchased by the Federal government from offshore sources. FPI has not been
able to identify significant opportunities primarily because the data required to identify them is
not available in sufficient detail. The Federal Procurement Data Center, which is the main source
of procurement data for the Federal government, does not have specific data regarding offshore
procurement of products. However, to the extent that data was available, it often was skewed by:
1) the inclusion of the offshore opportunity within a larger purchase; 2) procurement from
American companies with an overseas presence; 3) difficulty identifying suppliers as foreign due
to data limitations; or 4) the use of American companies with foreign subcontractors. Another
factor has been the identification of treaties and agreements between the United States and other
countries that may prevent FPI from pursuing offshore opportunities. These treaties and
agreements have been negotiated between various governments and cannot be rescinded or
altered.

Senator Levin also sought details regarding FPI’s budget projections. We have enclosed
copies of FPI's operating plan for FY 2004, portions of the BOP’s narrative budget submission
relating to FPI for FY 2004, and FPI's portion of the President’s FY 2005 proposed budget.

We appreciate the opportunity to provide this information to the Subcomrmittee. Please
do not hesitate to call upon us if we may be of further assistance. The Office of Management and
Budget has advised us that from the perspective of the Administration’s program, there is no
objection to submission of this letter.

Sincerely,

WJU»; & Woselot.

William E. Moschella
Assistant Attorney General

Enclosures
FPIFY 2003 Management Report and Independent Financial Audit
October 24, 2002, Resolution of the Board of Directors relating to “pass thronghs
Electronic communication implementing the above resolution
List of Department of Defense products and services
FPI Operating Plan for FY 2004
FY 2004 narrative budget submission relating to FPI
FY 2005 budget proposal relating to FPI

1

cc: The Honorable Daniel K. Akaka
Ranking Minority Member

The Honorable Carl Levin

The Honorable Craig Thomas
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U.S. Department of Justice

Federal Bureau of Prisons

Office of the Director Washington, DC 20534

March 18, 2004

The President
The White House
Wiashington, DC 20500

Dear Mr. President:
In accordance with the Chief Financial Officers Act (CFO Act) of 1990, 31 US.C.

§9106(b), please find enclosed a copy of Federal Prison Industries, Inc. (FPI) FY 2003
management report and independent financial audit. This report will also be made available

via the Internet at www.unicor.gov.

If you should have any questions, or desire further information, please do not hesitate
to contact me.

Respectfully,
HudolLage
Harley G. Lappin
Chief Executive Officer

Enclosure
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Report of Management

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the financial information in this report rests with the
management of Federal Prison Industries, Inc. The accompanying financial statements have been prepared to

conform with United States generally accepted accounting principles (US. GAAP).

To ensure the integrity of ial data, FPI intains a system of internal accounting controls. The

systemn provides reasonable assurance that transactions have management authorization and are properly recorded.
It also safeguands, verifies, and maintains accountability of assets and permits preparation of financial statements thae
conform with US. GAAP. This system of internal controls is s;:bject to periodic reviews by both management
and FPIs independent auditors.

Internal accounting and administrative control systems have been reviewed and tested. Accordingly, FPI
management provides the following assurances:

1. There are sufficient controls and security measures to compensate for any identified risks associated with
the program/system and/or its environment,

2. The program/system is being operated in an effective manner and complies with applicable laws and
regulations, .

3. There is proper management of the program/system information, and

4. The program/system complies with management, financial, information resources management,
accounting, budget and other appropriate standards.

The independent public accounting firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is retained to audit FPIs financial

The role of independent auditors is to provide an objective review of management's responsibilities to
fairly report operating results, cash flows and financial position. The independent auditor’s reports are presented
on the following pages. The report on the fairness of the presentation of the financial statements is unqualified.

The independent auditor obtains an understanding of FPI's internal control sufficient to plan the audit and to
determine the nature, timing, and extent of tests to be performed to form an opinion on the fairness of the
presentation of the financial statements.

Although management may periodically adopt certain cost-effective reco dations made by the independ

auditors to further strengthen FPIs system of internal control, management believes that FPIs internal and
accounting control system is accomplishing its objectives,

il

Hatley G. Lappin

Director, Federal Bureau of Prisons
Chicf Executive Officer, Federal Prison Industries
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Report of Independent Auditors

PRICEAAIERHOUSE(COPERS

Inspector General PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1301 K St., N.W., Suite 800W
Washington DC 200053333

Telephone (202) $14-1000

U.S. Department of Justice

Board of Directors
Federal Prison Industries, Inc.
U.S. Department of Justice

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Federal Prison Industries, Inc., a financial reporting
component of the U.S. Department of Justice referred to herein as the FPI, as of September 30, 2003 and 2002,

and results of operations, and cash flows, for the years then

and the related statements of ap
ended. These financial staternents are the responsibility of the FPIs management, Our responsibility is to express

an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in G Auditing issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States; and Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Bulletin No. 01-02,
Audit Requirements for Federal Financial Statements. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to

dord

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial staterments are free of material misstatement. An audit

includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the and disclosures in the fi ial st
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis

for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of FP at September 30, 2003 and 2002, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated November 11, 2003 on our
consideration of the FPI' internal control and 2 report dated November 11, 2003 on its compliance with laws and
regulations. Those reports are an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards and should be read in conjunction with this report in considering the results of our audit.

7
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Report of Independent Auditors on Internal Control

PRCEAATERHOUSE COPERS @

Inspector General PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1301 K S, N.W., Suite 800W
Washington XC 20005-3333

“Telephone (202) 4141000

U.S. Department of Justice

Board of Directors
Federal Prison Industries, Inc.
U.S. Departmient of Justice

We have audited the financial statements of the Federal Prison Industries, Inc., a financial reporting component of
the U.S. Department of Justice referred to herein as FPI, as of September 30, 2603 and 2002, and for the years then
ended, and have issued our report thereon dated November 11, 2003. We conducted our audits in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Awditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Office of
Management and Budget (OMB) Bulletin No. 01-02, Audit Requirements for Federal Financial Statements.

The management of FPI is responsible for establishing and maintaini C ing systems and internal control.
5

In fulfilling this responsibility, estimates and judgments are required to assess the expected benefits and related costs
of internal conwrol policies and procedures. The objectives of internal control are to provide management with

reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that: (1) transactions are properly recorded, processed, and summarized to

permit the preparation of reliable tal in dance with accounting principles generally accepted

in the United States of America, and to safeguard assets against loss from unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition; (2) transactions are executed in comphiance with laws and regulations that could bave a direct and

id dentified

material effect on the financial statements, and any other laws, regulations and gover policies i
in Appendix C of OMB Bulletin No. 01-02; and (3} transactions and other data that support reported performance
measures are properly recorded, processed, and summarized to permit the preparation of performance information
in accordance with criteria stated by FPI management. Because of inherent limitations in any internal control,
errors or fraud may nevertheless occur and not be detected. Also, projection of any evaluation of internal control
to future periods is subject to the risk that procedures may became inadequate because of changes 1 conditions

ot that the effectiveness of the design and operation of palicies and procedures may deteriorate,

1n planning and performing our audit of FPTs financial statements, we obtained an understanding of the design of
significant internal controls and whether they had been placed in operation, tested certain controls and assessed
control risk in order to determine our auditing pracedures for the purpose of cxpressing an opinion on the
financial statements. We Himited our control testing to those controls necessary to achieve the objectives described
above and we did not test all controls relevant to operating objectives as broadly defined by the Federal Managers'
Financial Integrity Act of 1982. Our purpose was not to provide an opinion on FPI's internal controls. Accordingly,

we do not express such an opinion.

With respect to internal controls relevant to data that support reported performance measures, we obtained an

understanding of the design of significant internal controls relating to the existence and completeness assertions,
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as required by OMB Bulletin No. 01-02. Qur procedures were not designed to provide assurance on internal

controls over reported performance measures. Accordingly, we do not provide an opinion on such controls.

We noted certain matters in FPTs internal controls that we consider to be reportable conditions under standards
established by the American Institute of Certified Public A Reportable conditi involve matters

coming to our attention relating to significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal contro} that, in

our judgment, could adversely affect the entity’s ability to meet the internal control objectives described in the

second paragraph. Material weaknesses are reportable conditions in which the design or operation of one or more
of the internal control elements does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that errors or fraud in amounts
that would be material in refation to the financial statements being audited or material to a performance measure
or aggregation of related performance measures may occur and not be detected within a timely period by
employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, QOur consideration of internal controf
would not necessarily disclose all matters in internal control that might be reportable conditions and, accordingly,

would not necessarily disclose all reportable conditions that are also considered to be material weaknesses as

defined above. The reportable condition below is not considered a material weakness,

Technical and security design and implementation of the SAP financial application need improvement.

The remainder of this report discusses the reportable condition in more dewil. Qur recommendations for
corrective action and status of prior year findings and recommendations are also provided.

. A )
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November 11,2003

Deailed ing ton concerning the conditions noted in Federal Prison Industries, Inc., internal control repory
an be ohtainy the De ent of Justice, Office of Inspector (i f for Audit, Office of Policy and Plannin,
1425 New Yotk Auen: Suite Washingtol i3, m the frternel site at i a
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Report of Independent Auditors on Compliance
with Laws and Regulations

PrcrrnTernonsEC0PERS @

Inspector General PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1301 K St., N.W., Suite S00W
Washington DC 20005-3333
Telephone (202) 414-1000

U.S. Department of Justice

Board of Directors
Federal Prison Industries, Inc.
US. Department of Justice

We have audited the financial statements of the Federal Prison Industries, Inc., a financial reporting component of
the U.S. Department of Justice referred to herein as FPL, as of September 30, 2003 and 2002, and have issued our
report thereon dated November 11, 2003 for the years then ended. We conducted our audits in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptrolier General of the United States; and Office of
Management and Budget (OMB) Bulletin No. 01-02, Audit Requirements for Federal Financial Statements.

Compliance with {faws and regulations applicable to the FPI is the responsibility of management. As part of
obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatenient, we
performed tests of the FPIs compliance with certain provisions of laws and regulations, noncompliance with
which could have 2 direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts and certain
other laws and regulations specified in OMB Bulletin No. 01-02, including the requirements refereed to in the
Federal Financial Management Improvement Act (FFMIA) of 1996, However, the objective of our audits of the
financial statements was not to provide an opinion on overall compliance with such provisions and, accordingly,

we do not express such an opinion.

The results of our tests of compliance disclosed no instances of noncompliance with laws and regulations that are
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards or OMB Bulletin No. 01-02,

" This report is intended solely for the information and use of the US. Department of Justice Office of the Inspector

General, the management of the Department of Justice, the OMB, and Congress. This report is not intended to
be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified partics.

2
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Balance Sheets

Federal Prison Induwusiries, I{nc.

September 30

{DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS) 2003 2002
ASSETS
Current:
Cash and cash equivalents 8 187,416 § 108,247
Accounts receivable, net 65,562 92,883
Inventories, net 146,702 141,847
Other assets 1,890 2,025
Total current assets 401,570 345,002
Property, plant and equipment, net 116,381 127,202
TOTAL ASSETS § 517,951 § 472,204
LIABILITIES AND UNITED S$TATES GOVERNMENT EQUITY
Current:
Accounts payable § 48,020 § 44,824
Deferred revenue 126,481 83,834
Accrued salaries and wages 7,268 6,988
Accrued annual leave 8,329 8,065
Other accrued expenses 10,077 12,669
Total current liabilities 200,175 156,380
FECA actuarial hability 7,932 7.935
Note payable to United States Treasury 20,000 20,000
Total Liabilities 228,107 184,315
United States Government Equity
Initial capital 4,176 4,176
Cumulative results of operations 285,668 283,713
Total United States Government Equity 289,844 287,889
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND UNITED STATES
GOVERNMENT EQUITY $ 517,951 $472,204

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

FPE Balunce Sheets

PAGE
7



L. FPUSiaiements of Operstins ann Cumulative Resuits of Operations
£,

261

Statements of Operations and Cumulative Results of Olperations

Federal Prison ndustries, Inc.

Fiscal years ended September 30

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS) 2003 2002
REVENUE:
Net sales § 666,763 § 678,655
Other revenue __ 55100 38,207
Total revenue 721,863 716,862
COST OF REVENUE: e
Cost of sales 598,625 603,014
Cost of other revenue 55,958 41,497
Total Cost of Revenue 654,583 644,511
GROSS PROFIT 67,280 72,351

QPERATING EXPENSES:

Sales and marketing 6,983 8,768
General and administrative 72,193 66,529
Total operating expenses 79,176 75,317
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS (11,896) (2,966)
interest income 1,941 1,409
Interest expense (63) {172)
Other income, net 11,973 10,819
Net inome 1,955 9,090
Cumulative results of operations, beginning of fiscal year 283,713 274,480

Donated property recl d o lative results of operations — 143

CUMULATIVE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS,
END OF FISCALYEAR 3 285,668 § 283,713

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial staternents
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Statements of Cash Flow

Federal Prison Industries, Inc.

Fiscal years ended September 30
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Changes i
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Deferred revenue

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Construction-in-progress of plant facilities

Construction reimbursement from Burean of Prisons

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE IN CASH
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF FISCALYEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF FISCALYEAR 8

2003 C2002
1,955 $ 9,09
11,773 12,404
1.748 278
27,321 (4,520)
(4,855) (1,080
136 (190)
1,145 7,001
42,647 38,657
81,870 61,640
(2,593) 7.771)
(200) (19)
L] —
(2,701) (7,790)
79,169 53,850
108,247 54,397
187,416 $ 108,247

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

08 Fri Strements of Gasi Fiows
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Notes to Financial Statements (Dollars in Thousands)

Note 1
Organization and Mission

Federal Prison Industries, Inc. (FPI} was established in 1934
by an act of the United States Congress. FPl operates under
the trade name UNICOR, as 2 wholly owned federal
government corporation within the Department of Justice,
and functions under the direction and control of 2 Board of
Directors, (the “Board”). Members of the Board are
appointed by the President of the United States of America
and represent retailers and consumers, agriculture, industry,
labor, the Attorney General, and the Secretary of Defense.
FPPs satutory mandate 35 fo provide employment and
training for inmates in the Federal Prison System while
rernaining self-sufficient through the sale of its products and

services.

FPIs  federal government customers include
departments, agencies and bureaus such as the Department
of Justice, the Department of Defense, the Department of
Homeland Security, the Social Security Administration, and
the General Services Admunistration. These and other
federal organizations are required to purchase products from
FPI, if its products meet the customer’s price, guality, and
delivery standards, under a mandatory source preference
specified in FPI's enabling statute and the Federal
A ition Regulation. FPIs source §
time, be impacted by legislative changes. Subsequent to the
end of this fiscal year, the House of Representatives passed

may, at some

H.R. 1829, which if enacted, would eliminate FPI%s source
preference and require other operational changes. FPI is
unable ro predict the probability of enacement, or if enacted
the impact of this, or other legislation until it is finalized.

As of September 30, 2003, FPl had industrial
operations at 112 factories Jacated at 71 facilities within the

Federal Prison Industries, Inc.

Note 2
Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

FPI has historically prepared its external financial statements
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United Seates of America (US GAAP), based on
accounting standards issued by the Financial Accountng
Standards Board (FASB), the private sector standards-setting
body. The Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board
{FASAB) has been designated as the standards-setting body
for federal financial reporting entities with respect to the
establishment of US GAAP. FASAB has indicated, however,
that accounting standards published by FASB may also be in
accordance with US GAAP for those federal entities.
including FPI, that have issued such financial statements
the past.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
US GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabalities at
the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting peried. Actual
results may differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

FPI considers all highly liquid investments purchased with
an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. FPI limits its investment activities and cash
equivalents to short-term overnight repurchase agreements
with the Bureau of Public Debt of the United States

Treasury. The market value of these overnight repurchase
.

Federal Prison System; these factories ployed 20,274
inmates representing approximately 16% of the rotal federal

inmate population,

is equi to cost,

A Receivable / Ci of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentally subject FPI to

concentrations of credit tisk consist primarily of accounts
receivable. FPY sells products and services to various federal
government departments, agencies and bureaus, a5 well as
certain private sector companies, without requiring
collateral. Accounts receivable consists of amounts due from
those entities and is stated net of an allowance for doubtful
accounts.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Dollars in Thousands)

FP1 routinely assesses the payment histories of its
federal customers and the financial strengeh of its private

sector custemers and mainains allowances for anticipated

Federal Prison Industries, Inc.

is a fixed or determinable price, and collectibility is
reasonably assured. Revenue from contracts that require
customer acceptance are not recognized unml either

customer acceptance is obtained, or upon completion of the

losses as they become cvident. In this regard, a si
amount of accounts receivable remained past due at
September 30, 2003 and 2002. A majority of these past due
irems relate to billings to various entities within Department
of Defense (DOD) who rely on the Defense Finance and
Accounting Service (DFAS) o process vendor p

contract. Provisions for anticipated contract losses ate

recognized at the time that they become evident.

Revenue is recognized on multiple clement

d

for items when the product has

Historically, customer payments processed through DFAS
have generally taken longer to receive than payments from
other federal and private sector customers, FPI believes that
ultmately, a majority of its past-due accourts receivable are
fully collectable. The amount due FPI from DOD for fiscal
years ended Septeruber 30, 2003 and 2002 was §54,185 and
$74,913 respectively.

While federal accounts receivable are normally fully
collectable in accordance with federal Taw, FPI has
established an allowance for future losses againse its federal
accounts receivable to account for potential billing errors
related to pricing and customer discounts, as well as,
instances of expired or cancelled funding from its federally
appropriated customers. At September 30, 2003 and 2002,
FPIs allowance for doubtful accounts is stated at
approximately $4,977 and 85,034, respectively, of which
approximately 84,329 and $4,447, respectively, represents the

amounts allocated against federal accounts receivable.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of average cost or market
vahie (LCM) and include materials, labor and manufacturing
overhead. Market value is calculated on the basis of the
contractual or anticipated selling price, less allowances. FPL
values its finished good and sub-assembly items at a standard
cost that is periodically adjusted to approximate actual cost.

FPI has established inventory aflowances to account
for LCM adjustments and excess and/or obsolete items that

may not be utilized in future periods.

Revenue Recognition
FPE sells a wide range of products and services to a

been accepted by the customer. Revenue for services
provided on behalf of FPI is recognized when the service
provider presents a valid invoice including a customer

aceeptance or completion notice.

FPI records a5 other revenue the shipping and
handling costs that have been billed to our customers. The
cost of providing this service is recorded as a cost of other

revenue,

Duterred revenue is comprised of customer cash
advances, which have been paid to FPl prior to the
manufacturing of goods, delivery of goods, or performance
of services,

Other income is comprised primarily of imputed
financing for retirement, health benefits and life insurance
{Note 9).

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of an
i depreciat D ation s

allowance for "

computed using the straight-line method over the following

estimated useful lives:

Years
Machinery & Equipment 5-25
Computer Hardware 5-10
Computer Software 3-5
Building & Improvements 24440

Upon retirement or disposition of property and
equipment, the related gain or loss is reflected in the

statement of operations. Repairs and maintenance costs are

diversified base of primarily governmental
departments, agencies and bureaus. Revenue is generally
recognized when delivery has occurred or services have been

rendered, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, there

pensed as incarred.

FP1 Notos wo Financial Statcments

PAGE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Dollars in Thousands)

Taxes

As a wholly-owned corporation of the federal government,
FPI is exempt from federal and state income taxes, gross
receipts tax, and property taxes.

Reclassifications
Cermin fiscal year 2002 amounts in the accompanying
financial statements and notes thereto have been reclassified

to conform to our current year presentation,

Note 3
Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts reccivable, net consists of the following:

ber 30 2003 2002
nmental billed bl § 64,341 92,349
Private sector billed receivables 6,398 5,568

70,538 97,917
Less allowance for doubtful accounts 4,977 5,034
Accounts receivable, net $ 65,562 § 92,883

Note 4
Inventovies, Net

inventories, net consist of the following:

ptember 30 2003 2002
Raw materials $ 44,029 § 46,229
Raw materials - vehicles 24,941 24,886
Work-in-process 21,774 31546
Finished sub-assemblies 7.546 7,816
Finished goods 37973 30,951

Finished goods ~ acceptance contracts 20,137 12,215

156,400 153,643
Less inventory allowance 9,698 11,796
Inventories, net $146,702 $141,847

$24,941 of FPT's fiscal year 2003 and $24.886 of FPI%
fiscal year 2002 raw materials balance represents vehicles and
component parts that have been purchased on behalf of the
Customs and Border Protection and Bureau of Immigration

Federal Prison Industries, Inc.

and Customs Enforcement of the Department of Homeland
Security (IYHS) for retrofit services that are performed by
FPL As part of an interagency agreement, DHS provides
advance funding to FPI to procure these vehicles, Revenue
is recognized by FPI at the time of shipment of retrofitted
vehicles to DHS.

$20,137 of FPIs fiscal year 2003 and $12,215 of FPI's
fiscal year 2002 finished goods balance represents goods that
have been shipped to customers or their agents, but for
which revenue has not been recognized because of
acceptance criteria within the customer contract. A majority
of this amount consists of systems furniture installations in
progress.

Note 5
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

Property, plant and equipment, net consists of the following:

ber 30 . 2603 2002
Machinery and equipment $ 89,943 § 91,296
Computer hardware 3,09 2,740
Computer software 5,965 6,806
Buildings and improvements 164,259 166,321

263,263 267,163
Less accumulated depreciation 147,095 140,072
116,168 127,091
Factory construction-in-progress 213 111

Property, plant and equipment, net $116,381 §127,202

Depreciation and ization expense app
$11,773 and $12,404 for the fiscal years ended September
30,2003 and 2002, respectively.

As of September 30, 2003, various projects were in
progress for the construction of new industrial facilities and
the renovation of existing facilities, In this regard, BOP, on
behalf of FP, is planning to invest approximately $17.105,
provided from their fiscal year 2002 and 2003 building and
facilities appropriations, during the next fiscal year for the
construction of buildings and improverments. In addition,
during the next fiscal year, FP1 is planning to invest
approximately 812,051 for the purchase and construction of
property, plant, and equipment.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Dollars in Thousands)
Fe

Note 6
Other Accrued Expenses

Orher accrued expenses consist of the following:

ber 30 2003 2002
Permanent change of station § 2411 § 1,862
Information systems 614 3,614
FECA liability — current portion 936 764
Materials in Transit 2,369 2,067
Financial Audic Expense 946 900
Utilities 1,290 1,768
Otherexpense 1,511 1,894

Other accrued expenses $ 10,077 3 12,669

Note 7
Note Payable to United States Treasury

Congress has granted FPI borrowing authority pursuant to
Public Law 100-690. Under this authority, FPI has
bovrowed $20,000 from the Bureaw of Public Debt of the
United States Treasury (the Treasury) with an extended
Tump-sum maturity date of September 30, 2008, The funds
received under this note have been internally restricted for
use in the construction of plan facilities and the purchase of
equipment, The note accrues interest, payable March 31 and
September 30 of each fiscal year at 5.5% (the rate equivalent
to the yield of United States Treasury obligations of
comparable maturities which existed on the date of a note
maturity extension, granted in fiscal year 1998). Accrued
interest payable under the note is either fully or pardally
offset to the extent FPI maintains non-interest bearing cash
deposits with the Treasury. In this regard, there is no accrual
of interest unless FPTs daily eash balance on deposit with the
“Treasury is less than the unpaid principal balance of all note
advances received, as determined by 3 monthly calculation
performed by the Treasury. When FPLs daily cash balance is
less than the unpaid principal balance of all note advances
received, interest is calculated by the Treasury on the
difference between these two amounts. The note agreement
provides for certain restrictive covenants and a prepayment
penalty for debt retirements prior to 2008. Additionally, the
agreement limits authorized borrowing in an aggregate

amount not to exceed 25% of FPI's net equity.

eral Prison Industries, Inc.

There was no interest expense related to this note for
the fiscal years ended September 30, 2003 and 2002.

Note 8
Business Segments

FPls businesses are organized, managed and internally
reported as eight ope‘mdng segments based on products and
services, ‘_'I'hesc segments are Clothing and Texuiles;
Electronics; Fleet Management and Vehicular; Graphics;
industrial Products; Office Furniture; Recycling; and
Services. These segrmemts represent virmually all of FPUs
product lines. FP1 is not dependent on any single product as
a primary revenue source; however, it is dependent on the
federal govermment market for the sale of its products. FPI%
net sales for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2003 and
2002 for each of its business segmemts is presented for
comparative purposes:

Net Sales

Fiscal year ended September 30 2003 2002
Business Segment

Clothing and Textiles $158,399 §159.730
Electronics 152,357 132,662
Fleet Management and Vehicular 123,272 99.054
Graphics 23,658 26,006
Industrial Products 36,759 27,782
Office Furniture 151,996 217,852
Recyding 8083 3339
Services 12239 12,210
Net sales $666,763 $678,655

Regulatory Compliance

FPI’s ability to add or to expand production of a specified
product is regulated by the Federal Prison Industries Reform
Act {“the Act"). The Act provides specific guidelines to FPI

+ hodol 1

for

it ing and reporting new
or expanded products, including requiring FP to provide
direet notice to trade associations and interested parties of
such actions. Finally, publication of annual decisions of the
FP1 Board of Directors and senti-annual sales disclosures are

mandated under the Act.

FPI Notes to Financiat Stalemencs
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Notes to Financial Statements (DollarsFin Thousands)

Note 9
Intra~Department of Justice (DOJ)/
Intragovernmental Financial Activities

FPI's financial acuvities interact with and are dependent
upon those of DOJ and the federal government as a whole.

The folfowing is 2 discussion of ceraain intra-DQJ and

eral Prison Industries, Inc.

approved costs. Future claims and benefits are determined
from an actuarial extrapolation, utilizing historical bemefic
payment patterns and calculations of projected future benefit
payments discouated to current value over a 23.5 year
period. FPI% estimated future liability approximated §7,932
and $7,935 at September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively:

intragovernmental activities and their relationship with FPI:

Relationship with the Federal Bureau of Prisons

FP1 and the Federal Bureau of Prisons (BOP) have a unique
relationship in that the nature of their respective missions
requires the sharing of facilities and responsibilities relative to
the custody, training and employment of federl inmates.

Substancially all of FPI's civilian employees are covered under
either the Civil Service Retirement System (CSRS) or the
Federal Employees Retivement System (FERS).  For
employees covered wnder CSRS (those employees hired
prior to January 1, 1984), FPI contributes approximarely 7.0

percent (for normal retiremens) or 7.5 percent (for

The Director of the BOP serves as the Chief
Officer of FPI and the Chief Operating Officer of FPI serves
as an Assistant Director of the BOP. The BOP provides land
to FP] for the construction of its manufacturing facitities and
both FPl and BOP share certain facilitics, generally at no
cost to FPL

Seilf Insurance

1

In

with federal government policy. FPI is
uninsured with respect to property damage, product Hability,
and other customary business loss exposures, Losses incurred
ave absorbed as a current operating expense or, if they are
induced by factors related to FPIS relationship with the
Federal Prison System, may be reimbursed by BOP. Certain
other costs, principally relating to personal injury claims, are
paid directly by the federal governmenc,

Federal Employees Compensation Act

The Federal Employees Compensation Act (FECA) provides
income and medical cost pratection to cover federal civilian
employees injured on the job, employees who have incurred a
work-related occupational disease, and beneficiaries of

employees whose death is attributable to 2 job related injury or

‘hazard ployee’s salary. CSRS
covered employees do not have Federal Insurance

duty reti of each

Contributions Act (FICA) withboldings and, thus, are not
fully eligible to receive Social Security bemefits. For
employees covered under FERS, (generally those employees
hired on or after January 1, 1984) FPI contributes 10.7
percent (for normal retirement) or 22.7 percent (for

hazardous duty retirement).

Under FERS, employees also receive retirement
benefits from Social Security and, if applicable, benefits from
a defined contribution plan {thrift). Under the thrift plan,
an employee may contribute {tax deferred) up te 13 percent
of salary to an investment fund, FPI then matches chis
amount up to 5 percent. Thase employees, which elected 10
remain under CSRS after January 1, 1984, condoue to
receive benefits in place, and puy also conmibute (rax
deferred) up to 8 percent of their salary to the thrift plan, but
with no matching amount contributed by FPI.

CSRS and FERS are multi-employer plans. Although
FPI funds a portion of pension benefits relating o its
employees, and provides for the necessary payrall

ithholdi it daes not maintain or report information

occupational disease. The United States Dy of Labor
(DOL). which administers FECA, annually charges each
federal agency and department for its applicable portion of
claims and benefiss paid in the preceding year. As of Seprember
30, 2003 and September 30, 2002, the accrued FECA Hability
a5 charged to FPL, approximated $936 and $737, respectively.

DOL ako calculates the liability of the federal
government for future claims and benefits, which includes

the estinnated liability of death, disabilicy, medical, and other

with sespect to the assets of the plans, nor does it report
actuarial data with respect to accumulated plan benefits or
the pension hability relative to its employees. The reporting
of such amounts is the responsibility of the United States
Office of Personuel Management.

FPI's contribution to bath plans was approximately
$24.314 and $22.340 for the years ended September 30,
2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Dollars in Thousands)
Fed

Heulth Benefits and Life Insurance

FP1. through the Office of Personnel Management (OPM),
offers health and life insurance plans under which premium
costs for health care are shared between FPI and the
employees. A substandal portion of life insurance preminms
are paid for by employees. Amounts paid by FPI for health
benefits approximated $7,910 and $6,727 for the fiscal years
ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

OPM abso provides health care and life insurance
benefis for FPUs retired employees. Based on the
requirements of SFFAS No. 5, FP1 must recognize an expense
related to its share of the cost of such pos health

eral Prison Industries, Inc.

Depreciation 3,246 2,883
Gain or Loss on Disposition of Assets 1,741 194
Other Expense 3,604 10,482
Imputed pension costs (Note 9} 397t 3,025

impuced post-retivement health

care and life insurance cost (Note 9) 5,583 3,143
Selling General and $79176 375317
Administrative Expenses

Other expense is comprised primarily of mmate
wages and certain sales and marketing expenses. Contract
services consist primarily of consulting and sales and

X fees. Salaries, wages and benefits are shown net of

benefits and life insurance on 3 current basis (while its
employees are still working), with an offsetting credit to other
income. Costs in this regard, which approximated $5,583 and
$5,143 during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2003 and
2002, respectively, were determined by OPM utilizing cost
factors which estimate the cost of providing post-retirement
benefits to current employees, However, because of the
offsetting credit, the recording of these costs has no impact on

reported net income or cash flows,

Future post-retirement health care and life insurance
benefie costs are not reflected as a liability on FPIs financial
statements, as such costs are expected to be funded in future
periods by OPM.

Note 10
Selling, General and
Administrative Expenses

Selling. general and administrative expenses consist of the
following:

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Fiscal years ended September 30 2003 2002

Salaries, wages and benefits $ 32,440 § 29,714
Permanent change of station expense 3,453 1,901
Purchases of minor equipment 1,283 974
Contract services 9,410 9,388
Bad debt expense 2,903 4,957
Credit card services 1,452 1,733
Travel 2139 2,020
Customer Goodwill 1,241 1,039
Personal Computer Expense 710 1,864

the imputed financing offsetting credit {Note 9).

Note 11

 Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Contingencies

FPl is involved in various legal actons, including
administrative proceedings, hawsuis, and claims. In the
opinion of the organization’s legal counsel, these suits are
without substantial merit and should not result in
Judgments, which in the aggregate would have a material
adverse effect on the organization’s financial statements.

Lease Commitments
FPI leases certain facilities, machinery, vehicles and office

quip under lable operating lease

that expire over future periods. Many of these lease
agreements provide FPI with the option (after initial lease
term) to either purchase the leased item at the then fair value
or to renew the lease for additional periods of time. Future
commitments for the next five years and thereafter are as
follows: fiscal year 2004 $406, fiscal year 2005, $163, fiscal
year 2006, 8127, fiscal year 2007, 367, fiscal year 2008, 855,
and fiscal years after 2008, $25. Renal expense approximated
81,025 and $1.640 for the fiscal years ended September 30,
2003 and 2002, respectively.

Product Warrauty

FPI offers its customers 2 promise of an “Escape Proof
Guarantee” on the products it manufactures.  FPI
Management has analyzed the histarical pattern of sales
returns and the adequacy of the sales returns and allowances.
in this regard, Management has established an estimate of

future returns related to current period product revenue.

E
7
&
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Notes to Financial Statements (Dollars in Thousands)

Federal Prison Industries, Inc.

Minimum Buy Agreements

FPI is obligated under certain “Minimum Buy” purchase
agreements to procure a specified minimum quantity of aw
materials. These agreements are generally related to the
Clothing and Textiles and Electronics business groups, FPL
has sufficient orders from customers at fscal year end to
satisfy the minimum purchase requirements.

Congressional Limitation on Admini "

Expenses

Congress has imposed an annual spending limit on certain
administrative  expenses relating to FPIs central office
management. These costs include salaries for nanagement
personnel, tavel expenses and supplies. The following is a

FPY Notes Lo Financial Staternenis

comparison of actual expenses to the limitation imposed:
PAGE

16 Congressional fimitation on administrati ;
Fiscal years ended September 36 2003 2002

Congressional limitation on expenses $ 3,429 § 3,429

Expenses incurred subject to
Congressional limitation $ 1,432 § 1254
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Report of Independent Auditors on Internal Control

PrcEAATERHOUSE(COPERS @

Inspector General PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

1301 K Se., N.W, Suite 800W

U.S. Department of Justice Washingzon DX 20005-3333
Telephone (202) 414-1000
Board of Directors Facsimile (202) 414-1301

Federal Prison Industries, Inc.
U.S. Department of Justice

We have audited the financial statements of the Federal Prison Industries, Inc.; a financial reporting
component of the U.S. Department of Justice referred to herein as FPi, as of September 30, 2003 and
2002, and for the years then ended, and have issued our report thereon dated November 11, 2003. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, ssued
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Office of Management and Budget (OMB)
Bulletin No. 01-02, Audit Requirements for Federal Financial Statements.

The management of FPI is responsible for establishing and maintaining accounting systems and
internal control. In fulfilling this responsibility, estimates and judgments are required to assess the
expected benefits and related costs of internal control policies and procedures. The objectives of
internal control are to provide management with reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that: (1)
trapsactions are properly recorded, processed, and summarized to permit the preparation of reliable
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America, and to safeguard assets against loss from unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition; (2)
transactions are executed in compliance with laws and regulations that could have a direct and material
effect on the financial statements, and any other laws, regulations and government-wide policies
identified in Appendix C of OMB Bulletin No. 01-02; and (3) transactions and other data that support
reported performance measures are properly recorded, processed, and summarized to permit the
preparation of performance information in accordance with criteria stated by FPI management.
Because of inherent limitations in any internal control, errors or fraud may nevertheless occur and not
be detected. Also, projection of any evaluation of internal control to future periods is subject to the
risk that procedures may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the effectiveness
of the design and operation of policies and procedures may deteriorate.

In planning and performing our audit of FPI' financial statements, we obtained an understanding of
the design of significant internal controls and whether they had been placed in operation, tested certain
controls and assessed control risk in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the financial statements. We limited our control testing to those controls
necessary to achieve the objectives described above and we did not test all controls relevant to operating
objectives as broadly defined by the Federal Managers’ Financial Integrity Act of 1982. Our purpose
was not to provide an opinion on FPI%s internal controls. Accordingly, we do not express such an
opinion.

With respect to internal controls relevant to data that support reported performance measures, we
obained an underseanding of the design of significant internal controls relating to the existence and

s
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completeness assertions, as required by OMB Bulletin No. 01-02. Our procedures were not designed to
provide assurance on internal controls over reported performance measures. Accordingly, we do not
provide an opinion on such controls.

We noted certain matters in FPI's internal controls that we consider to be reportable conditions under
standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Reportable conditions
involve matters coming to our attention relating to significant deficiencies in the design or operation
of internal control that, in our judgment, could adversely affect the entity’s ability to meet the internal
control objectives described in the second paragraph. Material weaknesses are reportable conditions in
which the design or operation of one or more of the ingernal control elements does not reduce to a
relatively low level the risk that errors or fraud in amounts that would be material in relation to the
financial staterments being audited or material to a performance measure or aggregation of related
performance measures may occur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the
normal course of performing their assigned functions. Qur consideration of internal control would not
necessarily disclose all matters in internal control that might be reportable conditions and, accordingly,
would not necessarily disclose all reportable conditions that are also considered to be material
weaknesses as defined above. The reportable condition below is not considered a material weakness.

Technical and security design and implementation of the SAP financial application
need improvement.

The remainder of this report discusses the reportable condition in more detail. Our recommendations
for corrective action and status of prior year findings and recommendations are also provided.

* ok ok kok ok ok ok K K

Technical and security design and implementation of the SAP financial application
need improvement

Our testing of the SAP application environment responsible for processing FPI's financial transactions
identified improvements needed to strengthen the design and implementation of its information
security program. Specifically, we identified the following weaknesses:

*» The SAP security strategy does not include specific strategies and policies that address the control
of high-risk SAP security identification (ID) profiles and transactions, security re-certifications,
and various security administration procedures.

« High-risk and/or vendor-supplied profiles have been assigned to user IDs. These user IDs allow
users to process system and database updates across all functional and technical areas, which may
not be detected in a timely manner.

« An excessive number of end-users had the ability to perform activities, such as table maintenance
and batch processing through system-level transactions. The use of system-level transactions for
these activities allows a user to bypass inherent controls that are built into the related business
process transactions and could impact system performance.
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« An excessive number of end-users were also identified with access to sensitive transactions and
segregation of duty conflicts within the purchasing, payables, sales, and receivables functions.

* Some security administration procedures were not consistently followed to ensure that visibility
and control over user access were properly monitored and addressed. For example, procedures
have not been consistently implemented for monitoring unused user IDs, maintaining user access
to reflect reengineered roles and to comply with the access requested on the user request form,
and ensuring site sccurity administrators cannot maintain their own access privileges.

= Password controls have not been fully addressed, such as populating the table of easily guessable
passwords and propetly setting the system parameter to control deletion of the powerful “SAP*”
1D

* Segregation of duties issues exist with respect to SAP Patch Teams who perform business
configuration and programming. Specificaily, the Teams have update access to both development
and production environments.

impl ion of inconsistent security practices and configurations may Jead to unauthorized access
and/or modification, possibly causing corruption of the SAP financial application and production data
through unauthorized, inadvertent, or malicious actions.

OMB A-130, Appendix 1, Security of Federal Automated Information Resources, requires agencies to implement
the practice of least privilege whereby user access is restricted to the minimum necessary to perform his or
her job function; and enforce a separation of duties so that steps in a critical function are divided among
different individuals. It also emphasizes the importance of management controls — such as individual
accountability requirements, separation of duties enforced by access controls, and limitation on the
processing privileges of individuals — to prevent and detect inappropriate or unauthorized activities.

According to National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Special Publication NIST 800-
12: An Introduction to Computer Security,“The Computer Security Act mandates that agencies develop
computer security and privacy plans for sensitive systems.” In addition, this publication mentions the
importance of incorporating logical controls into systems.

Roport of Independant Auditors on Internai Gontrol
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Recommendations

We recommend FPI:

-

.Review and update the existing SAP technical administration procedures and application level
security design to ensure compliance with OMB A-130 and NIST 800-12.

.Review and restrict the assignment of SAP-supplied and high-risk profiles in the production
environment. Create custom profiles that restrict users to only the functionality needed to perform
their specific job functions. In addition, implement monitoring controls to ensure that these
procedures are followed.

. Review and restrict the assignment of system-level transactions that provide access to perform table
maintenance and batch processing.

. Define segregation of duties conflicts at the transaction level to ensure that conflicts within a single
role can be identified, in addition to conflicts among combined roles. Define all roles, including end-
user and competency center roles with specific transaction codes, thereby reducing the risk of
segregation of duties where transaction ranges are defined. Review the list of users with access to
sensitive transactions to ensure that access is. appropriate. In addition, where segregation of duties
conflicts are identified that cannot be resolved, ensure that adequate compensating controls are in
place to monitor access to sensitive transactions.

5. Take measures to ensure that existing procedures for providing visibility and control over user access
is properly enforced. At a minimum, ensure that procedures have been fully implemented for
monitoring and revoking unused IDs, providing guidelines for maintaining user access, and
preventing site security administrators from maintaining their own access privileges.

. Protect the powerful “SAP*” account by removing default profiles, locking the 113, and setting the
system parameter to prevent the use of a default password if the 1D is deleted. In addition, ensure
password controls are in place to eliminate easily guessable passwords.

. Implement the proposed strategy to restrict Application, Basis, and ERP personnels access to the SAP
production environment.

~

[~
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Status of Prior Year Findings and Recor dation:

As required by Government Auditing Standards and OMB Bulletin 01-02, we have reviewed the status of
FPIs corrective actions with respect to findings and recc dations identified in prior audits. The table
below provides our assessment of the progress FP has made in correcting the reportable conditions
identified during these audits. We also provide the Office of the Inspector General (O1G) report number
where the condition remains open, our recommendation for improvement, and the scatus of the condition
as of the end of fiscal year 2003:
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Report Reportable Condition Status
No. Material Weakness: The FPI information security
03-30 program management and controls require

improvement.

1) Ensure the risk assessment, security and contingency Completed
plans are updated on a periodic basis. (a)

2) Formally document and implement access control policies. Completed

@

3) Revoke network access of all terminated employees Completed
upon their exit from FPI. ()

4) Implement a log monitoring policy and document Completed
all aceivity. (a)

5) Enforce employee compliance with SDLC policies Completed
and procedures,

6} Require that system change requests be accompanied Completed
with formal documentation.

7) Ensure the contingency plan is update periodically to Completed
reflect the current operating environment. )

8) Document and perform routine and unscheduled Completed
maintenance on servers with critical data.

9) Enforce established policies and procedures for consistent Completed
and secure system configurations and provide guidance on
specific technical issues such as standard server security.

No. Reportable Condition: Improvements are needed in FPI's
03-30 development and implementation of accounting policies to

ensure financial statements are prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.

3
WE | Report of independant Auditors on Internal Gonerol
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Report Reportable Condition Status

Recommendations:

10) Continue to present service, installation, and shipping Completed
revenue as a part of FPI's sales and present the related
expenses as cost of goods sold.

Auditors on Internal

11) Evaluate current policies and procedures for revenue Completed
recognition to ensure they address the types of
transactions encountered in the field.

12) Continue to monitor and review existing order entry Completed
processes to identify and correct the root cause of errors (a)
arising from this process.

e

¢ 13) Develop a process of estimating the average delivery Completed
time of products by product line and geography, and
based on this information prepare month-end closing
entries to reverse the estimated amount of undelivered
products with EO.B. destination terms that have been
recognized as revenue in the general ledger.

14) Develop and implement policies and procedures to Completed
address the applicability of Staff Accounting Bulletin 101,
including contracts with multiple elements, bill and hold
arrangements, and other non-scandard sales transactions.

15) Ensure that those tasked with the responsibility of preparing Completed
FPI accounting policies and the GAAP financial statements
monitor new accounting developments to ensure that FP1
policies and procedures are updated in a timely manner as
standards change.

16) Eliminate the practice of shipping products to a customer’s Completed
facility without a valid purchase order or sales contract
from the customer.

17) Establish a formal policy for accruing and monitoring Completed
warranty reserves in order to ensure the adequacy of
financial statement accruals and disclosures.

(2) This recommendation has been modified during FY 2003 and is now considered a
management letter comment.
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* ok ok ok okok kK kK

We also noted other less significant matters involving FPI% internal controls that we will communicate
to management in a separate letter.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the U.S. Department of Justice Office of
the Inspector General, the management of the Department of Justice, FPI's Board of Directors, the
OMB, and Congress. This report is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than
these specified parties.

ST I
Fipeoirgedpiomn | M/-’&?M 1274

o

November 11, 2003
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RESOLUTION
The Board directs that the practice of “pass-through” of
finished goods items that would otherwise be manufactured by FPI
be discontinued; and that customers be given the right to accept
late delivery, or be granted an immediate waiver to purchase that

portion of the order elsewhere; and that such transactions be
tracked and documented.” :

BOARD APPROVED October 24, 200%,

;. y ,

> o oy,
Kenneth Rocks, Chairman vl 417/‘1'»/(’7/5»/%: _xé/’//j
David Spears, Vice Chairman m)}l“"/

Donald Elliott, Director

Diane Morales, Director

Audrey Roberts, Director
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Marianne Cantwell - Termmation of "Pass-Through practice T Page 1 |
From: Steve Schwaib
To: ALL_UNICOR; CEO/Al Sites; Hawk, Kathleen
Date: Fri, Nov B, 2002 4:03 PM
Subject: Termination of "Pass-Through” practice

At their October 24, 2002 meeting, the Board of Directors adopted a resolution terminating the
"Pass-Through" practice. The resolution reads, "The Board directs that the practice of ‘pass-through’ of
finished goods items that would otherwise be manufactured by FPi be discontinued; and that customers
be given the right to accept late defivery, or be granted an immediate waiver to purchase that portion of
the order eisewhere; and that such fransactions be tracked and documented.”

THIS TERMINATION [S EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY. A revision to the Program Statement 8400.02,
"Definition of Prison-Made Products and Services”, dated 8-10-2000, is being drafted and will be
distributed when completed.

Since most of our factories may not be familiar with the term “pass-through”, let me define what we are
talking about. There have been occasions in the past when FPI has received a customer order and has
loaded the order into production, with the intent of producing it in the normal manner, using inmate iabor.
Subsequent to accepling the customer order, events such as work strikes, lockdowns, inclement weather
or equipment failure have occurred and we have determined that the effect of these events will preciude
FPI from meeting the delivery date committed to the customer. In these instances, FPI has on occasion
exercised the option of buying the finished goods directly from one of our business partners and providing
it directly to the customer without any inmate labor involved. To my knowledge, this practice has only
been used in the office fumiture group, but regardiess, the Board's decision terminates this practice
corporate-wide.

The Board decision requires that whenever we are going to be delinguent in producing an item and where
we might otherwise have used "pass-through" as a means of achieving an on-time delivery, we shalt
instead now contact the customer and advise them of the delay and the projected revised delivery date.
The customer will then be advised that they have the option of accepting from FP! the late delivery of the
delinquent portion of the order {and they will also be advised of any applicable liquidated damages or late
delivery penalties we will pay) or requesting a waiver of our mandatory source for that portion of the order
50 they may procure the item(s) from other sources. If the customer requests a waiver, it wili be granted
immediately,

The contact with the customer, the confirmation of their options and their decision will be documented in
writing, with a copy provided to the General Manager. We will provide the Board with a report of all such
instances at each future Board meeting.

As many of you know, we have employed the “pass-through" practice very infrequently, and only as a
customer satisfaction measure. There is no other incentive for us to use this practice because it costs us
money, provides no inmate work and the sales count against our annual sales ceiling. Nonetheless, the
practice has become a greater irritation to many in the private sector than its value to FPI. Thus, we
believe the Board's decision is prudent and strikes a balance between the interests of all the parties.

Let me express in advance my appreciation for the prompt and professional manner in which | know you
wifl implement this decision. If you have any questions, piease feei free to contact me.

cc: inet: audrey@weakley.aeneas.net; inet: diane.morales@osd.mil; inet.
donrelliott@eaton.com; inet: krocks@fop5.org; inet: spearsd@kfbs.com; inet: Thomas.Carter@osd.mil;
Murphy, Paul
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Department of Defense Sales - FY2003

Electronics Business Group

FSC
1005
1055
1430
1440
1680
2920
4010
4920
4935
5810
5820
5855
5895
5930
5935
5965
5975
5985
5995
5998
5999
6020
6110
6130
6135
6140
6145
6150
6160
6230
6625
8470
J051
J058
J084

Product
Current Carrying Devices
Launchers, Rockets & Pyrotechnics
Guided Missile Remote Control Systems
Current Carrying Devices
Aircraft Accessories & Components
Engine Electrical System Components, Non Aircraft
Wire Rope Assemblies
Alrcraft Maintenance and Specialized Equipment
Guided Missile Maintenance Equipment
Communications Security Equipment and Components
Radio Mounts
Night Vision Equipment
Miscellaneous Communications Equipment
Electrical Switch Assemblies
Connectors, Electrical
Components for Speakers/Headsets/Mics
Electricai Hardware and Supplies
Antennas & Related Equipment
Cable, Cord and Wire Assemblies
Electrical Boards/Cards/Hardware
Misellaneous Electrical and Electronic Components
Fiber Optic Cable Assemblies & Harnesses
Electrical Contro! Equipment
Converters, Electrical, Non-Rotating
Batteries, Non- Rechargeable
Batteries, Rechargeable
Wires/Cables, Elecfrical
Misellaneous Electrical Power/Distribution Equipment
Miscelianeous Battery Retaining Fixtures/Liners
Electric Portable Hand Lighting Equipment
Electrical & Electronic Measurement & Test Equipment
Helmets
Tool Kitting
SINCGARS Kitting
Equipment Assembly Services

3,448,310
9,579,004
12,487,753
972,205
34,508,850
1,598,894
2,503,751
1,206,389
2,458,205
190,473
3,330,759
244,344
3,360,853
36,104,443
1,141,679
21,390,212
9,867
11,008,849
485,688
12,481,157
95,306

Total $ 160,649,086

Clothing & Textiles Products Business Group

FSC
5140
6532
6660
7210
7210
7230
8105
8305
8340
8405

Product/Services
Tool Bags
Hospital/Surgical Clothing
Meteorological Instruments
Mattresses/Linens/Towels
Disaster Blankets
Draperies/Awnings/Shades
Bags and Sacks
Terrycloth
Tents and Tarpaulins
Quterwear, Men's

8405 Dress Shirts, Men

Sales
65
21,523
57,711
9,104,101
1,538,590
1,205,369
260,197
1,376,283
136,963

2,147,862



8410
8415

8420
8465
8470
K058

Industri
FSC
3920
3990
4140
4240
5340
5660
6540
7105
7125
7240
7320
9905

280

8405 Utility Shirt, Men
8405 Medical Assistant Trouser
Women's Shirts
Clothing, Special Purpose
8415 Battle Dress Uniform (BDU) Trousers
8415 Battle Dress Uniform (BDU) Coats
8415 Physical Fitness Uniform (PFU) Trunk
8415 Physical Fitness Uniform (PFU) Tshirt
8415 Physical Fitness Uniform (PFU) Jacket
8415 Physical Fitness Uniform (PFU) Pants
8415 Sweatpants/Sweatshiris
8415 Extreme Cold Weather Trouser
8415 Cold Weather Liner
8415 Men's Navy Utility Coveralls
8415 Flyer Helmet Bag
8415 Neck Gaitor
8415 Swim Trunks
8415 General Purpose Trunks
8415 Gloves, Glove Inserts, Utility Jackets
Brown Undershirt
Ammunition Cases/Canten Covers
Body Armor Covers
Radio Carrying Case Modification

al Products Business Group
Product
Material Handling Equipment, Non Self Propelied
Miscellaneous Material Handiing Equipment
Industrial Filters
Safety & Rescue Equipment
Miscellaneous Hardware
Fencing, Fences and Gates
Optical Instruments/Equipment
Household Furniture
Cabinets, Lockers, Bins and Shelving
Household/Commercial Containers
Kitchen Equipment and Appliances
Signs, Ad Displays and 1.D. Plates

Services Business Group

FSC Product/Service
7510 Office Suplies

7530 Stationery/Record Forms

7540 Standard Forms

7690 Miscellaneous Printed Matter

D303 Data Entry Services

D308 Drawing Conversion Services

D311

Data Conversion Services

5,101,756
1,142,423
1,612,728

15,692,862
8,119,986
9,546,750
8,594,219
6,774,817
4,894,613
2,559,465

16,504,170
2,415,509
1,977,087

478,926
698,233
228,800
180,804
5,121,485
2,807,225
4,300,156
5,032,999
616,532
Total $ 120,250,209

Sales
2,813
376,975
61,269
6,715
448,052
4,806
358,036
10,576,379
4,084,404
280
2,318
2,291,508

Total § 18,213,555

Sales
1,050,397
626,039
12,090
128,690
8,050
18,766
36,522



D312
$209
R604
TO11
T099
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Optical Scanning Services
Laundry Services

Mail Distribution Services
Printing & Binding Services
Miscellaneous Printing Services

Fleet Management Business Group

FSC
2590
J023
J025
J028
Jo39
K023

Product/Service
Miscelianeous Vehicular Components
Humvee Repair Services
Vehicular Component Repair Services
Engine and Turbine Repair Services
Forklift Repair Service
Retrofitting Services

Office Furniture Business Group

FSC
6645
7110
7195

Product
Time Instruments
Office Furniture
Miscellaneous Furniture & Fixtures

Total §

Total $

Total §

451,227
3,533,928
6,019
43,591
3,092,509
9,007,828

Sales

1,563,465
910,479
4,020,514
2,729,593
3,067,835
6,683

12,298,569

Sales
20,077
59,356,850
1,259,637
60,636,564
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U.S. Department of Justice

UNICOR

Paderal Prison Industries, Inc.
Washington, DC 20534

October 3, 2003

MEMORANDUM FOR ALL UNICOR STAFF

FROM: Stéve Schégfﬁ%‘izzzg;ant Director

Industries, Education, and Vocational Training
SUBJECT: FY 2004 Operating Plan

Attached is the Federal Prison Industries Operating Pian for
FY 2004.

The 2004 Operating Plan takes into account the continued
challenges we face. These include the activation of new
factories, declines in some business lines, war demand surges in
others, and, the continued pursuit of new opportunities. Our
highest priority continues to be providing job skills training to
inmates, by offering great products and services to our customers,
thereby remaining financially self-sustaining.

The measures announced in July on cost control measures and cash
levels are already having some effect. This plan anticipates
continued progress on those initiatives.

You will note that this plan is different from previous plans, in
that it contains overall goals only for the corporation and for
the business groups. It deliberately does not outline each
individual factory’s projections. We expect that in 2004,
additional product adjustments will occur, unforseen opportunities
will arise, and some additional factory reorganizations may be
needed. Thus, each General Manager will work closely with the
individual factories to ensure achievement of the goals detailed
in the individual Memorandums of Understanding.

Our staff continue to be our key to success. Their commitment,
professionalism, dedication, flexibility, and can-do spirit have
inspired our inmate workforce, garnered customer support,
generated new business, and, most of all, been the glue that holds
together all the pieces of this great organization. There is no
better group of people to face the challenges ahead.

1 salute your accomplishments in 2003, and look forward to our
mutual success in 2004!

Attachment
cc: Board of Directors

Regional Directors
Wardens
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FEDERAL PRISON INDUSTRIES
FY 2004 PROGRAM INVOICED SHIPMENTS AND EARNINGS PLAN
COMPARED WITH FY 2003 ACTUAL ESTIMATES

{DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)
INVOICED SHIPMENTS EARNINGS
TO OTHER AGENCIES EARNINGS PERCENTAGE

FY 2003 FY 2004 FY 2003 FY 2004 FY 2003 FY 2004

CLOTHING & TEXTILE $158,400 $157,682  $25,661 $21,124 16.2% 13.4%
ELECTRONICS 152,357 139,611 38,089 25,549 25.0% 18.3%
FLEET MGMT AND VEHICULAR COMPONENTS 123,324 131,480 2,220 3,220 1.8% 2.4%
GRAPHICS 23,658 26,000 2,697 3,900 11.4% 15.0%
INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS 36,758 39,000 (3,161) o -8.6% 0.0%
OFFICE FURNITURE 152,009 140,161 {2,280) 9,800 ~1.5% 7.0%
RECYCLING 8,100 9,180 o 450 0.0% 4.9%
SERVICES 12,239 15,884 1,040 3,000 8.5%  18.9%
TOTALS $666,846 $653,998 $64,266 $67,043 9.6%  10.2%
NET INDUSTRIAL INCOME $64,266 $67,043 9.6% 10.2%
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE: $64,700 $65,486
PLUS INVESTMENT INCOME $1,850 $1,500
OTHER INCOME $2,000 $2,000
NET INCOME $3,416 $5,057 0.5% 0.8%
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FY 2004 OPERATING PLAN

BUSINESS GROUP SUMMARIES
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INVOICED SHIPMENTS ($000) - FY 2004

PROGRAM gR1| om2]| orrR3] qmr4]| TOTAL
CLOTHING & TEXTILES 41,351 | 38,012 | 38,811 | 38,608 | 157,682
ELECTRONICS 33,359 | 35,210 | 35,210 | 35,631 139,611
FLEET MGMT/VEHIC CMPT 33,406 | 22,764 | 36,740 | 38,570 | 131,480
GRAPHICS 6,240 | 5,720 | 6,760 | 7,280 26,000
INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS 10,530 | 9,750 | 8,970 | 9,750 | 39,000
OFFICE FURNITURE 39,036 | 34,230 | 30,708 | 36,187 | 140,161
RECYCLING 2,295 | 2,295| 2,295 | 2,295 9,180
SERVICES 3,518 | 3,737 | 4,151 | 4,478 15,884
INVOICED SHIPMENTS 169,735 | 152,619 | 163,645 | 172,999 | 658,998

STOCK TRANSFERS ($000) - FY 2004

PROGRAM QIR 1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 TOTAL

CLOTHING & TEXTILES 400 400 400 400 1,600
ELECTRONICS 1,275 1,275 1,275 1,275 5,100
FLEET MGMT/VEHIC CMPT 82 107 133 133 455
GRAPHICS 88 88 86 88 350
INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS 2,585 2,450 2,355 2,470 9,860
OFFICE FURNITURE 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 10,000
RECYCLING 0 0 0 0 Y]
SERVICES a 4] [ 0 [4]

STOCK TRANSFERS 6,930 6,820 6,749 6,866 27,365

% OF TOTAL INVOICED SHIPMENTS & STO's 3.9% 4.3% 4.0% 3.8% 4.0%

TOTAL INVOICED SHIPMENTS and STOCK TRANSFERS ($000) - FY 2004

PROGRAM OTR 1 QIR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 TOTAL

CLOTHING & TEXTILES 41,7511 39,312 | 39,211 | 39,008 159,282
ELECTRONICS 34,6341 36,485; 36,485 | 37,106 144,711
FLEET MGMT/VEHIC CMPT 33,488 | 22,8711 35873 38,703 131,935
GRAPHICS 6,328 5,808 6,846 7,368 26,350
INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS 13,115 | 12,200 11,325 | 12,220 48,860
OFFICE FURNITURE 41,536 i 36,730 | 33,208 | 38,687 150,161
RECYCLING 2,295 2,295 2,295 2,295 9,180
SERVICES 3,518 3,737 4,151 4,478 15,884

TOTAL INVOICED SHIPMENTS & STO's | 176,665 | 159,439 | 170,394 | 179,865 686,363
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FACTORY OVERHEAD COSTS ($000) - FY 2004 % OF

PROD.

PROGRAM QTR 1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 | TOTAL COSTS
CLOTHING & TEXTILES 12,460 | 12,375 12,369 1 12,379 49,583 35,9%!
ELECTRONICS 8,000 8,444 8,444 8,593 33,481 28.1%
FLEET MGMT/VEHIC CMPT 4,750 4,900 4,950 5,100 19,700 15.3%
GRAPHICS 2,835 2,805 3,070 3,090 11,800 52,6%
INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS 6,010 6,037 6,049 6,024 24,120 | 49.4%]
OFFICE FURNITURE 15,536 | 13,624 | 12,222 | 14,402 55,784 39.7%
RECYCLING 2,289 2,289 2,289 2,291 9,158 | 104.9%
SERVICES 2,921 3,271 3,054 3,069 12,315 95.6%

TOTAL 54,801 ] 53,745 | 52,447 | 54,948 | 215,941
% OF TOTAL PRODUCTION COSTS 34.5%] 37.3%] 34.0%| 33.9% 34.9%
EARNINGS ($000) - FY 2004 % of
Inv.

PROGRAM QTR 1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 TOTAL Shpmt
CLOTHING & TEXTILES 6,051 5,037 5,012 5,024 21,124 13.4%l
ELECTRONICS 6,387 6,132 6,132 6,898 25,549 18.3%)
FLEET MGMT/VEHIC CMPT 1,320 515 612 773 3,220 2.4%]
GRAPHICS 798 678 1,107 1,317 3,900 15.0%
INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS 0 0 0 0 ] 0.0%:
OFFICE FURNITURE 2,548 2,352 2,254 2,646 9,800 7.0%]
RECYCLING 112 113 113 112 450 4.9%}
SERVICES 510 420 930 1,140 3,000 18.9%)

TOTAL - EARNINGS 17,726 | 15,247 | 16,160 | 17,910 67,043
AS % OF TOTAL INVOICED SHIPMENTS 10.4%| 10.0% 9.9%| 10.4% 10.2%




288

TOTAL INVENTORY ($000) - FY 2004 *Average
Inventory
PROGRAM QTR 1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 Tums
CLOTHING & TEXTILES 17,870 17,660 17,660 17,560 7.8
ELECTRONICS 28,567 28,864 29,162 29,757 4.1
FLEET MGMT/VEHIC CMPT 35,000 24,720 32,720 33,220 4.1
GRAPHICS 2,230 | 2,230 2,230 | 2,230 10.1
INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS 7,181 7,319 7,326 7,446 6.7
OFFICE FURNITURE 24,931 22,458 20,808 20,873 6.3
RECYCLING 1] 0 4] [+]
SERVICES 310 310 310 310 41.6
TOTAL 116,089 | 103,561 | 110,216 | 111,396 5.6

* COST OF SALES/AVG INVENTORY

PLANNED INMATE EMPLOYMENT - FY 2004

PROGRAM QTR 1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QIR 4

CLOTHING & TEXTILES 5,571 5,427 5,477 5,477
ELECTRONICS 2,967 3,031 3,126 3,190
FLEET MGMT/VEHIC CMPT 1,926 2,026 2,345 2,446
GRAPHICS 668 668 668 668
INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS 1,410 1,410 1,410 1,410
OFFICE FURNITURE 3,875 3,875 3,875 3,875
RECYCLING 1,085 1,085 1,085 1,085
SERVICES 1,442 1,442 1,476 1,503
SUB-TOTAL 18,944 | 18,964 | 19,462 | 19,654

CENTRALIZED ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 70 70 79 70
CUSTOMER SERVICE CENTER 130 130 130 130
PRODUCT SUPPORT CENTER 175 175 175 175
TOTAL 19,319 | 19,339 | 19,837} 20,029
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ACTIVATIONS
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FEDERAL PRISON INDUSTRIES
BUILDINGS AND IMPROVEMENTS (B&I)
FUNDING FOR BUILD-OUTS AT NEW FACTORIES
PLAN FOR FISCAL YEARS 2004-2006
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

9/30/03
LOCATION FY2004 FY2005 FY2006
Bennettsville, SC 300
Big Sandy, KY 60
Butner III 750
Canaan, PA 750
Carswell 125
Coleman USP II 300
Forrest City Med. 60
Fort Dix 200
Gilmer, WV 60
Hazleton, WV 60
Herlong, CA 300
La Tuna 60
Conversion
McCreary Co, KY 60
Morgantown 150
Petersburg 110
Terre Haute USP 750
11
Tuscon 450
Victorville USP 60
Victorville Med II 60
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Williamsburg, SC 350

Yazoo City Med. 250

Factory 450

Conversions

Sub-total 1,515 1,950 2,250
Contingency 152 195 225
10%

Grand Total $ 1,667 {$ 2,145 1 % 2,475

* Carryover from FY03 Activation

September 30, 2003

FEDERAL PRISON INDUSTRIES
. MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT (M&E)
PLAN FOR FISCAL YEARS 2004-2006
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

LOCATION FY 2004 FY 2005 FY 2006

Allenwood WH . 60

Bennettsville, SC 1,000

Big Sandy, KY* 264

Big Spring WH 40

Butner 111 1,000

Canaan, PA 1,000

Carswell 225

Coleman USP/ 140 10
Distr.
Center*

Coleman USP II 900
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Forrest City Med. 1,100 350

Fort Dix 200

Gllmer, WV 1,969

Hazleton, WV 450 100

Herlong, CA 1,000

La Tuna* 236

Loretto WH 40

McCreary Co., KY 900

Morgantown* 626

Petersburg Med. 50

Tallahassee 1,000

Terre Haute USP 1,000
II

Tuscon 800
Victorville USP 500 1,500

Victorville Med. 550 1,450

II

Williamsburg, SC 450 400

Yazoo City Med. 900

Factory 700

Conversions

Sub-total 9,440 7,770 3,700
Contingency 944 777 370
10%

Grand Total $ 10,384 | $ 8,547 4,070

* Includes carryover from FY03 Activation Projects

September 30, 2003
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BUILDINGS & IMPROVEMENTS
MACHINERY & EQUIPMENT

10
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and I

i Prison Ind ies

APro’

/Machinery and Eq

Fiscal Year 2004
Expenditure by Quarter

CLOTHING & TEXTILES BUSINESS GROUP

{

1Qo4 2Q04 3Q04 4Qo4 Total
Bal 60,000 | 104,000 | 42,000 | 130,000 336,000
M&E 424,600 | 238,000 | 200,500 | 284,000 1,147,100
ELECTRONICS BUSINESS GROUP
1Qo4 2Q04 3Q04 4Qoa Totat
Bal 275,000 [ o 0 275,000
MaE 1,205,720| 86,500 | 22,500 | 15,000 1,329,720

FLEET MANAGEMENT & VEHICULAR COMPONENTS GROUP

1Q04 2Q04 3Q04 4Q04 Total
Bat 65,000 | 150,000 | 200,000 0 415,000
MaE 375,000 | 233,500 0 20,000 628,500
GRAPHICS BUSINESS GROUP
1Qo4 2Q04 3Q04 4Q04 Yotal
BaI o 0 ) [ [
MaE 122,500 | 112,500 | 62,500 | 62,500 360,000
INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS BUSINESS GROUP
1Qoa 2Q04 3Q04 4Q04 Total
Bal ) ) 0 [ 0
MaE 71,625 | 71,625 | 71,625 | 71,625 286,500
OFFICE FURNITURE BUSINESS GROUP
1Qo4 2Q04 3Qo4 4Q04 Total
Bal 0 [ 0 [ o
MaE 213,250 | 450,000 | 98,000 | 110,750 872,000
RECYCLING BUSINESS GROUP
1Qoa 2Q04 3Q04 4Q04 Yotat
Bal 0 0 [) 0 o
M&E 119,000 | 90,000 6,000 [ 215,000
SERVICES BUSINESS GROUP
1Q04 2Q04 3Q04 4Q04 Total
B&I 100,000 ) 0 ) 100,000
MBE 743,700 o o ) 743,700
SUPPORT BRANCHES
1904 2Q04 3Q04 4Q04 Total
Bal 30,000 ) o 0 30,000
MBE 620,258 | 620,258 | 620,258 | 620,258 2,481,033
1Q04 2004 3Q04 4Qo4a Total
TOTALB&I | 530,000 | 254,000 | 242,000 | 130,000 1,156,000
TOTAL M&E_| 3,895,653 | 1,902,383 | 1,081,383 | 1,184,133 | 8,063,553

1

1
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GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE
EXPENSES

12
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REINTEGRATION TOQLS - PROGRAM DESCRIPTION:
Federal Prison Industries

Federal Prison Industries, Inc. (FP!)is a critical component of the Bureau of Prisons” efforts to
prepare inmates to successfully reenter society. Inmates who work in the FPI program are 24
percent less likely to comnmit crimes and 14 percent more likely to be employed after release,
when compared to similar inmates who did not have FPI program experience. These research
findings hiave been favorably reviewed by nationally respected social scientists and economists.

The FPI program is focused in higher security institations - - those that generally have the most
serious offenders. Seventy-six (76) percent of inmates working in the FPI program have been
convicted of drug trafficking, weapons, and violent offenses. Research shows that these inmates
are also the most likely to return 1o criminal behavior if they have not acquired good work skills
before release from prison.

50
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The FPI program is unique among BOP inmate programs in that it operates at no cost to the
taxpayer. By statute, the FPI program js self-sustaining and receives no appropriated funds for
its operations. But, the FPI program’s purpose is not to be a business that generates revenue, It
is a correctional program. Although the FPI program produces products and performs services,
the real output of the FPI program is inmates who are more likely to retumn to society as law-
abiding taxpayers because of the job skills training and work experience they received in the FPI
program.

The FPI program factories are operated by civilian supervisors and managers, training and
overseeing the work of inmates. The factories utilize raw materials and component parts
purchased from private vendors to produce finished goods. The FPI program’s major customers
include the Department of Defense, the Department of Justice, the U.S. Postal Service, and the
General Services Administration. The FPI program provides a wide variety of products and
services, such as: electronics, clothing and textiles, furniture, warehouse shelving, equipment
repair services, vehicle retrofit services, automated data processing services, vall center sesvices,
and recycling activities.

Revenues are derived from the sale of products and services to Federal customers, government
institutions, and other entities. All of the FPI program aperating expenses, such as the cost for
raw materials and supplies, inmate wages, staff salaries, and capital expenditures are paid from
sales revenue. The FPI program earnings are reinvested to improve existing facilities, build new
factories, purchase equipment, maintain manufacturing capability and to provide working
capital. The FPI program makes capital investments in building and improvements, machinery
and equipmment as necessary in order to conduct industrial operations.

Inmate training is extengive, since most of the inmates have no previous waining, expericnve vt
skills, Much of the needed training occurs on-the-job, with civilian supervisors and experienced
inmates cxplaining.and domonstrating the work to newly assigned inmates, Classroom
instruction is provided by FPI program staff, when more formal wraining is required, for skills
such as goldering,

By statute, the FP1 program’s Board of Directors is composed of six members representing
Industry, Labor, Retailers and Consumers, Agriculture, the Secretary of Defense and the
Attomey General. :

FPI's sales have declined following passage of Sections 811 and 819 of the National Defense
Authorization Acts of 2002 and 2003. This has primarily impacted FPI's office furniture and
textiles programs, which comprise the majority of FPI's sales. These two business groups
represent 53 percent of total revenue, 62 percent of planned earnings, and 53 percent of inmate
employment for the corporation. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2003, factory earnings
were $25.1 million below plan for these two business groups, and net corporate earnings were 87
percent belaw plan. In response, FPI has realigned factories, worked to substantially reduce
operating costs, continues to improve customer relationships and develop other innovative
strategies.

51
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The-BOP is scheduled to activate 16 new institutions between 2004 and 2006, with a collective
capacity of more than 17,000 inmates. Seven of the new institutions will be high security
penitentiaries. The remaining nine will be medium security facilities. Further, these institutions
will house inmates at the two highest security levels, and inmates who are most in need of job
skills training in order to reduce their likelihood of re-offending after release. The BOP relies
beavily on the FPJ program to provide work opportunities for approximately 25 percent of the
higher security inmate population, in order to reduce inmate idleness and enhance safe prison
management.
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THE BUDGET FPOR ri0CAL YEAR 3006

General and specinl funds—Continued
{BUnDINGR AND PaciLmiesy-Continued

Bbject Classification (in millions of dallary)

stentiteation eate 15-1003-0-1-763 RO3actuM Ml 2005 st
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1001 Tota) comoensable mrhmrs‘ Clllian fuli-time equiv-

alent emplayme SR mn 3 [E13

]

Intragoveramental fonds:
FEDERAYL PRISON INDURTHIRS, INCORPORATED
The Federal Pricon Industrics, Incorporated, 53 hevshy sntharizad
o make such expenditures, within the limits of funds and borrowing
authority svailable, and in sccord with the law, and to make euch
contracts and commitments, without rogard to fiseal year limitati

440 Onfigated batance, end of yes ... 188 168 i
Duthays {grass). duteth
8680  Oulfays from now wiscretionary wutharity .. . 3 3 3
3687 Dutleys from naw fandatory aumority K72 784 8
8100 Total outtay (Emss) .o L24] 787 731
Ditssty:
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8835 Change in unoollected cuslomer paymnis trom
Fedorad concae tonurpld) .. ” -
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8900 Budgt xuthorlty
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Mamaranduss {non-edd) safries:
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Federal Prison Industries, Inc., was created by Cougreos
in 1984 and is & wholly-owned CGovernment corporation. Tts
ission is to employ nnd train Federal mmates through a
diversified p d i to other
Federal agencms. These operstmns are conductcd in such a
manner as to offer a minimum of competition to private in-
dustry and Iahar. Employment provides inmates with work,
occupational knowledge and skills, plus money for persons!
expenscs and family assistance.

as provided by Section 9104 of title 33, United Sstuies Cude, ax may
be neeessary in cartying out the program sct forth in the budget
for the current fiseal year for such corperation, including purchase
(nnt tn exceed fve for replacement only) and hire of passenger motor
;g;iclea. /Division B, H.R. 2673, Consnlidated Appropriations Bill,
Y 2004.)

Program zed Finanging {in millions of dolisrs)

The Cor strives to provide addttlcnal industeial em-
ployment oppor at and

Budget program.-Federal Prison !udustnes. Inc., oper-
ations are entiraly sclf-sustaining, and no appropriations are
required for its operations. The smovuuls used by the Corpora-
tion for adminintrative expenses ars subject to 3 cnngrcssianal
hrmtatum Informauon regarding thiz limitation is provided

P g this
Westitcatios to09 15450002753 A kel 0w 205t rogram are derived entirely from
tbe sale of products and services to other Federal agencies.
® m““‘;‘(‘;‘,:;’;;ﬂ::f'°ﬂ';::‘ setlulty o e - Operating sxpenses ara applied ogainst these revenues, re-
0oz o ‘”mm,;s‘ ) N 3 3 3 Bulting in operating income or loss, Barninga surplus to the
0303 OWhar oXD20SES .o 4 10 needs of the manufacturing operations, capital itnprovements
0909 Tal cpsrating epases — and cash reserves are used to pay accident compensation.
0510 Buldings and imarocamont "} Operating resuits.—To date, Federal Prison Induatries, Inc.,
D90V machiney snd squioment 7 has returned to the Treasury a total of $82 million of retained
WIS o captat nasten ™ in¢ome excess to the Corporation’s needs. No contributions
TP IIRENL . .} irom budget authority have been made to uffscl defiits for
1008 Total naw bligations ... 4 non-revenue producing outlays since the inception of the fund.
Budgatary tesnurces avaltabin for shiigation: .
2140 Unobligated Datance camied forward, stat of yaar 12 1% 27 Object Claseificatlon {in millions af dnllare}
2200 Mow dudge! authorty ferass) 7% n 2
entification cogh 15450004753 0% schol 2004 e, 2608 s,
2880 Tntal budglhry resnurcus avaliahle Tar obigation 738 816 758 "
L3 1014} AEwW 0bUGALS -3 -8 744 Personnel comgonsation:
4G Unabligsted balame carrle . e of year H 27 " ;%; {:Iﬂi:lme mep 9 wg ue
£ qersont 2
How tudgst dulority {grose), datall
\ Dissm:lnnm ) ns Spectaf persanst services payment " £ 2
G880 Speading authorly fram offsetting eoltections: Off 118 Tots! porsonnct campensstion g i 1
o m;;:;;"! coflections {cash! . 4 d 3121 Civirien parsannat bunos .. 53 5 Hi
Zg nlg mm‘m‘ collactions feash 7 74 T ;’i?g Teavth ang mn!mmmn of gersont : 1; x;
It uncaliected cu: %
w2 Reotal )'mmnts tv J ¢ z
Fedorat soursas tunexpited o 233 Commurications, mmtm s misceTaneous charges 1 15 s
6930 Spenting authonty fom ofteing colictions 349 hwieg and oroduction & I »
amal atdste) ) T L esiee v maes o s
38 Eguipment ... z H 7
mcom Wr:t: mb;&dm a;;:“::y fgross) 7% " wmope u o oo s - t :
7240 Dbilgated balance, stat of yesr I e g OO ittion on expencas L
7316 Total new chiiyations “ ne 839 FLTR Y Reimburtabls obiigations
7320 Total autlavs (gross) . 575 -9 -1
7400 Change In uncollected cuztomer payments From Feds 999 Total new obiization
1Al ADUTCES {unexpina) ..., - 20
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DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE IS OF BT s 698
Persenmel Sumimary Citagts:
Agais: grass budgel wulbwity and ontlays:
st cote 15450004753 Bewt e Asmt  BR40 Ofelling clestions ‘mm fot, o e 23 5} 248
Reimbossadle: 2
2001 Totat compensabig wprkpodrs: COMAN fufl-ume squtys ~ m R tﬂzell azm i °"“‘Y’
et e 2 e 18 | 2220
slent amployment 53 ain 000 Dutlays
Memurandom {non-add} antries:
9200 Totat invastmenls, storl ul year:
Par valtie ... — i
9202 Total investments, end af yeur: Federal securities:
LtwrratioN oN ADMINISTRATIVE Exransgs, FEDERAL Prison Par valve . ¢

INDUSTRIBS, INCORPORATED
\nt to excccd $3, 429 ,000 of the funda of the corporation shall
for its ative and for services ag au-
L)mruml by & U.B.C. 3309, to be computed nn un aserual bswie to
be determined in accordance with the corporation’s currsnt preacnbcd
be

Budget program.——The commissary fund consiste of the op-
eration of for the ¥ ies as an earned privi-

\eﬁc
8. —Profits are derived from the sale of goods and

accounting system, and such shail of dep

services to inmates. Snlcs for 2005 are estimated at $249

tion. payment of claims, and di which such
system requires to be npxtahzad or charged to cost of miltion. Ad ng capital ic nesured from retained
acruired ar p di: sclhng and ghippi: and  earnings.
! : eonstruction, operation, Operating results.—Profits received are used for programs,
nir 4l of facilities and  goods, and sarviees far the henelfit of inmates.

othcr property belcngmg to the curporadon or in which it has an
interest. (Division B, H.R. 2673, Consolideted Appropriations Rill,

Ohiect Classification Gin millions of doliars)

FY 2004
Hitgatio cods {9-R40RD8-.753 Mot e 06 et
Dbjact Glassification {in millions of daltars) Pursonnel compansation: )
) -4y neht .. . @ 2 u
Iaeetsietion ot 15-6500-0-8-753 2000 golund et 2005wl ﬂé glglm, ::,;,’17&':”“ 5 ! i
11 Parsonnei compensation: Full-time parmanenl . Special parsonal sarvicss payme kA 3 3
268 Sopglias end matriots .
tati $otat personnel compensation 8 €@ (44
80 Linitaton on experses i colian gersral benofs i i i
imiatian acct " igations. . Uttt Sapyics n i il
#0 ot sect—aimiorsaie ehgatiore Supplies and matstials . 155 63 in
Equipment . 3 3 k
Personnal Summnary 93 Total oew ohigations 2w 258 28
enfficat - 205 aetonl . s
eniibcatioe eas 15-4500-0-4753 oo 2008 eat ! Pocsomnat Sommary
00T Tuiad cunpeasatic wothyeatse Crvilian full-tims oquiv.
alhot emplyment ——— k4 3 32 uiestior cods 15-SADB-G-3=753 009 et 004 ox. M5 ast
Rtimbursabie:
2001 Total companaahle warkyesrs: Cvilian fulb-time aquv-
alort AMBIOFIEN crumrrion . 54 ] "
Trust Funde
CoMmissary Funps, FEDERAL PRISONS
(TRUST REVOLVING FUND) OFFICE OF JUSTICE PROGRAMS
Program and Financing {in millions of doilars Federal Funds
ethenion ot 18-3008-0-8-753 Wit mew msw  Oeneral and special funds:
JUSTICE ASSISTANGE
Gdilgations b progrsm actlv N "
0001 Reimbursable progeem 2w 250 258 {For grants, , and othar neaist.
i e l. ance nuthorized by title I of the Omnibys Crime Control and Safe
WOG Tatal new obfigakions .. wm 10 258 Streets Actd of 1968, the Mlssmg Chd&mns Aesmtam:e Act, mcludmg
salarics and the Py 1 Rew.
210 Tttt e s oo ot o 5 q  edies and Other Toots to end the Exploleation of Ghildoar Toduy
2200 New budget authovty (gmes) 28 243 sag  Act of 2003 (Publie Law 108-21), and tha Victims of Crime Act
—— e e of 1984, 3190 125,000, ta remsin available until expended.}
239G Totni budgetnry resourons ovaifohls for obligation 275 3] 80 For gros and other j
2395 TYotal new okligations. -, -7 -~ 250 -258 outkorw,ed by title I of the Omnibus Crime Conxmt and Safe Streets
2440 Usabigated bahace saied famard, and 71 1o o ® 3 2 Act of 1968, (the “1968 Act™), the Misning Children’s Assistance Act,
Haw budgol authority [gross), Setall: the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act of 1874 (the
Handstory “1074 Act™), the Victima of Ohild Abuea Act of I$90 (the “1990 Act™),
59G3  Offselting collections {cach) .. 28 243 3 the Violent Crime Coniral and Low Enforcement Act of 1984 (the
Shangs It sbligated balances: “199¢ Act™), the Vietims of Trofficking and Violence Protection Act
7249 Obilgated hotanoe, sfart of yoor n 5 2 of 2000 (the “2000 Act”), the DNA Analysis Backlog Elimination Act
7130 Totat niew obligations w 2350 se  OF 2000 (the “UNA Act’), the Crime Idemsificaiton and Technology
7323 Tatal mittays (groz) ~23 - 250 —z57  Act of 1995, the Homeland Security Act of 2002, and the Prizon
740 Gbiigated balance, and of yeRr E] 27 s Rope Elimination Aef of 2003 £, 710,664,000, to romoin availoble
nmé‘yx' W;m" dal m“ll)l for mmge/;rronsm ressarch and dzvelopmzn! ag authorized
3697 Catlays from naw mendatory Buthasty e 223 23 2y
8698 Outiays from mandstary daisnces .. [ ¢ by the Homeland Security Act of 2002, $7,000,000;
—— €2) for improving the eriminal justice systom, sasx 575,000 ay fol-
B0 Tocat outiays (RIOSE) 250 5 lows:
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WHAT IS GOELST?

Coe&si is a taminate furniture System aiternative to miliwork. It can also
be used as modular 1ab equipment and offers furniture solutions for areas such
as offices, patient room furnishings, reception counters, and so on. This makes the
product ideal for standards programs that need one type of system for furniture, equipment,
and bullt-ins.

The product consists of an assortment of over 50,000 items such as cabinets, work surfaces, counters,
wardrobes, lockers, desks, tables, bookcases, lab-cores, ete. The systematic manner in which the product is
instalted ensures that the Goelst products always remain delached from the building structure. Therefore the product
is moveable and reconfigurable. In addition, our products are covered by a 30 year warranty against delamination,
10 years on all other materials and workmanship, and 5 vears of free on-site service.

Goelst products are successfully used in such diverse spaces as offices, mail rooms, break rooms, labs, pharmacies, clinics,
operating rooms, emergency rooms, retail stores, banks, libraries, locker rooms, and many other types of spaces. They provide
modular solutions as work stations, storage systems, mail sorters. kifchen cabinets, lab benches. pick stations, exam and procedure
room cabinets. instrument storage, triage desks, checkaut counters. ielier lines. study carrels, lockers, and more.
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in other words, Goelst is not just a
protuct line, it is an environment. With Goelst,
the customer can make dramatic changes to the
process by which plastic laminate miltwork and equipment
are procured, delivered, and instalied. Our process allows

you to buy our products directly from UNICOR rather than
having them included in the inherently inefficient and unreliable
construgtion process. The Goelst-UNICOR tearn makes painful things
such as bidding, shop drawings, nonperiormance, 90 day warranties
and no alter-the-sale service things of the pastt

in shott, Goelst products make what was once nonstop hassie into
a simple process with depandable partners, fop noteh quality, and terrific
consistency In delivery, price, and service.
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MEDICAL/RECEPTION

]n the healthcare arena Goelst truly
does it all, from the patient registration
desk, to the cashiers' area, and everything
in between.

Tha sheer breadth of the product line
allows facilities to set one standard for
furniture, equipment and built-ins, and
in one fel swoop make all these items
and areas modular, moveabls, recon-
figurable and depreciable as furniture.
Imagine alf that with one system!

Having one standard that applies fo

50 many areas ensures that the product fruly can be moved
from area to area, greatly enhancing the likelihood that items
will be reused, rather than sitting in a warehouse somewhere,
never to be used again.
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COUNTERS/DISPLAY

The Goglst product Is a sound solution
for government agencies who have internal
or external refall store applications, catalog
shopping or museum displays, and must
have furniture to accommodate these needs.
This product atiows rapid installation, sasy
add-ons, instant reconfiguration, and dura-
bility, making it the perfect choice for both
the counter/dispiay in the storefront or

back office.

Goelst offers many catalog solutions
clients typicafly think of as custom products.
Howaver, with the immense array of custom and near custom finishes, the
product is capable of creating a very unique and distinct visual identity for
sach individual client, while mairtaining the abifity to be moved, reconfigured,
and added on to, with a huge assortment of standard items.



309

MAILROOMS/MULTI-PURPOSE

The federal government customer uses Goelst in applications
from offices o service counters to mailrooms and storage spaces.
The entire Goslst product line of 50,000 plus items is now
available exclusively through the UNICOR contract for federal
government customers. The product has been successfully used
ina variety of facilities such as courthouses, veteran medical centers,
clvilian and military personne! processing areas and military
hospitality and barracks,

In 2 time when government is
looking for cost saving options in
leased spaces, and furnishings are
not part of the lease, Goelst can be
the perfect solution. The Goatst
product gives the custom bulit-in
{ook and feef of a permanent space
but is easily removed and recon-
figurable when the fease is up.



310

OFFICE/TRAINING

Fur the office, Goelst has solutions for a
variety of spaces. The product lends itself
well for back room applications such as
mailrooms, break rooms, storage spaces,
and refreshment centers. In addition, this
product can be used o create a small
bookease storage area of an entire built-in
custom bookcase wall.

In other words, the product is equally
at home as the leading player in custorn
built-in applications or as a complementary
back drop to UNICOR's laminate or wood
case good furniture lines,
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U.S. Department of Justice

UNICOR

Federal Prison Industries, Inc.

CATMC2600

WWW.unicor.gov

Visit Our Showrooms At

400 First Street, NW.
Washington, DC 20534
202-305-3941
202-305-3943

7310 Miramar Road, Suite 600
San Diego, CA 92126
858-831-0784
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